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Corporate Information
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Financial Highlights
BIBRE

4

The revenue of the Group from continuing operations
amounted to approximately HK$317.4 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase of
approximately HK$17.1 milion as compared with the year
ended 31 March 2022.

The gross profit of the Group from continuing operations for
the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$123.6
million, representing an increase of approximately 13.1% as
compared to that for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
gross profit margin improved from approximately 36.4% for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately 38.9% for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

The loss for the year from continuing operations attributable
to equity holders of the Company was approximately HK$11.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2023, compared to a
profit of approximately HK$2.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2022.

If the share based payment expenses of approximately
HK$17.1 million was excluded, a profit of approximately
HK$5.4 million from continuing operations attributable to
equity holders of the Company would be recorded for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group increased
to approximately HK$125.0 million as at 31 March 2023,
representing an increase of approximately HK$11.1 million
as compared to that as at 31 March 2022 and the Group’s
current ratio remained relatively stable at approximately
1.9 times and 2.2 times as at 31 March 2023 and 2022
respectively.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
eprint Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023,
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 March
2022.

Operating Results

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the printing businesses
had recovered from the adverse impacts of novel coronavirus
disease (“COVID-19”) (the “Coronavirus Outbreak”) in previous
years. With the gradually recovery of the market demand, the
sales orders of the printing businesses were increased throughout
the year. Therefore, the Group reported an increase in revenue of
approximately HK$17.1 million during the year ended 31 March
2023 when compared with the same period of last year.

The Group recorded the loss from continuing operations
attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2023 of approximately HK$11.7 million while a profit of
approximately HK$2.0 million was recorded for the year ended 31
March 2022. The loss from continuing operations attributable to
equity holders of the Company was mainly due to the increase in
the share based payment expenses arising from the grant of share
options to certain eligible employees in December 2022. If the share
based payment expenses of approximately HK$17.1 million was
excluded, a profit of approximately HK$5.4 million from continuing
operations attributable to equity holders of the Company would be
recorded for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Prospects

It is expected that the macroeconomic environment will be
improved and recovered from the pandemic in the long run, the
management of the Group will continuously and actively to monitor
the situation and react promptly in order to maintain the profitability.
In view of our experienced management team, reputation and long
term success in printing sector and our healthy cash position, we
are able to overcome the challenges and capture opportunities for
business growth in forthcoming years. The Group shall continuously
to enhance resources in manpower, new and advanced printing
technology and production facilities in order to retain and attract
industry talents, facilitate and improve production efficiency, and
differentiate with market competitors.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FIERE

The Group will always provide our customers convenient, speedy
and high quality printing services, from the provision of design
tools and software for customizing products to an array of printing
and finishing services to suit their diversified needs, through
our extensive sales channels, integrated information technology
infrastructure and production facilities situated in Hong Kong.

The Group will continue to enhance resources and strengthen the
cost control to maintain the competitive pricing strategy, develop
new business line and customised products and services to further
enhance the Group’s competitiveness in order to strengthen its
market position and increase its market share.

Looking into the future, the management will continue to strengthen
our core business and enhance the operational efficiency. In
addition, the Group will continue to explore different business
opportunities to seek for better growth prospects and returns. We
will strive to continue to expedite the development of our business
as well as diversify its business, enhance the long term growth and
focus on maximizing returns to shareholders in order to lead the
Group to a better future and create sustainable, stable and growing
returns for shareholders with strong performance and excellent
results.

Appreciation

Last but not the least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers and
business partners for their long-term trust and continuous support
in such a challenging year. | would also like to take this chance to
thank all our hardworking and talented management and staff for
their loyalty, integrity, diligence, dedication and valuable contribution
to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

The Company is an investment holding company principally
engaged in the provision of printing services to a diversified
customer base in Hong Kong. The Company is also engaged in
the provision of solutions on advertisement, bound books and
stationeries.

As at 31 March 2023 and currently, the Group is principally engaged
in two business segments, paper printing business and banner
printing business (collectively named “Continuing operations”). On
31 March 2023, the Group had disposed all its 62% equity interests
in Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited and its subsidiary
(“Sakura Group”) which engaged in provision of property agency
services. Upon the completion of the disposal, the Group ceased
to hold any shares in Sakura Group and Sakura Group ceased
to be the subsidiaries of the Group. Hence, the property agency
services business was discontinued (“Discontinued operation”). The
disposal did not constitute a notifiable transaction or a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 or Chapter 14A of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
respectively.

Continuing operations

The Board presents to the shareholders the results of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group reported the revenue
from Continuing operations of approximately HK$317.4 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase of
approximately HK$17.1 million or approximately 5.7% as compared
to approximately HK$300.3 million for the corresponding period last
year.

The Group recorded the loss from Continuing operations
attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2023 of approximately HK$11.7 million while a profit of
approximately HK$2.0 million was recorded for the year ended 31
March 2022. The loss from Continuing operations attributable to
equity holders of the Company was mainly due to the increase in
the share based payment expenses arising from the grant of share
options to certain eligible employees in December 2022. If the share
based payment expenses of approximately HK$17.1 million was
excluded, a profit of approximately HK$5.4 million from Continuing
operations attributable to equity holders of the Company would be
recorded for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Paper printing business

For the paper printing segment, the revenue was mainly derived
from the brand “e-print”. e-print provides a wide range of paper
printing products including leaflets, booklets, business cards,
stationery, etc.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the revenue of the
Group’s paper printing segment were approximately HK$227.6
million and approximately HK$229.5 million respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEF ﬂLnFFH& \Tﬁ—

Business Review (Continued)
Continuing operations (continuea)

Banner printing business

For the Group’s banner printing segment, the revenue was mainly
derived from the brand “e-banner”. e-banner provides a large
number of digital printing products, roll-up banners, mountings
(foamboard, PVC board and hollow board, etc.), stickers, posters,
flags, promotional tables, outdoor banners etc. For the year
ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded revenue from banner
printing business of approximately HK$89.8 million, representing an
increase of approximately HK$19.0 million or approximately 26.9%,
as compared with that for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Discontinued operation

The Group had disposed the Sakura Group which engaged in
provision of property agency services, which had been a minor
business segment of the Group, in March 2023.

Materials events occurred during the reporting period

On 22 April 2020 (as supplemented and amended by a
supplemental agreement dated 1 August 2021), 28 January 2022,
10 February 2022, 8 March 2022, 28 March 2022 and 7 April 2022,
E-Boss Co. Limited (“E-Boss”) and E-Post Limited (the “Borrower”
or “E-Post”), a company then indirectly owned as to 40% by the
Company through E-Boss, entered into six loan agreements (the
“Loan Agreements”), involving () a loan with a principal amount of
HK$5 million pursuant to the loan agreement dated 22 April 2020
(as supplemented and amended by a supplemental agreement
dated 1 August 2021), (i) a loan with a principal amount of HK$1.5
million pursuant to the loan agreement dated 28 January 2022, (iii)
a loan with a principal amount of HK$0.64 million pursuant to the
loan agreement dated 10 February 2022, (iv) a loan with a principal
amount of HK$0.6 million pursuant to the loan agreement dated 8
March 2022, (v) a loan with a principal amount of HK$0.6 million
pursuant to the loan agreement dated 28 March 2022, and (vi) a
loan with a principal amount of HK$1 million pursuant to the loan
agreement dated 7 April 2022 (the “Loans”) , pursuant to which
E-boss had provided the Loans to the Borrower during the period
from 22 April 2020 to 7 April 2022 in the aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$9.34 million. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 12 October
2022.
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Business Review (continueq)

Materials events occurred during the reporting period
(Continued)

Upon Completion (as defined below) on 7 November 2022,
the Loans owed by E-Post as the Borrower to E-Boss as the
lender pursuant to the loan agreement dated 22 April 2020 (as
supplemented and amended by a supplemental agreement dated 1
August 2021) continues to be owed by E-Post to E-Boss and shall
continue to be repayable by E-Post to E-Boss.

Subsequently, the Borrower repaid an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$4.85 million of the Loans and as at the date
of this report, the outstanding amount of the Loans amounted to
approximately HK$4.49 million.

On 22 April 2022, two sales contracts, which are legally binding
agreements, were entered into between, among others, Promise
Network Printing Limited (‘Promise Network”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Komori Hong Kong Limited
(“Komori”) (the “Sales Contracts”), pursuant to which Promise
Network agreed to purchase and Komori agreed to sell two Komori
Lithrone G40A Sheet Fed Offset Press at the consideration of
JPY217,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,324,000),
subject to the terms and conditions of the Sales Contracts. The
machineries were received in April 2023. For further details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 22 April 2022
and 13 May 2022.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Business Review (Continued)

Materials events occurred during the reporting period
(Continued)

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer Limited (“Lucky Gainer”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and e-banner
Limited (“e-banner”), an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company as tenants and CTP Limited (“CTP”) as landlord entered
into the tenancy agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit W6
on 3rd Floor of Block 1; Units K2, L2, W1 and W2 on 2nd Floor
of Block 2; Unit A3 on 1st Floor of Block 3; Units W1 to W5 on
2nd Floor of Block 3; Unit B3 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit B3 on
4th Floor of Block 3; Unit R4 on 2nd Floor of Block 4; Unit A4 on
5th Floor of Block 4; and Units M4, N4, P4 and R4 on 6th Floor of
Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April 2022 to 31
March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$407,200 for industrial use
(the “CTP (Full Year) Tenancy Agreements”).

On 10 June 2022, Promise Network as tenant and CTP as landlord
entered into a tenancy agreement in respect of the tenancy of Car
Parking Space No. 142 on Basement, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a lease
term from 1 August 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent
of HK$3,300 for carparking use (the “CTP (Partial Year) Tenancy
Agreement”).

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as tenants
and King Profit International Limited (“King Profit”) as landlord
entered into the tenancy agreements in respect of the tenancy of
Unit A3 (including flat roof appurtenant thereto) on 4th Floor of
Block 3, Unit L4 on 3rd Floor of Block 4 and Car Parking Space No.
36 on Basement, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April 2022
to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$63,300 for industrial
and carparking use (the “King Profit Tenancy Agreements”).

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Profit More Rich
Limited (“Profit More”) as landlord entered into a tenancy agreement
in respect of the tenancy of Workshop Nos. M201, M202 and M210
on 3rd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-
484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a lease term from
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$50,700
for industrial use (the “Profit More Tenancy Agreement”).

10  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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Business Review (Continued)

Materials events occurred during the reporting period
(Continued)

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Promise Properties
Limited (“Promise Properties”) as landlord entered into a tenancy
agreement in respect of the tenancy of Unit W3 on 2nd Floor of
Block 2; Unit K8 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit H3 on 4th Floor of
Block 3; and Unit A4 on 6th Floor of Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for
lease term from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent
of HK$125,600 for industrial use (the “Promise Properties Tenancy
Agreement”).

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as tenants
and VVV Limited (“VVV”) as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of (1) Unit H2, on 2nd Floor of
Block 2; Unit K4 on 3rd Floor of Block 4; Car Parking Space No. 78
on Ground Floor, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong; and (2) Workshop No. 1 on
Ground Floor, Trend Centre, No. 29 Cheung Lee Street, Hong Kong
for lease terms from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly
rent of HK$166,700 for industrial and carparking use (the “VVV (Full
Year) Tenancy Agreements”).

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer as tenant and VWV as landlord
entered into (i) a tenancy agreement in respect of the tenancy of
Unit J2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos.
460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a lease term
from 1 November 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent
of HK$32,100 for industrial use (the “VVV (Partial Year) Tenancy
Agreement 1”) and (i) a tenancy agreement in respect of the
tenancy of Unit G2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre, Nos. 460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
for a lease term from 11 March 2023 to 31 March 2023 with a
monthly rent of HK$23,800 for industrial use (the “VVV (Partial Year)
Tenancy Agreement 2”, together with the CTP (Full Year) Tenancy
Agreements, the CTP (Partial Year) Tenancy Agreement, the King
Profit Tenancy Agreements, the Profit More Tenancy Agreement,
the Promise Properties Tenancy Agreement, VVV (Full Year)
Tenancy Agreements and VVV (Partial Year) Tenancy Agreement 1,
collectively referred to as the “Existing Tenancy Agreements”). The
Existing Tenancy Agreements expired on 31 March 2023.

The rental payment made by Lucky Gainer, Promise Network and
e-banner under the Existing Tenancy Agreements were recognised
as right-of-use assets and had been regarded as an acquisition of
assets by the Group for the purpose of the Listing Rules.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBN MR

Business Review (Continued)

Materials events occurred during the reporting period
(Continued)

The Existing Tenancy Agreements, when aggregated, constituted
(i) a discloseable transaction of the Company which was subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements but was exempt
from the approval of shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”)
requirement under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules; and (i) a
connected transaction on the part of the Company which was
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but was
exempt from the circular (including independent financial advice)
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 10 June 2022 and 16
June 2022.

On 7 November 2022, E-Boss, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with Fui Yuen Lam
(the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which E-Boss agreed to sell, and the
Purchaser agreed to purchase 100 shares of E-Post, representing
an aggregate 40% of the total number of shares in E-Post, at an
aggregate consideration of HK$1.00 (the “Disposal”’). Completion
of the Disposal (the “Completion”) took place immediately after the
signing of the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Immediately prior to Completion, E-Post was an indirect non-
wholly owned associate of the Company and held as to 40% by
E-Boss, 30% by the Purchaser and 30% by an independent third
party. Upon Completion, the Group ceased to hold any shares in
E-Post and E-Post ceased to be an associate of the Company. The
Disposal constituted a discloseable transaction for the purpose of
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. For further details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 7 November 2022 and
18 November 2022.

On 16 December 2022, the Company offered to grant an aggregate
of 49,500,000 share options (the “Share Option(s)”) to certain
eligible employees (the “Grantee(s)’), subject to the acceptance
of the Grantees and the payment of HK$1.00 by the Grantee
upon acceptance of the Share Options, to subscribe for up to an
aggregate of 49,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Share(s)”) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company,
representing 9% of the issued share capital of the Company,
under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
13 November 2013. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 16 December 2022.
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Business Review (Continued)

Materials events occurred during the reporting period
(Continued)

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and e-banner as tenants and
CTP as landlord entered into the tenancy agreements in respect
of the tenancy of Unit W6 on 3rd Floor of Block 1; Units K2, L2,
W1 and W2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2; Unit A3 on 1st Floor of Block
3; Units W1 to W5 and N3 on 2nd Floor of Block 3; Unit B3 on
3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit B3 on 4th Floor of Block 3; Unit R4 on
2nd Floor of Block 4; Unit A4 on 5th Floor of Block 4; and Units
M4, N4, P4 and R4 on 6th Floor of Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for
lease terms from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026 with a monthly
rent of HK$451,800 for industrial use (the “2023 CTP Tenancy
Agreements”).

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as
tenants and King Profit as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit A3 (including flat roof
appurtenant thereto) on 4th Floor of Block 3, Unit L4 on 3rd Floor
of Block 4 and Car Parking Space No. 36 on Basement, Kwun
Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026
with a monthly rent of HK$66,700 for industrial and carparking use
(the “2023 King Profit Tenancy Agreements”).

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Profit More
as landlord entered into the tenancy agreement in respect of the
tenancy of Workshop Nos. M201, M202 and M210 on 3rd Floor of
Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April 2023 to 31
March 2026 with a monthly rent of HK$53,500 for industrial use (the
“20283 Profit More Tenancy Agreement”).

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Promise
Properties as landlord entered into the tenancy agreement in
respect of the tenancy of Unit W3 on 2nd Floor of Block 2; Unit K3
on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit H3 on 4th Floor of Block 3; Unit P4
on 2nd Floor of Block 4; and Unit A4 on 6th Floor of Block 4, Kwun
Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026
with a monthly rent of HK$156,200 for industrial use (the “2023
Promise Properties Tenancy Agreement”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBN MR

Business Review (Continued)

Materials events occurred during the reporting period
(Continued)

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as
tenants and VVV as landlord entered into the tenancy agreements
in respect of the tenancy of (1) Unit J2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2;
Unit K4 on 3rd Floor of Block 4; Car Parking Space No. 78 on
Ground Floor, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong and (2) Workshop No. 1 on
Ground Floor, Trend Centre, No. 29 Cheung Lee Street, Hong Kong
lease terms from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026 with a monthly
rent of HK$217,100 for industrial and carparking use (the “2023
VWV Tenancy Agreements”, together with the 2023 CTP Tenancy
Agreements, the 2023 King Profit Tenancy Agreements, the 2023
Profit More Tenancy Agreement and the 2023 Promise Properties
Tenancy Agreement, collectively referred to as the “2023 Tenancy
Agreements”).

The rental payment to be made by Lucky Gainer, Promise
Network and e-banner under the 2023 Tenancy Agreements will
be recognised as right-of-use assets and will be regarded as an
acquisition of assets by the Group for the purpose of the Listing
Rules.

The 2023 Tenancy Agreements, when aggregated, have an
applicable percentage ratio that exceeds 5% but is less than
25% and the total consideration of the transactions exceeds
HK$10,000,000, the transactions constituted (i) a discloseable
transaction of the Company which is subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements but is exempted from the
Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules; and (i) a connected transaction on the part of the Company
which is subject to the reporting, announcement, circular and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 11 January 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 17 February 2023.

An extraordinary general meeting was convened and held on 6
March 2023, and the independent Shareholders have approved
the 2023 Tenancy Agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder.
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Outlook

It is expected that the macroeconomic environment will be
improved and recovered from the pandemic in the long run, the
management of the Group will continuously and actively to monitor
the situation and react promptly in order to maintain the profitability.
In view of our experienced management team, reputation and long
term success in printing sector and our healthy cash position, the
Group’s management considered that we are able to overcome
the challenges and capture opportunities for business growth
in forthcoming years. The Group shall continuously to enhance
resources in manpower, new and advanced printing technology and
production facilities in order to retain and attract industry talents,
facilitate and improve production efficiency, and differentiate with
market competitors.

The Group will always provide our customers convenient, speedy
and high quality printing services, from the provision of design
tools and software for customizing products to an array of printing
and finishing services to suit their diversified needs, through
our extensive sales channels, integrated information technology
infrastructure and production facilities situated in Hong Kong.

The Group will continue to enhance resources, streamline
production process, promote digital printing and strengthen the
cost control to maintain the competitive pricing strategy, develop
new business line and customised products and services to further
enhance the Group’s competitiveness in order to strengthen its
market position and increase its market share.

In addition, in light of the reopening of the borders between
Hong Kong and foreign regions, the Group will continuously and
proactively explore business opportunities for further business
development, by among others, diversifying the business portfolio
and integrating with market stakeholders, etc., in order to maximise
the value for Shareholders.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBN MR

Events after the Reporting Period

On 1 June 2023, e-banner and Mr. Li Cham Kuen (“Mr. Li") and Mr.
Lee Wut Chuen (together with Mr. Li, the “Vendors”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”), pursuant to
which e-banner conditionally agreed to acquire from the Vendors
the 10,000 shares in the capital of WAB2 Group (HK) Limited (the
“Target Company”) (the “Sale Shares”), representing the entire
issued share capital of the Target Company, and from Mr. Li the
outstanding shareholder’s loan being owed by the Target Company
to Mr. Li at the completion of the Acquisition (as hereinafter defined)
at the consideration of HK$28,861,000 (subject to adjustment)
(the “Acquisition”). The Target Company is principally engaged in
property investment. The principal asset of the Target Company is
the properties located at (i) Unit W1, 1st Floor, Block 2, Kwun Tong
Industrial Centre, Nos.460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong; (i) Unit W2, 1st Floor, Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
N0s.460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong; (i) Unit
W3, 1st Floor, Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos.460-470
Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong; and (iv) Unit K2, 1st Floor,
Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, N0s.460-470 Kwun Tong
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Completion of the Acquisition shall
take place on the fifth business day after all the conditions of the
Agreement are fulfilled or waived, or such other date as the Vendors
and e-banner may agree in writing.

Before completion of the Acquisition, the entire issued share capital
of the Target Company is legally and beneficially owned by the
Vendors. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the Target Company
will become an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the financial results of the Target Company will be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group. For further
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 1
June 2023 and 5 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, no significant events have taken place

after the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
report.
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Financial Review

Revenue

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group reported
the revenue from Continuing operations of approximately HK$317.4
million and HK$300.3 million respectively. The revenue was
mainly generated from provision of printing services from paper
printing business and provision of printing services from banner
printing business. The overall increase in revenue by approximately
HK$17.1 million or approximately 5.7% was mainly attributable to
the increase in orders of banner printing.

Websites remained the major sales channel and it contributed
approximately 61.2% of total revenue for the year ended 31 March
2023, represented an increase of approximately 2.9% when
compared with same period of last year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group from Continuing operations for the
year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$123.6 million,
representing an increase of approximately 13.1% as compared to
that for the year ended 31 March 2022, which was generally in line
with the increase in revenue. The gross profit margin of the Group
improved from approximately 36.4% for the year ended 31 March
2022 to approximately 38.9% for the year ended 31 March 2023,
which was mainly attributable to improvement in cost efficiency.

Other income

Other income from Continuing operations of the Group mainly
consisted of sales of scrap materials. The Group’s other income
increased from approximately HK$3.3 million for the year ended
31 March 2022 to approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended
31 March 2023, representing an increase of approximately HK$1.1
million which mainly arising from the increase from sales of scrap
materials.
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Financial Review (continued)

Other losses — net

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group reported a net
loss from Continuing operations of approximately HK$2.3 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.6 million as
compared to the net loss of approximately HK$3.9 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

The decrease in amount was mainly arising from the decrease in
fair value loss of approximately HK$2.5 million from the investments
held by the Group and netting against the increase in exchange
loss by approximately HK$0.9 million.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses from Continuing operations mainly
consisted of employee benefits expenses, handling charges for
electronic payments, and depreciation of right-of-use assets. Selling
and distribution expenses amounted to approximately HK$30.1
million and approximately HK$27.6 million for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022 respectively. The increase in expenses by
approximately HK$2.5 million was mainly the result of the increased
employee benefits expenses of approximately HK$1.5 million.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses from Continuing operations mainly
included employee benefits expenses and outsourced customer
support expenses. For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$101.8
million and approximately HK$76.0 million respectively.

The increase in administrative expenses was mainly attributable
to the increase in employee benefits expenses by approximately
HK$20.1 million of which approximately HK$17.1 million of the
share based payment expenses was arising from the grant of share
options to certain eligible employees in December 2022.

Finance income

Finance income from Continuing operations mainly represented
the interest income generated from the loan receivables and bank
deposits. The amount increased by approximately HK$0.7 million
or approximately 23.4% was mainly due to the increase in interest
income from bank deposits of approximately HK$1.5 milion and
offsetting by the decrease in interest income from loan receivables
of approximately HK$0.6 million.
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Financial Review continveq)

Finance costs

Finance costs from Continuing operations primarily consisted
of interest expenses on bank borrowings and interest expenses
on lease liabilities. The overall increase in finance costs by
approximately HK$0.5 million or approximately 43.4% was mainly
due to the increase in interest expenses on bank borrowings in the
amount of approximately HK$0.3 million.

Share of losses of joint ventures

Share of losses of joint ventures represented the share of results
of the Group’s joint ventures. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
Group had two joint ventures in Malaysia and Hong Kong, namely
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. and Top Success Investment Group
Limited respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the operation of e-print
Solutions Sdn. Bhd. was gradually recovered from the adverse
impacts of Coronavirus Outbreak in previous years and thus share
of losses of joint ventures was decreased for the year ended 31
March 2023 as compared with the previous year.

Share of losses of associates

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had two associates in Hong Kong
which are E-Post and Step Wise Limited.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had disposed all
its 40% interests in E-Post. Therefore, as at 31 March 2023, the
amount represented the share of results of the Group’s associate in
Hong Kong, which is Step Wise Limited.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded the
share of losses of associate of approximately HK$41,000 (2022:
HK$660,000), representing a decrease of loss of approximately
HK$619,000.
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Financial Review continveq)

(Loss)/profit for the year from Continuing operations
attributable to equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the loss for the year from
Continuing operations attributable to equity holders of the Company
was approximately HK$11.7 million, as compared to a profit of
approximately HK$2.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$13.7 million. The
loss from Continuing operations attributable to equity holders of
the Company was mainly due to the increase in the share based
payment expenses arising from the grant of share options to certain
eligible employees in December 2022. If the share based payment
expenses of approximately HK$17.1 million was excluded, a
profit of approximately HK$5.4 million from Continuing operations
attributable to equity holders of the Company would be recorded
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Liquidity and Financial Information

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s bank balances and cash
was approximately HK$125.0 million, represented an increase
of approximately HK$11.1 million as compared with that as at
31 March 2022. As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the
financial ratios of the Group were as follows:
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Notes: st
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Financial Review continveq)

Borrowings

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s total bank
borrowings balance amounted to approximately HK$22.7 million
and approximately HK$26.2 million respectively, representing a
decrease in bank borrowings by approximately HK$3.5 million or
approximately 13.5%.

All bank borrowings were made from banks in Hong Kong. The
mortgage loans with the carrying amount of approximately HK$4.1
million and approximately HK$16.8 million will mature in 2033 and
2036 respectively. No financial instruments were used for hedging
purposes, nor were there any foreign currency net investments
hedged by current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.

Treasury Policy

The Group has always pursued a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy
liquidity position throughout the year. The Group closely and actively
manages its liquidity position with sufficient standby banking
facilities to cope with daily operation and any demands for capital
for further development.

Capital Structure

The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other
reserves. The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since 3 December 2013. As at 31
March 2023, the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 550,000,000 shares.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 20283, the Group did not have any capital
commitments. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital
commitments of approximately HK$6.6 million in relation to the
purchase of machineries.

Significant Investments Held

In addition to the investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates, the Group also holds some investments including equity
investment of the companies listed on the Stock Exchange, mutual
fund investments, debentures and etc.. These investments were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Review continveq)

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

As at 31 March 2023, save as disclosed elsewhere in this report,
the Group has no plans for any material investments or capital
assets.

Material Acquisition and Disposal

During the year ended 31 March 2023, save as disclosed elsewhere
in this report, there was no material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the Group.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong and its business is
supported by an information technology support services centre
located in the PRC. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
mainly arising from the exposure of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollars. The Group does not hedge its foreign exchange risk as its
exposure to foreign exchange risk is low as the Group’s cash flows
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Charges on Assets

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group pledged the plant and
machinery with carrying values of approximately HK$2.3 million and
approximately HK$2.6 million respectively, as collaterals to secure
the Group’s leases liabilities. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
Group mortgaged three properties with the total carrying values of
approximately HK$62.5 million and HK$65.1 million respectively as
collaterals to secure the Group’s mortgage loans.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group invested
approximately HK$7.7 million (2022: HK$11.8 million) in
property, plant and equipment, which represented a decrease of
approximately HK$4.1 million in capital expenditure compared with
last year.
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Employees and Emolument Policies

At 31 March 2023, the Group had 329 (2022: 289) full time
employees. The employee benefits expenses of the Group,
including Directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries and
allowances, retirement benefits schemes contributions and other
benefits amounted to approximately HK$113.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$83.0 million). The increase in
amount was mainly due to the share based payment expenses of
approximately HK$17.1 million recognised during the year ended
31 March 2023.

There was no significant change in the Group’s emolument policies.
On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits included contributions to Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme in Hong Kong, provision of
pension funds, medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by
the Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the
prevailing regulatory requirements of the PRC, and the Employees
Provident Fund and contributions to Social Security Organization
for employees who are employed by the Group pursuant to the
Malaysian rules and regulations and the prevailing regulatory
requirements of Malaysia.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HKO0.9 cent per ordinary
share, totaling HK$4,950,000).
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Corporate Governance Report
SREREE

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the
Shareholders’ value.

Corporate Governance Practice

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code except
for the deviation as explained below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
does not at present separate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board further believes that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board which
comprises experienced and high caliber individuals with sufficient
number thereof being non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company had met all code provisions set out in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Board will continue to review and further improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices and standards, so as
to ensure its business activities and decision-making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
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Model Code For Securities Transactions By
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as
well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions and disposals,
annual budgets, annual and interim results, recommendations on
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial matters.
The management was delegated the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition,
the Board had also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
report.

The Board currently consists of six Directors including two executive

Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit
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Corporate Governance Report
PEERERE

Board of Directors (continueq)

A deed of confirmation was entered into, among others, Mr. She
Siu Kee William, Mr. Lam Shing Kai (“Mr. SK Lam”), Mr. Leung
Wai Ming and Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki on 2 July 2013 (the “Deed of
Confirmation”) confirming the existence of their acting in concert
arrangement to jointly control their respective interest in the
Company held through eprint Limited. Save as aforesaid, the Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced board
composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists across
the Board. The composition of the Board reflects the balanced skills
and experience for effective leadership. The biographical information
of the Directors are set out on pages 96 to 97 under the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
in this annual report.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall
business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial performance
and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group’s management include the implementation of strategies
approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the
implementation of internal control procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and
regulations.

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2022/23"), eleven Board
meetings were held. All Directors were given an opportunity to
include any matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings, and
were also given sufficient time to review documents and information
relating to matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance.
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Number of
attendance

Name of Director

Mr. She Siu Kee William M’J%f‘ai
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHESE

Mr. Leung Wai Ming %’%?%TEH?EE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R B T A
Mr. Fu Chung EREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRREE

26  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2022/23

R B

11/11
10/11
11/11
11/11
11/11
11/11



Board Meetings (continueq)

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection by the
Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials, and has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty
to seek external professional advice if so required.

The Board adopted a mechanism for Directors to obtain
independent opinions and perspectives in order for them
to discharge their duties and responsibilities, and to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. The Board
will review the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism
annually.

The Company shall arrange suitable and sufficient resources to
cover any matters relating to the obtaining of an independent
opinion by the Board, including but not limited to the engagement
of a legal team or any other professionals for such purpose (where
appropriate).

The Directors shall give at least three working days’ notices to the
Company Secretary to obtain an independent opinion, including but
not limited to engaging a professional team for such purpose (where
appropriate).

The Board is required to review its structure, size, composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) and Board Diversity
policy (as defined below) at least annually to ensure that the
composition of the Board complies with the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules, including maintaining a balanced mix of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that the Board can make and exercise
judgment independently and effectively.

If all independent non-executive Director has served on the Board
for more than nine years, the Company should consider to appoint
a new independent non-executive Director at the next annual
general meeting.
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General Meetings

During FY2022/23, two general meetings were held, being the 2022
annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 September
2022 and the extraordinary general meeting held on 6 March 2023.

Name of Director

BREXE

R/ —=FBEE KR a 817
MABRAEG R T FILA=T
HRTHARA - E-_—_FREBEKX
SR _E-_=F=ZANBRITHKRE
BRI K o

Number of
attendance

R B

Mr. She Siu Kee William NEESAE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHELE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming RERKE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIR BT AE
Mr. Fu Chung EREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRRAEE

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders and in particular, uses annual general meeting or
other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage
their participation. The Board notes that the Chairman of the Board
and the chairmen or, in their absence, other members of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company should attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions and collect views of
Shareholders.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.
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Directors’ Training (continueq)

The individual training record of each Director received for
FY2022/23 is set out below:

Name of Director
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Reading materials relevant to
the Group’s business/
directors’ duties

BIEBEAREEY
EESREAEZIMH

Mr. She Siu Kee William NEAETAE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHELE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REEAL A
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & IR T A
Mr. Fu Chung HERELE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRAREAE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. She Siu Kee William, the Chairman of the Company, was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
further believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured
by current Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals with sufficient number thereof being non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors.
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Independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of
high caliber, with working experience, academic and professional
qualifications in the fields of accounting, company secretaryship,
printing or management. With their experience gained from
various sectors, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each
independent non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation
of his independence to the Company, and the Company considers
each of them to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a specific term of three years and are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

Nomination Committee

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will
take into account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their
experience in the printing business and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 13
November 2013 with written terms of reference which was revised
on 25 February 2019 to conform with the provision of the CG
Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is
currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.
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Nomination Committee continueq)

The Nomination Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Chung (as chairman) and Mr,
Poon Chun Wai, and an executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu
Kee Wiliam. The functions of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Group’s strategy; to identify qualified
individuals to become members of the Board; to assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer. The
Company adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 13 November 2013 whereby it recognises and
embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. The
Company endeavour to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. The Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration
its own business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board delegated certain duties under the Board Diversity
Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
will review the necessity for setting measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy from time to time.

Board Level

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in
addition to educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the
Board Diversity Policy annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Board Level (Continued)

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving those objectives.

During FY2022/23 and as at the date of this annual report, the
Board consists of six male members. The Nomination Committee
believes that gender diversity is a representing manifestation of
Board diversity, among all other measurable objectives. While
the Board has a domination of male composition, the Board has
resolved on 28 June 2023 the appointment of a female director with
effect from 1 July 2023 in order to achieve a female representation
in the Board.

The Company will engage more resources in training female staff
who have long and relevant experience in the printing industry,
with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or
directorship of the Group.

Workforce Level

As at the date of this report, approximately 63.0% of the Company’s
workforce (including the Directors and senior management) is
male and approximately 37.0% is female which is considered as
satisfactory.

Nomination Policy

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed
without undue disruption, there should be a formal, prudent
and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly
succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review of
such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-
appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination
Committee.
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Nomination Policy continveq

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate
is qualified shall be his/her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board as well as the effective discharge by the
Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as
follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees,
if invited;

(d) bringing a range of business and financial experience to
the Board, giving the Board and any committees on which
he/she serves the benefit of his/her skills, expertise, and
varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity through
attendance and participation in the Board/committee
meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

()  ensuring the committees on which he/she serves to perform
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board;
and

(9 conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or
imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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Nomination Policy (continue)

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as
may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he/
she has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filing the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During FY2022/23, the Nomination Committee held one meeting
for (1) reviewing the structure, size and diversity of the Board, (2)
assessing the independence of each independent non-executive
Director, (3) discussing the re-election of Directors and (4) reviewing
the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee in discharging their duties and made recommendation
on any proposed changes to the Board.

Nomination Committee member
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Number of
attendance

R B

Mr. Fu Chung (chairman) HRLE (EE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William REBEFLAE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A&

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13
November 2013 with written terms of reference, which was aligned
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was revised on 28 June 2023 and is currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chun Wai (as chairman) and
Mr. Fu Chung and one executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu Kee
Williamn.
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Remuneration Committee (continueq)

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
model of Remuneration Committee described in code provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code has been adopted by the Remuneration
Committee, which is to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

During FY2022/23, the Remuneration Committee held four meetings
for, including but not limited to, (i) reviewing the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management, (ii)
discussing the remuneration adjustment proposals of Directors, and
(iii) the grant of Share Options.

Remuneration Committee member
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Mr. Poon Chun Wai (chairman) BRI (FE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RBEKE
Mr. Fu Chung BRELE

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 13
November 2013. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible
participants to motivate them and to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract or retain or
otherwise maintain on-going business relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. Details of the Share Option Scheme
are set out in the Report of the Directors.

The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under employment contracts or service contracts,
if any, and will be fixed by the Board based on the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group
and the prevailing marketing conditions. Details of the Directors’
emoluments for FY2022/23 are set out in Note 39 to the financial
statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2022/23.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Siu Kit (as chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai
and Mr. Fu Chung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditor;
reviewing the interim and annual reports and accounts of the
Group; and overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system
(including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting function and
their training arrangement and budget) and supervising the risk
management and the internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss
any area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews
the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The
Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in the review of the Company’s interim and annual reports.

During FY2022/23, the Audit Committee held three meetings.
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Audit Committee member HERE
Mr. Ma Siu Kit (chairman) BIKREE (EE) 3/3
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A& 3/3
Mr. Fu Chung Bkt 3/3
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Audit Committee (Continued)

During FY2022/23, the Audit Committee reviewed, among others,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
(“FY2021/22”) and interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2022, which were in the opinion of the Audit
Committee that the preparation of such consolidated financial
statements and results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and also noted that review of
the same shall be carried out annually.

The accounts for FY2022/23 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC”) whose term of office will expire upon the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (‘2023 AGM”).
The Audit Committee has reviewed the terms of engagement of
PwC, inter alias, (i) the size and structure as well as the nature and
complexity of the business of the Group, (i) the relevant audit fees
and (jii) the resources deployed by PwC in respect of the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance
with “Guidelines for the Effective Operation of Audit Committees —
Selection, Appointment and Reappointment of Auditors” published
by the Financial Reporting Council on 16 December 2021 and
recommended the Board the re-appointment of PwC as the auditor
of the Company at the 2023 AGM.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out
by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code.

The corporate governance functions currently performed by
the Board are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code and other legal or regulatory requirements; to oversee the
Company’s orientation program for new Directors; to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Functions continueq

During FY2022/23, the Board had reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and reviewed the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For FY2022/23, the remuneration payable or paid to the Company’s
auditor, PwC, was as follows:

TEERBAEE «

RZE-— /OB FE - EFEEER
NEERSREREBMEIRBERE
BER -BRAAQRGEBTLEEEARTAINE

ARBEERERAREANARNAAHE -

R-ZB_—/—=ZMBFE ERHCH
ZANYNCIEP R 4N G S =l g (I N

)

HK$’000
FEx

Services rendered REHRB
— Audit services (Note 1) — Bt R (FizE1) 3,026
— Non-audit services (Note 2) — FEEETARTE (Pi5E2) 191

Note 1: Audit fee of HK$180,000 was agreed after balance sheet date and
HK$180,000 was not recognised in consolidated financial statements as at
31 March 2023. The audit fee included additional audit fee of HK$1,420,000
related to the year ended 31 March 2022 which was agreed after 31 March
2022 and not recognised in consolidated financial statements as at 31 March
2022.

Note 2: the non-audit services comprised tax services and other related services
provided by PwC.

Company Secretary

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Greenfield Services Limited
(“Greenfield”), to provide compliance and full range of company
secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group to
cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different
commercial needs.

Ms. Leung Ngan Yi (“Ms. Leung”), the representative of Greenfield,
was appointed as the named company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”). Mr. Hui Chi Tung Denny, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, is the primary point of contact at the
Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
Ms. Leung had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for FY2022/23.
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Dividend Policy

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth
and rewarding the Shareholders.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

- the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

- the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s memorandum and Articles, the Listing
Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company'’s dividend distribution record in the
past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the Dividend Policy at any time.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

According to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The relevant address is as follows:

Flat A, 4/F, Phase 3

Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
448-458 Kwun Tong Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong
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Shareholders’ Rights (continueq)

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
Shareholders at Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the sub-
section headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting” above for putting forward proposals for discussion at
general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to be set
out in the notice of 2023 AGM will be voted by poll.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
Shareholders.

The Board adopted a Shareholders communication policy on 13
November 2013 (the “Shareholders Communication Policy”) which
sets out the provisions with the objective of providing Shareholders
with information about the Company and enabling them to engage
actively with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders
in an informed manner.
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General Policy

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders
and potential investors. The Board shall regularly review the
Shareholders Communication Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

According to the Shareholders Communication Policy, there
are multiple channels for information of the Company to be
disseminated to Shareholders, which are included in the following
manners:

° Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
Shareholders;

o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results, issue of other announcements and Shareholders’
circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules and other corporate
communications on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website; and

° General meetings of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and Shareholders.

Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders
shall be ensured at all times.

Communication Strategies

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.
Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts, email
addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable
them to make any query in respect of the Company.

Corporate Communication

Corporate communication including, but not limited to, copy of
annual reports, interim reports, notices of meeting, circulars, proxy
forms will be provided to Shareholders in plain language and
in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding.
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Communication Strategies (continue)

Corporate Website

An “Investor Relations” section is available on the Company website
(http://www.eprintgroup.com.hk/). Information on the Company
website is updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange is
also posted on the Company website immediately thereafter. Such
information includes financial statements, results announcements,
circulars and notices of general meetings and associated
explanatory documents, etc.

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the general meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the general
meetings. Appropriate arrangements for the general meetings
shall be in place to encourage Shareholders’ participation. The
process of the Company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will be
made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served. Board
members, in particular, either the chairmen of Board committees
or their delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors will attend annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions.

Shareholder Privacy

The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’ privacy
and will not disclose Shareholders’ information without their
consent, unless required by law to do so.

The Board has conducted a review of the Shareholders
Communication Policy for FY2022/2023 to ensure the effectiveness
of the Shareholders Communication Policy. Such review shall be
conducted annually. The Board considered that the Shareholders
Communication Policy remains effective.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of financial position of the Group and
the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for FY2022/23, the
Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a going concern
basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
for FY2022/23, covering material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Group’s ESG
performance and reporting, are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

During FY2022/23, the Group appointed Smart Giraffe Consulting
Limited (“SGCL”) to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by SGCL to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of SGCL as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, management is
responsible for designing and implementing an internal control
system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritised and allocated treatments. The
Group’s risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the Board
and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The
Board receives regular reports through the Audit Committee that
oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Enterprise Risk Management Framework
(Continued)

Principal Risks

For FY2022/23, the following principal risks of the Group were
identified and classified into strategic risks, operational risks,
financial risks and compliance risks.

TERBEEEEZLR @

TERRE

RZEBE-_Z /=B FEE AEED#H
AMATEZRRT DB ARERRE  &E&E
BB~ B RS R B A A8 R o

Risk Areas Principal Risks

R B2 9B i FERR

Strategic Risks Reduction of market demand

5 WS [ e 35 & SKOR 4

Operational Risks Fluctuations of purchase costs for raw materials
2ERR JRFHER B8 B AR B

Financial Risks No significant risk identified

A1 7 [ e AERBARR

Compliance Risks No significant risk identified

&R R REHREANER

Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three-layer” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by operations
management, coupled with risk management monitoring carried
out by the finance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by SGCL. The Group maintains a risk register to
keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register
provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a
profile of its major risks and records management’s actions taken to
mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon
the Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk
owners with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks,
if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk
owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert
to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take
follow up actions in an efficient manner.
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Risk Control Mechanism (continueq)

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The Company has adopted
risk management policy and procedures. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management framework will be evaluated at least
annually, and periodic management meeting is held to update the
progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed
to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily business
operation processes in order to align risk management with
corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management annually to further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during FY2022/23. The Board proposed to amend the existing
memorandum and Articles (the “Existing M&A”) and to adopt an
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
of the Company in 2023 AGM in order to () conform to the core
standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules; (i) update the
Existing M&A according to the relevant requirements of the Listing
Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands; and (jii) to
make certain housekeeping amendments.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Approach

The Company is committed to promoting transparency of the
Company’s operations and its impact on the environment and
society in which it operates, and also communicating with its
stakeholders. The results of the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) review shown in this report demonstrate
the importance of environmental protection we place on top of
our business development target, and explain how we seek to
continually improve our ESG strategy in line with global standards.
This report also illustrates the focus of our resources utilised for our
core operations in order for the Company to become the leading
printing company for creating a highly efficient and balanced
business profile.

With both integrity and determination, we look at issues that may
have a reputational impact on, or that may pose a risk to, the Group
in the short-, medium- or long-term. Issues that are important to
our stakeholders, including but not limited to, our customers and
employees, as well as non-governmental organizations (‘“NGOs”),
are also crucial to us. We are positive in developing opportunities
with a focus on work ethics to ensure that the Group’s success in
business development is sustainable with the benefits to be passed
on to our employees, customers and the environment.

We see the integration of sustainability into our business strategy
as well as daily operations as a must to pursue our business
model. To deal with ESG issues effectively, understanding and
interacting with our employees, customers and other stakeholders
are of the highest priority. We believe that effective management
of ESG issues is important to our long-term success in a rapidly
changing world. With a thorough understanding of the ESG risks
and opportunities, the Group will be better positioned in allocating
its resources to reduce and recycle different kinds of wastes and
responding to the increasing demand for higher standards of
waste treatment by regulators. Thus, with all the aforementioned
factors, the Group expects itself to face greater challenges. In
addition, we believe that our expertise and capabilities can form
part of the solutions to some of the challenges that organizations
around the world are already facing. We are confident that as part
of the business decision-making process, by involving all relevant
stakeholders in the ESG management process, we will be able to
better monitor the ESG issues, and the long-term success of the
Group will be assured.
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Approach continueq)

Finally, our sustainability strategy in the following aspects applies to
all the work streams:

1. To promote environmental sustainability;
2. To attract, retain and support employees;
3. To engage with stakeholders;

4. To sustain local communities;

5. To strengthen community relations; and

6. To grow suppliers’ commitment.

About this report

Report Profile

This ESG report (“Report”) focuses on the Group’s main operations
in Hong Kong, mainland China (“PRC”) and Malaysia, for the
financial year ended 31 March 2023 (“Reporting Period”). It
describes the Group’s progress on its way towards creating
sustainable value for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.
During the process of preparing this Report, we have conducted
thorough review and evaluation of the existing ESG practices of the
Group with the aim of achieving better performance results in the
future.

Report Scope and Boundary

This Report contains information that is material to understand the
Group’s ESG practices and performance in its daily operations.
Unless otherwise specified, the environmental disclosure in
the Report covers business in Hong Kong and the PRC. As
the production volume in Malaysia is less than 5% of the total
production volume of the Group, it is regarded as immaterial
and hence the environmental data of the Malaysia office is not
disclosed in the Report. The social disclosure in the Report covers
all locations of the operating entities of the Group, which included
Hong Kong, the PRC and Malaysia.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).
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About this report (Continued)

Report Scope and Boundary (continuead)

The ESG Report complies with all provisions of “mandatory
disclosure” or “comply or explain”, as well as the principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. In preparing the
Report, we have adopted the international standards and emission
factors specified in the guidance materials on ESG issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for computing the relevant
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”), and there is no change in the
way the Report has been prepared from the previous year unless
otherwise stated. The application of materiality is detailed in the
subsection headed “ESG Management — Materiality Assessment”.

Although there were no specific programs to engage stakeholders
outside the Group when this Report was being prepared, we
have included the key issues which are of different stakeholder
groups’ concerns, based on our continual communication with
them. Should you wish to provide comments or recommend
improvements on our ESG reporting, please reach us through our
feedback hotline (telephone no. at (852) 2319 7107).

ESG Management

Statement of the board

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group acknowledges
that prudent environmental and societal management is of
great importance to sustainable economic growth. The Report
summarises the strategy, practice and vision of the Group in
respect of issues related to ESG, and conveys the Group’s devotion
for sustainability. To address the global concern about climate
change, the Group has also considered climate-related issues and
incorporated them into the Report. All potential and actual risks that
may have an impact on the Group’s businesses will be covered and
evaluated in the annual enterprise risk assessment.
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ESG Management (continueq)

Statement of the board (continued)

The Group has established a governance structure to enhance its
management of ESG issues. The Board has overall responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities,
establishing and adopting the ESG-related strategies and targets
of the Group, reviewing the Group’s performance annually against
the targets, and revising the strategies as appropriate if significant
variance from the target is identified. In order to exert governance
over the ESG issues, the Group has set up an ESG Working Group
that comprises members from middle to senior management and it
serves as a supportive role to the Board in implementing the ESG-
related strategies and targets, conducting materiality assessments
of ESG issues and prioritise them, and promote the implementation
of respective measures. Under the authority of the Board, the ESG
Working Group assists in collecting ESG data from the respective
functional department, monitoring the implementation of the
measures, and investigation of deviation from the targets, and
liaising with the respective functional department to take prompt
rectification actions. The ESG Working Group reports to the Board
about the ESG performance of the Group and the effectiveness of
the ESG management system on a semi-annual basis.

To make performance improvements related to the environment,
social responsibility and governance, the Group has signed the
“ESG Pledge” and joined the “ESG Pledge Scheme” organised by
The Chinese Manufactures’ Association of HK and works together
to create a sustainable future. The Board will continue to review
the progress based on the set goals and targets and improve the
Group’s sustainable development.
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ESG Management (continueq) RE - HEREREEw

Governance structure EREE

e The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making, oversees the
formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

s ESRRBREBERE  BERER HeRERRELNGIE - BEKFHE o

e The ESG Working Group is responsible for assisting the Board in managing
and monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.

BiE - 1He2REARTIHEA o B HEREATLFEAERHEFSTREERERRE HER

EREH -

ESG Working Group

e Functional department is responsible for the execution of implemented
measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.

BEE R P B ERITE EAENE - UERMRENKBLERE -

Functional Department
BiREErrg

This ESG Report was approved by the Board of the Company AIRIBE -HEREABMECR_ZT=_=F
on 28 June 2023. For details of the corporate governance of the ~AZ+/\BEARGIEETGH - FH
Company, please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” on A ARIEEEAWFE  BLHEAR AR
pages 24 to 47 of the annual report of the Company for the year Z=E_T - =F=A=+—HIFENF
ended 31 March 2023. WEAZATE [REERRSE] -
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Our Stakeholders

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage our stakeholders to ensure that improvement of our
products and services can be implemented. We strongly believe
that our stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of
our business.

HKEXx Compliance with listing rules, and timely
and accurate announcements.

BEBRXBZM B EWRAD WREBIELAE -

Government Compliance with laws and regulations,

preventing tax evasion.

B BPRERER B RRH -

Suppliers Payment schedule, stable demand.

e R BEFK-

Investors Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, investment
returns.

REE TPEELBR EBERBLRKRR KREE
e

Media & Public Corporate governance, environmental
protection, human rights.

HEELAR TEEL RRE Ak

Customers Product quality, service delivery schedule,

reasonable prices, service value, personal
data protection.

EF EmEE RBEXNMNE - EER R
BEE  EAERRE-
Employees Rights and benefits, employee

compensation, training and development,
work hours, working environment, labour
protection and work safety.

] MR - EEHM - HI R T
e &R THERE S ITRERTIER S -
Community Community environment, employment and

community development, social welfare.

HE HEBIRE EREMERER LB

B R REAHE

K&

AEBEGSKE @7 H#NMEFND
BEH e HERAEDCE IR E M MR
BeRMBERNDEERERMIRGES
R HBEEEEREM -

Meetings, training, workshops, programs,
website updates and announcements.

2@ BT e RE-WBUEHLA
f==2p
=

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other
information.

EHREE  BTHRE  REEREMER -
Site visits.
G2 -

Seminars, interviews, Shareholders’
meetings, financial reports or operation
reports for investors, media and analysts.

RREE BEERAONMEFRRNOMEE &
HOBERAE MERERLERS -

Newsletters on the Company’s web site.

PA 7% B) 48 U 3% 4 e T 7 o

Site visits, after-sales services.

BG28 ER-R% -

Team building activities, training, interviews
with employees, internal memos, employees’
suggestion boxes.

!

B RRE ) EEREH A
At EEEAM-

Community activities, employee voluntary
activities and community welfare subsidies
and donations.
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Materiality Assessment

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or

may have a significant impact on:

° the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong, the PRC

and Malaysia;

o current and future environment and/or society;

° our financial and/or operational performance; and
° our stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions. o

The Board and management had identified ESG issue that have
potential or actual impact on its sustainable development from
various sources, such as issues identified in previous ESG report,
internal policies, industry trends and the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board’s Materiality Map. The ESG issues have been
analyzed with reference to an array of factors, including the Group’s
overall strategy, development, and goals and targets. The Group
has conducted a materiality assessment to rate the identified ESG
issues that are pertinent to its business and stakeholders, and their

BB

EARRE HENEREEHREAH T
BRHEESXSKTEELSERATYENET:

AEEREAR TERSERAEN
RED AT

o ERRRRBER/ St
o HMOMBR/IELERR K
FIENFGE RRRTH-

ETehEEECHSERRETHHE

AFEERAGBECRERTZENRE .
HEREAERE PINATRE ek
ERBmERHANNER W%& ITE
ﬁ ARKEBEEERZEEMNEEZHE
g %%,dgﬁé/$ﬂaﬂ% 7
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ'@%$$EM¥ﬁ P
ERALKEEREZE AEECETEE
MR Mﬁﬁaﬁiﬁﬁ%%&%f

respective level of impact. The result of materiality assessment on  fHEIMIRE HEREREEULZT AN
the identified material ESG issues are summarised as follows: ?ﬁ ZRE-CREMNERARE HERE

AEEMBEEMFHERMAWT

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues
RE - HEREREH

° Emissions

° Use of Resources
Employment

° Labour Standards
° Health and Safety
° Anti-corruption

Essential

° Supply Chain Management
o Climate Change

o Development and Training

Important
° Community Investment

° The Environment and Natural Resources
° Product Responsibility
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Environmental

Overview

We understand that a healthy environment is the foundation for
economic progress and well-being of the society. Thus, our priority
is to protect the environment and minimise adverse impacts on the
environment.

The Group has established a set of management policies and
measures regarding environmental protection to help ensure
sustainable development and efficient operations of the Group. The
Group strives to enhance the efficiency in the use of energy, water
and materials, and also to comply with relevant local environmental
regulations and international general practices, with an aim to
reduce the use of natural resources and protect the environment.
As a result of our efforts to conserve energy in order to protect the
environment, our Group has received the Energywi$e Certificate
from the Environmental Campaign Committee of Hong Kong Green
Organization.

We aim at striking a balance between sustainable corporate
development and environmental protection, and thus, we closely
monitor greenhouse gas emissions and resource consumption rates
to minimise our impact on the environment and natural resources.

Compliance and Grievance

As far as the Group is concerned, there were no reported non-
compliance incidents or grievances noted by the Group in relation
to environmental aspects during the Reporting Period.

Emissions

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” by which we pay full attention
to environmental protection standards and guidelines to help fulffil
our commitment to environmental protection and efficient use of
resources.
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Environmental continueq)

Emissions (continued)

The Group has implemented a number of internal environmental
protection measures, with appropriate equipment installed to help
reduce the adverse impact brought to the environment. At the
same time, we are committed to achieving environmental protection
and energy conservation by cooperating with other environmental
protection units and by promoting them to the public. To uphold
the principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed
to reducing or maintaining the greenhouse gas emission intensity
between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31
March 2023 in the next reporting year.

In order to achieve the above objectives, we have adopted the
following working principles:

° To comply with the regulations

The Group ensures that internal guidelines and procedures
are in place for all its business operations to follow in order to
comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

° To prevent pollution

The Group does its best to avoid, reduce and control
environmental pollution caused by its daily operations.

o To reduce consumption of resources

In an attempt to cut down our GHG emissions, we have
implemented a range of green practices in our daily
operations, aiming to limit the consumption of electricity and
paper at our workplace. Reminders have been posted next to
switches, in order to encourage our employees to switch off
all idle electronic appliances when they are not in use, as well
as before they leave the office.

The Group aims to implement convenient and effective
cost-effective waste management; and uphold sustainable
development by reducing the consumption of resources,
reducing manufacturing waste, as well as reusing and
recycling reusable wastes.
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Environmental (continueq)

Emissions (continuea)

° To improve the Group’s performance

Based on the changes in internal and external factors,
management reviews the objectives relating to environmental
protection, use of resources, and sustainable development
and operations of the Group in order to continuously improve
the Group’s performance.

Besides, the Group has obtained a Discharge Licence (Licence
No. WT00032965-2018) which is valid until 31 January 2024
in relation to the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358).
The Group has also been granted the Registration of Waste
Producer (Producer No.: 3422-295-12857-02) under the
Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation (Cap.
354C).

For details regarding emissions during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators — Part
A. Environmental — Emission Indicators KPI A1.1 & KPI A1.2”.

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions

Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are generated during the
course of our production and daily operations.

Hazardous wastes include but are not limited to, chemical
wastewater, cloths stained with chemicals, wasted zinc, photograph
potions, Isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and polyvinyl chloride (PVC). Non-
hazardous wastes include but are not limited to, paper, foam board,
synthesised paper, lightbox film, cloth and stickers.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our business, including,
but not limited to, the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste of
the PRC.
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Environmental continueq)

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions (continuea)

In order to mitigate the emission of waste, the Group has
configured the wastewater recycling system and has engaged
qualified recyclers to recycle waste. Wastes being recycled include
chemical wastewater, wasted zinc, photograph potions and paper.

To advocate waste reduction within our workplace, we have
encouraged our employees to adopt double-sided printing, with
the single-side-printed paper being collected for reuse. A paperless
work environment has also been promoted by encouraging
employees to switch from printed documents to electronic
documents.

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is
committed to reducing or maintaining both the hazardous waste
and non-hazardous waste intensity between 90% to 120% of
the level of the baseline year ended 31 March 2023 in the next
reporting year.

For details regarding the production of wastes during the Reporting
Period, please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators —
Part A. Environmental — Hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.3 &
Non-hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.4”,

Use of Resources

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” to ensure that the concept of
environmental sustainability is integrated into every part of our daily
business operations by complying with all environmental protection
policies, practices and initiatives.

The Group complies with the policies in the efficient use of
resources, including energy, water and raw materials. To uphold the
principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to
reducing or maintaining the electricity and water intensity between
90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31 March
2023 in the next reporting year. The measure that reduces the
use of resources, including electricity and water, is displayed in
the “Direct/Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw Materials”
session.
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Environmental (Continued)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has established a comprehensive environmental pollution
prevention and control system, adopted measures against solid
waste to prevent environmental pollution and clarify management
responsibility.

As a paper printing and banner printing service provider, there
is no significant consumption of natural resources and therefore
the Group’s activities do not have any significant impact on the
environment. Notwithstanding, the Group strives to enhance
environmental sustainability and environmental awareness among
its employees.

In addition to the measures implemented to reduce the use of
resources and disposal of waste (see sections headed “Total
Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes & Results Achieved
by Mitigating Emissions” above), the Group has taken actions to
manage its activities and minimise its impacts on the environment
and natural resources, such as implementing applicable systems
and policies to monitor the use of natural resources and circulating
notices regarding how to save energy and resources.

In addition, we will continue to assess the environmental risks of our
business, review the environmental practices and adopt preventive
measures as necessary to reduce the risks and ensure compliance
with relevant laws and regulations regarding the Group’s emissions
and the use of resources.

Direct/Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

The practices that reduce the use of resources include:

Electricity:

o Support the “Indoor Temperature Savings Charter” program
to maintain the average indoor temperature from 24 to 26

degrees Celsius.

° Use compact fluorescent lamps, T5, T8 light tubes or LED
lights.

° Turn off the electrical appliances e.g. air conditioners, lights,
computers, etc., when they are not in use e.g. during non-
office hours, and lunch time.
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Environmental continueq)

Direct/Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials (continueq)

Electricity: (continued)

Turn off lights and air conditioners in the office/production
plant when members of staff are not in the office/production
plant e.g. Saturday afternoon.

Ensure that all lights, air conditioners and electrical appliances
that are not in use are turned off properly when the last
colleague leaves the office/production plant.

Water:

Report matters related to water dripping to the Administration
Department for follow-up.

Turn off the water source after use, even though there is no
difficulty in sourcing water.

Use recycled water instead of running water for rinsing zinc
plates.

Install refilters in printing machines to recycle water.

Configure a wastewater treatment system which helps to
dilute the wastewater produced during the pre-press stage
of production to ensure that the pH value of the wastewater
meets the required standard before the wastewater is
discharged.

Raw materials:

60

Use non-alcoholic printing to reduce air pollution.

Use environmental-friendly paper during each production
process.

Provide FSC (Forest Certification) paper as one of the choices
which the customers can choose from.
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Environmental (continueq)

Direct/Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials (continuea)

Raw materials: (continued)

o Clean regularly the parts of the production machine
contaminated with color ink to reduce cases of reprint.

° If some parts can still be reused after they have been taken
out from the machine, they will be reserved as spare parts.

° Use kraft paper instead of carton packaging for some of the
packaging.

° Encourage customers to bring their own shopping bags
(BYOB).

° Use the printing ink in the production process that is made of
soybeans.

o Hand over most of the wastes produced in the production
process to qualified recyclers for recycling.

For details regarding the consumption of energy and water
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part A. Environment — Energy and Water
Consumption Indicators KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2”

Packaging materials used for finished products

To reduce the carbon footprint and contribute to saving the planet,
the Group encourages our customers to minimise the use of plastic
bags. We suggest our customers bring their own shopping bags.
Besides, the majority of the packaging materials used by the Group
are recyclable and biodegradable.

For details regarding the consumption of packaging materials during
the Reporting Period, please refer to the section “Key Performance
Indicators — Part A. Environment — Packaging Materials Indicators
KPI A2.5”,
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Environmental continuea)
Climate Change

The Group has considered the potential climate-related risks and
opportunities in respect of the recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, in which potential physical
risks and transition risks from climate change may pose adverse
financial impacts on the Group’s businesses. Acute physical risk
can arise from extreme weather conditions such as flooding and
storms and chronic physical risk can arise from sustained high
temperatures, while transition risk may result from the change
in environmental-related regulations or change in customer
preferences, and the potential climate-related risks are summarised
as below:

Short
(current
reporting
Risk Type Potential Financial Impact period)
B (BE
BB BERBE HE)
Physical Risks e  Extreme weather e Reduced revenue v
conditions such as from business due to
flooding and typhoon business and supply

chain disruptions

BRAREL W e
KB

EBRMREED I SN

Llﬂlmﬁ b

ERER .

Increased business
operating costs

e Sustained elevated .
temperature

FBRERAEM

o RERR .
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Mitigation Strategy

RRR

Establish an adverse
weather condition policy

e Maintain or expand the
supplier base to avoid
disruption

o HE-BRBEBBLAR
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DA o R

Adopt energy
conservation
measures to avoid
overconsumption of
natural resources
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Climate Change (continueq)

Risk Type

2B R

Transition Risks ®

RS .

Risks

Bk

Changes in
environmental-related
regulations

RERBARZL

Shift in consumer
preference

to products
incorporating the
more environmentally
friendly concept

HEZRIEE SR
BEARBSNER
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Short
(current
reporting
period)
B (BE
HR)

Potential Financial Impact

BEMEEE

e Higher operating costs
to adopt new practices
or technologies

. EEFEELREH
BERK LA

e Reduced demand
for printing and other
products, decreased
competitiveness and
create an adverse
impact on revenues

. ARBEMESEA
b 5% 7T R
SERTAYE

BB @

REE1 =)

Medium
(one to Long (four
three to ten
years) years)
PH(-Z RE(ME
=f) T )

Mitigation Strategy

R B

Adopt energy
conservation measures
to reduce emissions

Continue to monitor the
regulatory environment
to ensure that the Group
complied with the
environmental-related
law and regulation

%ﬂ%%%muﬁ¢%
¥

BEEREERANE
RAGEETIRAH
EERRER

Adhere to the Group’s
sustainable development
concept, strictly control
the printing production
process and commit

to producing high-
quality products to

meet the expectations
of consumers and the
market
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Social

Workplace

The key to our success depends on a well-organised team of
qualified and experienced talents. Thus, we are committed to
providing a happy and productive working environment for our
employees. Our subsidiary company won the award of “Happy
Company” (F/Lr 1 %) from Promoting Happiness Index Foundation
(BEBIRFTRLIEBE D). Our Group is also awarded as a “5
years+ Caring Company” from the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service, showing that we keep assisting our staff to achieve their
career goals and self-development. We provide training through
seminars and forums and encourage our staff to grow with the
Group together.

The Group’s Team Profile

As of 31 March 2023, we had 329 employees in total. For the
statistics related to our employment structure and employee
turnover rate as of the year ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March
2022, please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators —
B. Social - Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 & KPI B1.2”.

The Group maintains an Employees Handbook which stipulates
the policies of recruitment, dismissal, promotion, remuneration
and benefits of employees. Every employee gets a copy of the
Employees’ Handbook to make sure that they are aware of their
rights and responsibilities. All new employees have an employment
contract signed with the Group, setting out the rights and
responsibilities of both parties in order to safeguard the interests of
both parties.

Besides, “Human Resources Operation Procedures” has been
established by the Human Resources Department as the guidelines
in relation to the monitoring of human resources of the Group. The
“Human Resources Operation Procedures” helps management
to comply with labour laws and relevant regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group’s internal procedures relating to
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays, and etc. For
example, employees should normally work for 8-9 hours per day
and they can apply for overtime claims or compensation leave,
subject to the approval of department supervisors.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

The Group’s Team Profile continueq)

Moreover, employees are entitled to have annual leave according
to their grades and the departments to which they belong. For
instance, staff at officer grade and managerial grade are entitled
to have 11 days and 14 days of annual leave respectively in their
first year of employment. Furthermore, all our employees are
entitled to 5 days of marriage leave and 2 days of compassionate
leave for their close family members i.e. parents/children/spouse/
grandparents. Our company is certified as a “Happy Enterprise” by
Promoting Happiness Index Foundation, and promise to develop
corporate care, wisdom, resilience and motivation, and build a
happy workplace for employees.

In addition, the Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on its business, including
but not limited to the following:

1. The Group is in compliance with the local laws and
regulations, such as enforcing the terms of employment under
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) of Hong Kong for
recruitment, and provision of reasonable working conditions.

2.  The Group provides MPF benefits to our staff in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

3. In determining the remuneration of employees, the Group

complies with the “Minimum Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608).

4.  For both recruitment and dismissal, the Group prohibits
the practice of discrimination by complying with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 481) and Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602).

5. The Group follows the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
(Chapter 282) in regard to the work injury of employees.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Protecting Health and Safety

We focus on providing a safe and enjoyable working environment
for all of our employees.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding industrial health and safety, such as the
Factories and Industrial Undertaking Ordinance (Chapter 59) and
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) of
Hong Kong. In the case that an employee encounters an industrial
accident, the Group will take all necessary measures to ensure that
adequate compensation is granted to the employee concerned
in accordance with the requirements stipulated in the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance.

We emphasise that occupational safety is the first priority of our
Group. In this respect, we encourage our employees to attend
relevant training and we provide sufficient guidance and supervision
to the employees. During the Reporting Period, we arranged
various training sessions for our staff in Hong Kong, covering areas
including fire and electrical safety, basic accident prevention and
safety measures for lifting heavy items.

The Group has also established “Internal Safety Rules” and “Safety
and Health Management Policies and Procedures” to standardise
the occupational safety procedures of various departments of
the Group, with an aim to protect employees from occupational
hazards.

Furthermore, a Safety Committee has been established to
meet regularly and supervise the occupational safety of various
departments, as well as coordinate and implement training on
occupational safety for the employees.

For the number of work-related fatalities and lost days due to work
injury during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of
“Key Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Health and Safety
Indicators — KPI B2.1 & KPI B2.2”.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Development and Training

We believe that our staff members are the valuable assets of the
organization. By investing in our employees, we improve the service
quality of the Group. We also believe that by organizing training
through seminars and forums for our employees, job satisfaction
would be promoted and staff motivation would be increased,
thereby lowering the staff turnover rate.

Training is arranged for new employees during the probation with
regard to the skills required for that particular position. For example,
the Customer Service Department conveys the knowledge about
product specifications, technology for production, workflows of
order placement, and customer service techniques, etc. to the
responsible staff. Before the end of the probation, management
assesses the performance of the new employees in order to
ensure that the new employees are equipped with the required job
knowledge and skills. The assessment criteria include but are not
limited to, a sense of responsibility, interpersonal skills and work
attitude, etc.

We also encourage our employees to enhance their knowledge and
skills by pursuing continual education. Employees who have been
employed for over one year are entitled to “Continuing Education
Assistance” if they enrol on courses which are relevant to their
jobs. In order to increase flexibility, there is no pre-defined list for
restricting the courses to be chosen, so, our employees can select
the most suitable courses by themselves.

For the percentage of employees trained and average training hours
completed per employee during the Reporting Period, please refer
to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — Part B. Social —
Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1 & KPI B3.2”.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Zero Tolerance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

The Group has established an “Anti-discrimination Policy” to
ensure that all our employees understand that harassment and
discrimination are not tolerated. The Group is committed to
providing a fair working environment where all employees are
treated equally. All employees are assessed based on their ability,
performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race,
religion, gender, age or family status.

The Group has adopted the following three measures to avoid
recruiting child labour and forced labour during the recruitment
process:

A. During the recruitment process, the recruitment
advertisements set out the job responsibilities for candidates’
reference in order to avoid potential misunderstandings and
disputes arising from the requirements of the job duties. In
addition, the Group generally does not select any persons
aged 16 or below during the stage of shortlisting candidates.

B. Candidates are required to fill in a job application form before
the interview and provide identity documents to ensure that
the candidates can be legally employed in Hong Kong.

C. At the time of appointment, the Group enters into an
employment contract with the new employee, prescribing
the terms of the employment, including basic salary, working
hours, days of annual leave, overtime allowance, meal
allowance, etc., for preventing future disputes over the
employment terms.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Zero Tolerance (continued)

According to the Employees’ Handbook issued by the Group,
employees who are in breach of rules, or commit serious dereliction
of duty, malpractice or criminal offence would be immediately
dismissed. In addition, according to the “Human Resources
Operations Procedures” issued by the Human Resources
Department, the following steps would be taken against the
employees who are dismissed:

A. The department manager or the Human Resources
Department informs the employee directly of the dismissal,
explains the reasons for the dismissal, and completes the
“Employee Termination Form”;

B. Before an employee leaves the Group, the Human Resources
Department collects the items which are the Group’s assets,
such as mobile phones, laptops, business cards, chops, and
locker keys, etc.; and

C. Arrangement of the last salary payment to the employee within
one week after termination of the employment.

Complaints

The “Human Resources Operations Procedures” issued by the
Human Resources Department of the Group stipulates that the
Group provides employees with a number of channels for lodging
complaints. For example, when a staff member encounters any
unreasonable treatment, he/she can report it to the department
head and Human Resources Department of the Group.

Cultural Activities

In order to promote work-life balance for our staff, various kinds of
recreational activities are provided so that they can participate in an
active lifestyle and balance their work-life.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Cultural Activities (continuea)

Education

We believe that education is the most effective means of
propagating and sustaining community investments. During the
Reporting Period, the Group made printing sponsorship to different
charitable organizations, including but not limited to Junior Chamber
International Victoria (Hong Kong) Limited, Arts with the Disabled
Association Hong Kong (ADAHK), ADAM Arts Creation Limited, and
the Society for Community Organization Limited (SOCO).

Other than the printing sponsorship, our staff joined flag days
organised by Hong Kong Employment Development Service
Limited. Our company also supported students to pursue further
studies and future development by donating scholarships.

Our company took part in the “Lai See Reuse and Recycle Program
2023 Red Pocket Sponsorship” organised by Greeners Action to
raise public awareness of wasting paper, to educate citizens to
cherish resources from their daily life, and to cultivate the public to
reuse and recycle.

Labour demand

We deeply understand the importance of giving back to the society.
Internship and full-time employment opportunities are offered to
university students, such that they can gain hands-on experience in
the printing industry.

Aiming for More Suppliers Complying with our Code
of Conduct

We stress the importance of minimizing the environmental
impact caused by our production. For instance, we adopt green
procurement practices by using printing ink that is made of
soybeans in our production. Compared to the traditional Petroleum-
based ink, soy-based ink is more environmentally friendly and
makes the paper easier to recycle.

70  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2022/23

XALEE ()
A

BMRA HEREENEFHLRIKREN
RERFR-RBEHRN AEE R TF
MEZES (BRETRREZNFF
MEAERAR BERGEEME 22 A
BIEERAREEAHBEEBHEAR
~AE])REEHRE R -

RENRIZ BN BB TIATERE
ERMBEERAAEBNEER AR
AMEBRYRBSIHELHERE
MBRER-

RABZ AR RITBABGD [F 2 H B UK
BEARKTH_Z_=FFNIHEB] AR
BATRBARNEZR BETREERK
ZHELARTHERAREEARE K
ERE®-

BIBR

BPRYEREELENERE - RMA
REERHEBNEZRAERS ERF
EERESHRITENERZR -

EEREEESHERETEMNT
R R

HMERERERREEMENNREY
Z-flm BMPEEELEEBEFEMRK
SEANHERHEERMRCRE HLE
B ORME ASHBFRERL <A@
F 5O -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Aiming for More Suppliers Complying with our Code
of Conduct (continuea)

Moreover, we continuously monitor the performance of our supply
chain so as to ensure the quality of products provided to our
customers. We have set criteria for assessing suppliers such as
price, quality, relationship, stability on goods supply, delivery time,
and payment terms, etc. Only suppliers with satisfactory results in
the initial assessment will be added to our list of approved suppliers
and engaged in our business operations. Suppliers who take the
environmental and social concerns into account of their production
would be more favourable to be accepted as approved suppliers.
On top of that, the Group also conducts an annual assessment
of the approved suppliers to ensure that the products or services
are of consistent quality and up to the Group’s required standards.
Suppliers with unsatisfactory results in the annual assessment will
be eliminated from our list of approved suppliers. For the number of
our suppliers by geographical region during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social — Supply Chain Management Indicators — KPI B5.1”.

Every year, the Purchasing Department assesses the primary
suppliers of raw materials by filing in an evaluation report. The
assessment criteria include but are not limited to, incidents of
goods return, price fluctuation, delivery time, company background,
stability of goods supply, and etc. Besides, the Group maintains an
approved vendor list to include all qualified suppliers. The Group
would selects the suppliers from the approved vendor list and
perform competitive bids.

Product Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with
laws and regulations in regard to product responsibility in Hong
Kong, Malaysia and the PRC that have a significant impact on
our business, including, but not limited to, Copyright Ordinance
(Chapter 528) of Hong Kong; Trademark Law of the PRC, Copyright
Law of the PRC and Rules of Protection on Information Network
Dissemination Rights of the PRC; and Consumer Protection Act
1999 of Malaysia.

We have established procedures in relation to monitoring and
protection of intellectual property rights.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility (continueq)

For the orders placed by customers at the retail shops or the
self-service platform or through the customer service hotline, the
Customer Service Department is responsible for checking the files
against infringement of intellectual property rights or any other
issues.

If the file to be printed is suspected of possible infringement of
intellectual property rights, the Group would not start printing unless
the customer can provide the authorization proof of the intellectual
property for verification. In case the customer fails to provide such
authorization/proof, the Group has the right to reject the order.

Moreover, the Group reserves the rights to any claims or litigation
in respect of infringement of intellectual property rights arising from
the printing of documents provided by the customers.

In order to safeguard product safety, the printing ink used in the
production process is made of non-hazardous substances such
as soybean, and vegetable oil, and therefore, is free from toxic
chemicals like lead. Test reports which list the composition of the
ingredients of printing ink are obtained from the ink manufacturers
for our reference. The test reports show that no hazardous
components are contained in the printing ink.

If customers are not satisfied with the quality of the products
delivered, the staff of the retail shops have to conduct the
preliminary assessment and will pass the products to the Quality
Control Department for further checking, if necessary.

Our Group places a high value on customers. Our Customer
Service Department is responsible for handling complaints from
our customers, and all complaints received will be recorded in
writing and submitted to senior staff for review and follow-up
recommendations. All documents and reports will be properly kept
and we aim to resolve all complaints, including those involving
malpractices or alleged negligence. A follow-up response will also
be communicated to the relevant customer when the complaint is
duly handled and resolved.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility (continuea)

If reprinting, discount or refund arises due to quality issues, the
retail shops would recall part of the products and send them to
the Quality Control Department for quality checking. A report will
then be prepared with information such as checking results, the
responsible department involved, recommendations for rectification,
and etc. clearly listed.

For the percentage of total products sold subject to recalls and
the number of products and service-related complaints received
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Product Responsibility
Indicators — KPI B6.1 & KPI B6.2”.

Privacy Matters

Due to the business nature, the Group has to collect personal
information from customers such as customers’ names, addresses,
telephone numbers, etc.

Nevertheless, all the personal information collected by the Group
is strictly used in accordance with relevant data privacy laws and
regulations, including the “Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance” of
Hong Kong and the “Personal Information Protection Law” of the
PRC.

The Group has also implemented several controls and measures
for protecting the personal data collected. For example, access
controls are in place in the workstations like server rooms, in order
to prevent unauthorised access to confidential information. Besides,
when the Group collects personal data via the Group’s website,
e.g. when customers place orders through a self-service platform,
encryption technology is adopted to protect the personal data from
potential leakage. Firewall has also been set up on the Group’s
website to prevent unauthorised access and abuse by third parties.
According to the “Employee Handbook”, all employees are required
to protect the sensitive information and clients’ personal information
obtained when performing job duties. Information should not be
disclosed to any third parties unless and to the extent that it is
necessary to make such disclosure. If there is any leakage of the
Group’s confidential information, the Group may impose fines,
administrative penalties or pursue legal liabilities against the parties
concerned to protect the interests of the Group and its clients.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us, relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including, but not
limited to, Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the PRC, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and
the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009.

We have established policies and procedures to require employees
promptly report any suspected fraud cases, whether they are
aware of any suspected persons or events. Employees may
report suspected fraud cases to their immediate supervisor or
the department manager. The reports can be made verbally, e.g.
telephone, or formally in written form, e.g. letter/email. Full support
from senior management will be given to the employees reporting
fraudulent cases.

After the potential fraudulent cases have been reported, the
investigation will be conducted with due care and the investigation
process will be kept confidential. For the proven fraud, management
will take corrective action immediately.

To prevent corruption and bribery, the Group requires its employee
to make a declaration to the group within 3 working days upon
receipt of gift.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption case was noted and/or
reported. In addition, the Group arranged anti-corruption training for
the new employees. The Group will closely monitor the regulatory
development and will arrange relevant anti-corruption training for
our employees and directors, where necessary.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Group has set up a whistle-blowing policy to provide guidance
for employees to report their concerns about any suspected
misconduct, malpractice or irregularity within the Group.

In our workplace, in order to maintain a high standard of integrity
and impartiality, we encourage our employees to whistle-blow any
suspected corruption incidents and the whistle-blowers will remain
anonymous after the investigation report is issued.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Communication Channel

The Group has established internal staff complaint procedures
to ensure proper channels are in place for employees to file
complaints. If an employee would like to lodge a complaint, he/
she can report it directly to his/her department head. If he/she is
dissatisfied with the results, he/she can file complaints further to the
Human Resources Department.

Customer Service

Our Group places a high value on customers. Complaints received
must be recorded in the internal system and passed to senior staff
or the Customer Service Department for follow-up.

Under normal circumstances, the Group should reply to the
complainant within 3 working days. If more than 3 days of
investigation is required, the Group should at least make an interim
reply to the complainant. Furthermore, a final reply should be
made to the complainant within 7 days after the first interim reply.
However, in exceptional cases, if the investigation is still in progress,
the Group updates the complainant about the investigation status
once a week.

In order to enhance the service quality of various departments, the
Customer Service Department reports the details of the complaint
to relevant departments for follow-up during the business review
meeting with the Marketing and Production Department.

Community Contribution

Our goal is to establish long-term relationships with organizations
that share the same philosophy as ours and are willing to bring
social development to the community based on their mutual
assistance, respect and integrity.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Community Contribution continued)

Through cooperating with different organizations in the community,
employee voluntary services and donations, the Group is committed
to establishing a positive impact in the following area:

Assistance to the disadvantaged groups:

We believe that everyone is equal. The spirit of mutual help and
mutual love is to make society harmonious and help develop the
economy. We collect donations from employees and business
partners through various activities to help meet the needs
of disadvantaged groups and improve the life quality of the
communities to which they belong. The Group made printing
sponsorship to different charitable organizations, including but
not limited to Junior Chamber International Victoria (Hong Kong)
Limited, Arts with the Disabled Association Hong Kong (ADAHK),
ADAM Arts Creation Limited, and the Society for Community
Organization Limited (SOCO).

During the Reporting Period, our Group donated to the Children’s
Thalassemia Foundation and our staff joined the “Dress Red for
Thalassemia 2022” to enable patients suffering from thalassemia
live longer and happier; and have more productive lives. All funds
raised will be devoted to vitally needed equipment and patient-care
programs.

For details of the resources we have contributed to the community
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Community Investment
Indicators — KPI B8.2”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIR - HERERWmE

Key Performance Indicators BRENER
Part A. Environmental EF—HD BT

Emission Indicators - KPI A1.1

BRES - BRERERA1

For the year ended For the year ended
Emission Data from Vehicles Unit 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
S —— S ——
BE@HHOSEREE B =ZA=+—BLEE =A=+—BLEE
Kilometres travelled kilometers 126,955.1 142,654.4
BITHAER nE
Units of fuel consumed
FTRENR L B AL
- Petrol Liters 9,886.3 12,625.1
— TR 7t
Nitrogen Oxides grams 18,041.9 27,714.7
SR %
Sulphur Oxides grams 145.3 185.6
maEltam %
Particulate Matter grams 1,535.8 2,454.0
ok 8 %

Emission Indicators — KPI A1.2

FRES- BEEMERAL2

Total Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

BRERB (EZEREHERAE

Scope 1: Direct Emissions or Removals from Sources

EE1 ERFBIERRR

Scope 1b - GHG Emissions from Mobile Combustion Sources
EE1b- RBRNRERBEFABNEERBHN

Units of fuel consumed

P FE MR BB AL
- Petrol Liters 9,886.3 12,625.1
— Ul bl
Carbon Dioxide tonnes 26.30 33.58
—&qbik 173
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Key Performance Indicators (coniineq BRENER«
Part A. Environmental (continued) EF—BD RE @

Emission Indicators - KPI A1.2

FRES- BREMERAL2

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions

gE2- ERBEER

Electricity kWh 2,804,053.7" 2,640,380.6
Bi FRE
Carbon Dioxide grams 1,116.19" 1,052.76
— &bk I
Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide grams 1,142.49" 1,086.34
Produced during the Reporting
Period:
RBEHAEEN_—SLRER: )
The intensity of Carbon Dioxide tonnes per employee 3.70 4.01

Produced during the Reporting
Period (tonnes per employee):

RBESHAEEN-SLREE SEEEM

(SEEEMW) :
1 Reasonable assumption was made for incomplete records (i.e. using ' EHTTBEZREFEHEERKX (AR EMA
consumption average of other months). 2 EREE) -
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BAREMER =
Part A. Environmental (continued) F—HD RE )

Hazardous Waste Indicators — KPI A1.3

RERRNER-BRERERALS

Total hazardous waste produced Unit For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
EENEERREYEE B e S
ZA=+—RHILEE ZA=+—RHRILEE
Chemical Wastewater tonnes 1,686.000 1,939.000
£ IEK U7
Cloths Stained With Chemicals tonnes 3.818 3.273
EHREmmsRmH I
Wasted Zinc tonnes 159.301 111.195
322 I
Photograph Potions tonnes 23.415 12.908
R &K i
Isopropy! Alcohol (IPA) tonnes 17.136 10.800
ERNE U7
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) tonnes 6.887 5.219
Rl W
Hazardous waste produced per tonne of product produced
LEBHMERMEENESERY
Chemical Wastewater in tonnes/ 0.433 0.612
tonne produced
L IEK DA P E A MR BT
Cloths Stained With Chemicals in tonnes/ 0.001 0.001
tonne produced
ERLERMERAMH VAFA E 4 HO WA BT
Wasted Zinc in tonnes/ 0.041 0.035
tonne produced
& &% LA P E 4 WA BT
Photograph Potions in tonnes/ 0.006 0.004
tonne produced
EVSE /3 VA PR E 4 B WA BT
Isopropyl Alcohol (IPA) in tonnes/ 0.004 0.003
tonne produced
2RE DA EE A ROME 85T
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) in tonnes/ 0.002 0.001
tonne produced
BRE% VAT 2 A B B 25T
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Key Performance Indicators (continued) FAREMIEE
Part A. Environmental (continueq) EF—WD BRE @

Non-hazardous Waste Indicators - KPI A1.4

RERENER - BREAMERAI4

Total non-hazardous waste Unit For the year ended For the year ended

produced 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

EENEERREYEE B BHE-T-=F% e ——
“A=+—RHLEE “A=+—RHLEE

Paper tonnes 684.488 529.322

MR W

Foam Board tonnes 24.829 15.986

RIR W

Synthesised Paper tonnes 8.239 6.593

B 73

Lightbox Film tonnes 0.390 0.313

BAEE RS W

Cloth tonnes 4.8722 0.139

okt 1

Sticker tonnes 15.711 15.707

AR 7

Non-hazardous waste produced per tonne of product produced

LtESHMERMELNESERY

Paper in tonnes/ 0.176 0.167
tonne produced

R AFTEE 4 B ME B 5T

Foam Board in tonnes/ 0.238 0.203
tonne produced

EARR VAR 2 A M) ME BT

Synthesised Paper in tonnes/ 0.204 0.203
tonne produced

% VAR EE 4 B0 ME BT

Lightbox Film in tonnes/ 0.010 0.010
tonne produced

BAEE R DA BT E 4 B0 MR 85T

Cloth in tonnes/ 3.1677? 0.126
tonne produced

bt BB 2 4 M MA B3

Sticker in tonnes/ 0.206 0.208
tonne produced

BhAR DA BT E A AR 85T

2 Last year only data of Canvas is included. To enhance the accuracy and 2 EFERBENANER AR HERENE
completeness of data reporting, we have collected all cloth waste produced HHERTESE BMRETSFEENARE
this year. It leads to a significant increase compared to last year. ZME BAFHLAREER-
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Part A. Environmental (continued)

Packaging Material Indicators - KPI A2.5

BEMHER - BRAMEFA25

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE - g kERWmE

FEREEMNIEE

Ty BRE»

Total Packaging Material used for
Finished Products

AERmAABRMHEE

Paper Box
Ha
Plastic Box
BHa
Kraft Paper
F R
Carton

]
Transparent Wrap
BIERE
Sealing Tape

Unit

B

tonnes
U7
tonnes
U7
tonnes
U7
tonnes
T8
tonnes
7
tonnes
T8

Packaging material per tonne of product produced

BMERMELNBEMR

Paper Box

wa

Plastic Box

Pra

Kraft Paper

H 74
Carton

i
Transparent Wrap

BRER
Sealing Tape

¢
E:

X

Gt

E
El

in tonnes/
tonne produced

DA BT BE A HO MR 205t

in tonnes/
tonne produced

DA BT BE A HO MR ST

in tonnes/
tonne produced

DA BT BE A HO WA BT

in tonnes/
tonne produced

DA BT BE A HO WA BT

in tonnes/
tonne produced

DA BT BE A RO WA ST

in tonnes/
tonne produced

DA BT BE A RO WA BT

For the year ended
31 March 2023

HE-_Z-=F
ZB=+—HItFE
1.05

413

8.46

60.20

4.83

1.05

0.0002

0.0010

0.0020

0.0141

0.0011

0.0002

For the year ended
31 March 2022

HE-_Z-—-F
ZB=+—HItFE
1.10

4.61

7.95

43.97

4.89

0.92

0.0003

0.0013

0.0023

0.0126

0.0014

0.0003
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Key Performance Indicators (continveq) FEARENIBE =
Part A. Environmental (continueq) F—Wo BRE @)

Energy and Water Consumption Indicators
- KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2

ERRKEEER - BREVNETA21K

BRENIERA2.2
Total Consumption Source Unit For the year ended  For the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
BHEE R By BE-T-=F BE-T-—F
=A=+—H” =A=+—H
FFE IFE
Electricity KWh 2,804,053.67 2,640,381
-2 TR
Water cubic metres 4,057.50 3,607
7K K
Consumption per unit produced
BEURMELENHEEE
Electricity kWh per tonne 657.77 754.35
k-2 FTREGMH
Water cubic metres 0.95 1.03
per tonne
7K M7 KW
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Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social

3

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.1

BRER - BREMNESB11

Employment
==

Total number of employees
EBEAH

By gender

74 F 7
Male

E2gis

Female

Mt

By age group
BEF#ED
Below 25
255 AT
25t0 29
25E295%,

30 to 39
30ZE3973%

40 to 49
40E495%
Over 50

50p% A £

By region
ZEZS
Hong Kong
0

PRC

aa

Malaysia
itk

By Employment Type
RIEREE S
Permanent Staff
XAKREIAB
Contract Staff
AaRAER

The figures are restated to reflect the consistent grouping with this year. 3

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE - g kERWmE

BREENIEEw
F-HD e

As at 31 March 2023 As at 31 March 2022
R-ZB-=f=ZA=+—-8 R=-B-=-F=A=+—H

329 289

206 182

123 107

21 178
41 38°
96 90°
77 66°

94 788

281 246
28 25

20 18

310 277

19 12

HFEFEIURKRESFR—TNoMA-
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Key Performance Indicators (continveq) FEARENIBE =

Part B. Social (continued) F_HBD L@

Employment Indicators For the Year Ended
- KPI B1.2 31 March 2023

BE-ZE_-=

ERES - BRARIEEB.2 ZA=+—-BLEE

For the Year Ended

31 March 2022
BE-B=-=

= —<——

ZEA=+—-HLFE

Employee turnover

EERKEER

Total employee turnover rate 18%
EHEERKLLE

By gender

2 3: by

Male 15%
B

Female 24%
g

By age group

BFERSD

Below 25 57%
255 A T

25 10 29 24%
25295,

30 to 39 19%
30ZE395%

40 to 49 9%
40ZE 4957,

Over 50 14%
50p% A £

By region

R EH S

Hong Kong 20%
HE

PRC 7%
aale

Malaysia 5%
IE i)

35%

39%

29%

86%*

51%*

23%*

22%*

13%*

37%

36%

11%

& The grouping for last year is “18 to 25”, “26 to 35", “36 to 45", “46 to 55" and 4 EFE N B 18F255%] - [26E355%] * [36F
“56 to 65”. 455% ) ~ [462558% | & [56Z2655% ] °
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BIR - HERERWmE

Key Performance Indicators (continueq BAREENEEw

Part B. Social (continued) EF_EWp g
Health and Safety Indicators For the Year Ended 31 For the Year Ended 31 For the Year Ended 31
- KPI B2.1& KPI B2.2 March 2023 March 2022 March 2021
BRERZZEE-BREX BE-EC-= BE-%-C BE-E--F
EEB2.1RBARENIEEB2.2 ZA=t—-BLtFE ZRA=Z+-BLEFE ZA=+-HLHFE
Fatality number 0 0 0
BT AH
Number of reportable injuries 8 5 5
BATHRELEHE
Number of day lost 205 352 153
TR E) R 21

Development and Training Indicators For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
- KPI B3.1 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

E-E-= gz

BRREIEERE - BRENREEB3A ZA=t—HLHEE ZA=t—HLHEE

Percentage of employees trained

EZIEEF DL

Total 441% 42.0%
#st

By gender

B 5

Male 75.9% 80.0%
S

Female 24.1% 20.0%
7

By employee category

7ZES K F 5

Entry level 73.1% 77.5%
AP

Middle level 17.2% 21.7%
g

Management level 9.7% 0.8%
EIEE
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Key Performance Indicators (continveq) FEARENIBE =
Part B. Social (continued) FoBH wHE @)

Development and Training Indicators For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
- KPI B3.2 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

BE-E—= BE-ZT_—_C
BRRIEIISE - BRENIEEBS.2 =A=+—HILEE =A=+—HILEE

Total number of hours of internal training 172.50 97.50
received by employees

EBERMESABIZINERE
Average hours of training per employee
SEEEFI9EIRGH

Average hours of training per employee
by gender

BB 5 & I8 S F 1555 5| A5 Bl

Male 1.11 0.43
St

Female 1.43 0.19
gegid

Average hours of training per employee
by employment category

BIERIEF 5 & 1618 5 F 1515 5l b5 2

Entry level 1.17 0.52
AP

Middle level 0.90 0.22
g

Management level 1.89 0.02
EIEE
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BRERER

Key Performance Indicators (continueo)

Part B. Social (continued)

Supply Chain Management Indicators
- KPI B5.1

HEREEESR - BRENEEBSA

Supplier management
HEFHER

Total number of suppliers
HERAR

By region

HEZS

Hong Kong

E

PRC

Malaysia
BRP R

F_Bo g

For the Year Ended
31 March 2023

BEZ-ZE-=

=A=+—HILEEE

121

98

15

For the Year Ended
31 March 2022

BE-B==

E2E—=——

=A=+—HLEEE

152

115

24

10
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Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social (continued)

Product Responsibility Indicators
- KPI B6.1& KPI B6.2

EmBEEER - BREMEEFEB6AK
B R EMIE5B6.2

Total No. of Products sold or shipped
CESCEXEREHY

Total number of products subject to recalls
for safety and health reason

AzzRkRERAACENERER
Total number of complaints received

EL e it s

Community Investment Indicators
- KPI B8.2

HEREESR - BRENEEBS.2

Resources contributed to education,
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport (Amount in HK$)

HYE REME -SHER -RE - -BE
BEMNER (BEBTEE)

Hours spent on corporate charitable activities
CEZETHMARY

Number of employee volunteer participating
in corporate charitable activities

BELESMEERETHAH
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FARENIEEw
F_Ho g

For the Year Ended
31 March 2023

BE-ZE_=
=A=+—HLEE
416,448
0
0

For the Year Ended
31 March 2023

HE-=E—=
=B=+—HBILEE
45,818
19
28

For the Year Ended
31 March 2022

gz
ZA=+t—-BLEFE
387,010
0
0

For the Year Ended
31 March 2022

gz
ZA=t+—HLEE
39,611
6
3
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX

ESG Aspects

RE -HERERER

BEEBRXZ R
HEESIABR RS

RIE - e MEamE

RE - HERE

Related Section(s)

HEEE

Part A: Environmental
E—Bp  RWE
A1. Emissions

A1BERY

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRARBERIMAZEREHN SRR THOE5 EEREEEEYH
ELENBRRLETHRTABERZENRBERLERNER -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data.

B8R B B IRAT AR I R MR R AR B BE B -
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse

gas emission in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.

per unit of production volume, per facility).

BB WIEIEAM 2EE (BB MEEER (BE2) 8 EREAHW
E(L/(ﬂmﬁiﬁ ) R (ER)BE (IMABES BN  BERMTE) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

7 2 48 AR IRAT Sﬁﬁiziﬁ%}?&%%iﬁé (AmEEtE) & (0@ ) &=
B (ML SESEN BEHRMEHE)

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FREBIEEAMAMELEEZEEZMEE (UEETE) X (WER) =
B (M ESESEMN SEXETE) -

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target set and steps taken to
achieved them.

RRERUEBRA ST UM RER R R AERE LR
28R

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target set and steps taken to
achieved them.

PR EUEIEA A EEAEENEEREMN L MM L
HRRE B AR N R RS L B AR AT ERER A 5% o

132 P EREX

Environmental — Overview, Compliance
and Grievance, Emissions

RE-BE AR NBAF HRY

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

BB AE RIS —

Key Performance Indicators — Part
Environmental

__LB_\-E&EI
A

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

BRENIEE - £ 80 RE

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

B E - B85 B

Environmental — Overview, Emissions
RIE—BLE B
Environmental — Total Hazardous

Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating
Emissions

RE-EERENEEZTERNAE
£ SRR HE U BUS B AR
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W - B REARSE

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT ERARZMERERE ?ié&

INDEX (continued) WmEESINRES|

ESG Aspects

B HEREREMR

(#&)

Related Section(s)
HEEH

A2. Use of Resources
A2. &R E

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BRAARERER (BIEER K REMRT L) BB -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

MRAEMIERAARBEREISNERR IHEEER (NE - [aoh)

BiEg (UTETERFE) REE (MASEEEMN FERME
8o

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BABERIEIRA2 2EFK BN E (WMABES B - §IARMBATE)

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target set and steps taken
to achieve them.

BB A RURIRA A PRI WL REA R AR L RERELE R
FITEREX ) 25 B o

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target set and steps taken to
achieve them.

B 5248 U IRA2. A48 SR ERGE A KR BRI B E I RE - ATRI SZE 7K
Mk B IR M AERE L B IR ERERE) P8R o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

BB RURIRA5E K MR BRI EE (JANEEH) & (2EA)
BHEEBMHE-

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources
BRARER

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.

BERAZEREETAHRRERRAERERERTZENRRK -
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Environmental — Use of Resources

RE-BRER

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

BREMIER-E 80 RE

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

BRERIRE-F 35 RIE

Environmental — Direct/Indirect
Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

—mE ERE KREN
ﬂ

Environmental — Direct/Indirect
Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

RR—-HE/BERE/KEREM
#t

Environmental — Packaging materials
used for finished products, Key
Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

RE-SKSITAREME — B
BERIEE - F—85 IRIE

Environmental — Direct/ Indirect
Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

RE-EHE/BERE/KEEM
=
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

B HEgREREAR

EBARZR
WEESIABRES| =

RIE - e MEamE

RE - HERE

Related Section(s)

HEEE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

FRESIESAS M EB EHHBRRRRAERNE
BREBEBATENTH-

A4. Climate Change

AL RIRB L

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BABRIREEERAGEEHETAELARENEARBEHEEEE
Y IBUER
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

BREMIESEMAIEREE R AL HBETAELEZ ENEARIKNA
BEENERREEBFREENTE -

Part B. Social
F-®o HE
B1. Employment
B1.{& &

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

ERAFMEEE BEREA TERS - RE TEKE 2l
[RIEAR LA R B 15538 AR F VR R BT H BT AR EAXENE
BEARERERNER -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

FREBIEEBI 1R MR B FEER Rt R E 5
o

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

B AE I 1R 217 1 Bl - F e A Bl K B )

FERER

ME B4R

MEBMALL R

Environmental — Direct/Indirect
Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

RE-EE/BERSE/KEEM
et

Environmental — Climate Change

RE - RIRE(L

Environmental — Climate Change

Social — Workplace, The Group’s
Team Profile

& — TESM - ANEEBKEN

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

ARENIERE - S _80 4g

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

BB 48 RIS —

=il )

e
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT EBRZRE -HERE
INDEX (Continued) ﬁ%j:a %l W ﬁ? §| (#%&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s)

B HEREREMR HEREE

B2. Health and Safety
B2.@REZ 2

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations Social — Protecting Health and Safety
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

EREER 2 THESRAREEREBEEEENRERETHE He— RERERE2
FABBAFENRBARRARNER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

R B BIEEB 1R TR M TR A B X - BRERIEE - FE -89 14g

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

FREBIEEB22ATEEATIER&- BREMIER-F -5 g

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Social — Protecting Health and Safety

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

BASR A BUR IRB2 S AT RV B R (2 R R 248 B AR AT IR B HEe-RERERZE
Bk

B3. Development and Training
B3.2 & R E I

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging Social — Development and Training
duties at work. Description of training activities.

ERARTEERTIEBRENMBNRENBRE -BIEBHHEL - HE— BHRLF

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Social

MRAEREEBIRMIREER (WEREERE TREEE)S BREMEE-F_#Ho e
DTHEIEEBED L

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
gender and employee category. Social

BREBIEZEB3EURI REEERE S BREEEKZIINTFY BRESUEZ-F_B9 g
iSE S
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

B HEgREREAR

EBARZR
WEESIABRES| =

RIE - e MEamE

RE - HERE

Related Section(s)

HEEE

B4. Labour Standards
B4.% T %8|

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

B IEET REBHS THERLRETHEITAREAZENHERE
BRERNER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

BRERUEEBA R B EE O NEEARRET KRGS T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

RAB A R 1RBA. 2f I A B B E AR IF NS R B BB TR ER A P8R
B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. it fE §8 E 12

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

BRTEHERENREN T EREMAOBEK-

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BRERIEEBS IR RE DA HERERA -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

FABEAE IR 1EB5.25 L A B EE AR R RO 1B B -
HEFMHBE BHESNNRTRERTT A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

7 5 45 R4 1585, 3% 1t PR 17 28k A1) e 8 B0 3R 35 At & LR 4B 5 A K%
BRAEMHNITRERTT A

AERTHRED

Social — Zero Tolerance
He-FRR

ial — Zer r
Social — Zero Tolerance
Social — Zero Tolerance

ial — Aimi uppli
Social — Aiming for More S liers

Complying with Our Code of
Conduct

HE-EEREESHERETR
PIEy7T A5 Al

Key Performance Indicators— Part B.
Social

BB AE AU IR — D AE

Social — Aiming for More Suppliers
Complying with Our Code of
Conduct

HEe-EEREESHERETH
PIE 7T R Rl

Social — Aiming for More Suppliers
Complying with Our Code of
Conduct

He-SHEREESZHERETH
PIETT AT Al
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INDEX (Continued) ﬁ %: j:a §| |*_| ﬁ ?\ '_5',| (%)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s)
B -HEeaRERER HEAEE

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Social — Aiming for More Suppliers
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and how Complying with Our Code of
they are implemented and monitored. Conduct

BRI TR A AN BEHRERNNHEDRRER IRBHNED HE-EEREEZHERMETH
AR BBERINRITRERG A kRl

B6. Product Responsibility
B6.EmEE

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations Social — Product Responsibility
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and method of redress.

FRMEHREMMRENERERELE2 BES RELLBEEALE HE-EmREE
HOTENBRR LB THERTABEAZENBAERLERNER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls  Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
for safety and health reasons. Social

PAREYIEIEBIEEUD EXAEMBBTRL 2 BEREMMAE BREJEFE-F B 1He
BB E DL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received Key Performance Indicators — Part B.

and how they are dealt with. Social

RSB I IEBe 2 BN Em MRBHIRFBB AR EE - BREMIERE-F_H5 14g

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Social — Product Responsibility
intellectual property rights.

BB E I IEBe. St B A E R FR A AERE AR B He-EmERE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Social — Product Responsibility
procedures.

BARENIEIEBoA I EERTRERERBREF - —-EmEE

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,  Social — Privacy Matters
how they are implemented and monitored.

MRERIEEBeSHIEEE ENRERMLEBEE HEARNTRER HE-ILEBEE
JTE e
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INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

BRRE -HERERER

RIE - e MEamE

ERARIMBE -HEREA
WEESIABRES| =

Related Section(s)

HEEE

B7. Anti-corruption
B7.RES
Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BAHER DR B ARBOBERETHETARE
HEERIOERNER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

RRAREEB INBE A BETAREBRRIYCEENES
RAARMHBE KRR

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

By 486
FEN

P AE WU IEBT 2 [ S iE e R B RAR - HEARTT REER A

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

BB MIEEBT MM RHAEE RETIHREFEI-
B8. Community investment
B8 EBRE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure that its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BERAMHR2EARTRETAZENELRFENBRREEZREDE
ZREALERMEAOBOR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

MRENIEEBS 1T IEREE (NHE  REHE BT R @#F-
X{c-B8E) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

PR ENIEIEBS2E F T HBEMHAER (N HKEH)

Social — Anti corruption

Social — Whistle-blowing Policy,
Communication Channel, Customer
Service

HE—-BHRBEK BRRE TR

Social — Anti-corruption

Social — Cultural Activities,
Community Contribution

HE—EEE - R ER

Social — Community Contribution
Hre—-tRER

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.

Social
BRESIEE-F %o g
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESNSREEE 2BEE

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (R#BE) (“Mr. She”), aged 60, is the
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer. He is the
founder of the Group and has participated in the management
of the Group since October 2001. Mr. She is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. She is
primarily responsible for the overall management, development and
planning of the Group and has over 24 years of experience in the
printing industry.

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (=) (“Mr. Chong”), aged 58, was
appointed as a non-executive Director in November 2013 and
was redesignated as an executive Director on 16 August 2019.
He joined the Group in 2005. Mr. Chong has approximately 14
years of experience in corporate management. He was awarded
a diploma in marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing
for fulfiling the requirements of the institute’s examiners at the
diploma examination held in June 1991. Mr. Chong also obtained
a certificate in marketing from Vocational Training Council in June
1989 and a higher certificate in electronic engineering from Hong
Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming (2% 8) (“Mr. WM Leung”), aged 51, is
a non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. WM
Leung has over 14 years of experience in the marketing field.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (GE# R E) (“Mr. Poon”), aged 65, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 August
2016. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Poon has over 34 years of experience in printing.
He has served several large-scale companies in printing solutions
industry.

Mr. Fu Chung (&) (“Mr. Fu”), aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 8 March 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Fu
has over 29 years of experience in the printing industry. He was an
executive committee member of the Chamber of Commerce for The
Hong Kong Printers Association from 2009 to 2016. Mr. Fu was a
sales manager of Kodak (China) Limited from 2000 to 2003, and in
which he was also a sales director from 2003 to 2016.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ma Siu Kit (FFJKAR) (former name: Ma Man Wai (5 X &)
(“Mr. Ma”), aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 December 2016. He is also the chairman
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Ma had obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business (accountancy) from Queensland University of Technology,
Australia in 1993. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma has been an independent non-
executive director of China Kangda Food Company Limited (stock
code: 834) since 15 December 2022 and is currently the company
secretary of China Boton Group Company Limited (formerly known
as China Flavours and Fragrances Company Limited; stock code:
3318), both companies listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Ma had worked in accounting firms and different
enterprises. He is a seasoned professional in accounting with over
20 years of relevant experience.

Senior Management

Mr. Hui Chi Tung Denny (FF&EXR) (“Mr. Hui”) has been
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group with effect
from 1 January 2023. Prior to join the Group, Mr. Hui had been
worked in investment bank divisions of certain financial institutions
and he has over 15 years’ experience in the fields of accounting,
financial reporting, taxation and corporate finance and involved
in a wide range of corporate finance affairs including initial public
offerings, takeovers, acquisitions and business restructuring. Mr.
Hui was awarded a Bachelor's degree of Commerce (Honours) in
Accounting at the Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known
as Hong Kong Shue Yan College) in July 2006. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow member and a chartered tax adviser of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong. He is also a Certified Environmental, Social
and Governance Analyst (CESGA®) awarded by The European
Federation of Financial Analysts Societies.

Ms. Leung Ngan Yi (2 E15) (“Ms. Leung”) has been appointed
as the Company Secretary with effect from 28 June 2023. She
obtained a bachelor’s degree of business administration in
corporate administration at The Open University of Hong Kong (now
known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University) in 2009. She is a
Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an
associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Leung
has more than 10 years’ experience in handling listed company
secretarial and compliance related matters.

Mr. Cheang Ngai Wang (% 7% ) (“Mr. Cheang”), aged 60, is
the information technology director. Mr. Cheang joined the Group in
December 2004. He has over 14 years of experience in the printing
industry.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for FY2022/23.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of printing services and
solutions on advertisement, bound books and stationeries to a
diversified customer base in Hong Kong.

Business Review

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators, future development in the business of the Group for
FY2022/23 and material events occurred after the reporting period
are discussed under the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis”. Such discussion forms
an integrate part of this report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for
FY2022/23 is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 48 to 95 of this annual report.
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Business Review (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Reduction of market demand

Aside from traditional media used by businesses, for example
newspapers advertising, radio advertising, television advertising
and telemarketing, today the Internet has become an
indispensable tool for marketing.

A wide variety of inexpensive advertising media have grown
rapidly, including pay-per-click advertising and online banner
advertising that entails the display of a graphical advertising
unit, etc., and social media advertising such as Youtube, Twitter,
Facebook, LinkedIn that are the other type of media to maintain
customer relationships.

There is also a trend of having paperless offices and online
paperless portals.

Furthermore, there has been a global outbreak of Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (COVID-19) since the end of 2019. This has affected
the printing market seriously and lowered the general consumption
of the Group’s products, which has yet to be restored to the
pre-COVID-19 level. Even though the income generated from
the provision of printing and other services has been gradually
recovered during the year, it has yet to return to its pre-COVID-19
level primarily because of the decreased market demand resulting
from the outbreak of COVID-19 and economic downturn.

In this regard, the output of printing industry in Hong Kong and
overseas market (e.g. Malaysia) has been declining in recent
years and the Group might face the risk of unfavorable sales
performance.
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Business Review (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continuea)

Although the market demand on traditional printing has been
declining to a certain extent, the breakthrough of printing
technology flourishes the printing business and the market
demand for business communication materials such as brochures,
rack cards and catalogs for exhibition or other promotional
functions is still dominant.

Currently, the Group keeps monitoring the change of consumer
behaviour and builds up a customer relationship management
(CRM) by way of such as customer loyalty program and advocacy
marketing, including VIP membership, one-stop shop, etc. The
Group also provides various kinds of service in and outside Hong
Kong such as the offset printing products, digital printing products
and e-banner to meet the requirements of customers, in addition
to traditional printing services.

In addition, the Marketing Department had started to explore other
possible product lines to diversify the types of services offered.
Examples include variables printing, promotion gifts market, leaflet
distribution services, etc.

Under the continuous outbreak of COVID-19, the management
of the Group will continuously closely monitor the situation.
Besides minimizing the operating cost, the Group will continue to
strengthen its leading market position and increase market share
by strengthening the cost control to achieve a competitive pricing
strategy. In addition, the Group continues to improve its product
mix and enhance the value-added services such as e-print mobile
application, online self-service platform, phone ordering system
and logistics system, etc., in order to provide a better customers
experience.
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Business Review (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueq)

Risk Description

Fluctuations of purchase costs for raw materials

Major raw materials used by the Group include paper, zinc printing
plates, and printing ink. Among them, paper costs are the largest
component of raw materials costs. The Group purchases a wide
range of paper products from several suppliers located in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Availability and costs of paper can vary as
a result of natural disasters, general economic conditions, and
changes in government regulations. Furthermore, rising labour
costs and other expenses incurred by suppliers may be passed
on to the Group, resulting in higher raw material costs.

The Group’s business is sensitive to fluctuations in the cost of raw
materials. Such fluctuations may impact its profitability and results.

Risk Response
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As paper is the major printing material, the Group regularly
monitors the trend of paper prices by conducting marketing
research. Vendor comparisons would be conducted before placing
a purchase order of raw materials. The Group signed contract
with suppliers to fix the price, or to change suppliers to keep the
costs down and stabilise the supply for the normal operations for
a certain period of time.

Management will keep monitoring the price trend of raw materials
and strengthening the cost control.
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Business Review (continueq)

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operation of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees and Customers

The key relationships with the Group’s employees and customers
are discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 48 to 95 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Suppliers

The Group understands sustainable supply of quality products is
indispensable for long-term business development. In view of this,
the Group has adopted a supplier management policy to ensure
quality and sustainability of product supply. The Group selects its
suppliers prudently. The suppliers need to fulfill certain assessment
criteria of the Group, including meeting the Group’s standards for
the quality of raw materials, reputation, environmental friendliness,
production capacity, financial capability and experience. We view
our suppliers as partners who make important contribution to our
business success.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for FY2022/23 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 132 to
133.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for

FY2022/23 (FY2021/22: HKO0.9 cent per Share).

Donations

During FY2022/23, the Group made HK$45,818 charitable and
other donations (FY2021/22: HK$39,611).
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Annual General Meeting

The 2023 AGM will be held on Tuesday, 22 August 2023.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the identity of the Shareholders
entitled to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 16
August 2023 to Tuesday, 22 August 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. All
transfer of Shares accompanied by the relevant certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 15 August 2023.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for FY2022/23
are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during FY2022/23.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies
Act”), amounted to approximately HK$136,728,000. Under the
Companies Act, the share premium account of the Company
of approximately HK$132,921,000 as of 31 March 2023 is
distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”) when the Report of the Directors prepared
by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 260.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Fu Chung and Mr. Ma
Siu Kit shall retire by rotation at the 2023 AGM and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interestsin EERFTETHRAENRKR D E
Shares =

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of the R -_Z - =ZF=ZA=+—H AR EE
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, &= ZTH A BN QD 7 8 (T {a] 48 B X
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any B (E&ZR BB LN FST1IEZSFLHE
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the {&f] ([ &5 & EAEIEH]) EXVER) B #H
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong #BERH kESHEE BAREE S L
Kong) (“SFQ”), which were notified to the Company and the E &I EXVEBE7RSH HBAAR A K
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the HXFHERSI AR (BRERIEES L
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or &G HIEBEIE XM BB IEXEERAE D
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were #EzSA R ) B BEEHF R P EEHE
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the 35215 7B& iR fEZ G AT A B 52 il - SKAR
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the ¥ 4Z % 57 R 78 38 A A 2 &) N B 32 T #9 4
Model Code, are set out below: mEOAB T

Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying NN \
Shares and debentures of the Company or its BOoREFNERZRAR
associated corporation

() The Company (i) =27

Approximate
Number  percentage of

Long position/ of ordinary shareholding in
Name of Directors Capacity short position Shares held the Company
=X RAERARFR
Esps 287) e/ KR EZERHA BMABD
Mr She Siu Kee William  Beneficial owner Long position 1,584,000 0.29%
RNBREE ERBBA HE
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
ReflEE R () e
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
HEBEE 2 EE R (PE1) 555}
Interest of spouse (Note 2) Long position 712,000 0.13%
B igs (fizk2) e
Mr. Leung Wai Ming Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
REALE ReflEE R (M) e
Notes: B &L :
1. 313,125,000 Shares are held by eprint Limited. eprint Limited is held 1. eprint Limited# ﬁ313 125,0000% i
as to 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She Siu 15 ° eprint Limitedda SR A H 55 & ([R 5%
Kee Wiliam (“Mr. She”), Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (“Mr. Chong”), Mr. Lam ED) BEEBEAE ([HxE]) HEE
Shing Kai (“Mr. SK Lam”), Mr. Leung Wai Ming (‘Mr. WM Leung”) and FoiE ([MRRELE])  RERHEE (R
Mr. Leung Yat Pang (“Mr. YP Leung”) (collectively, the “Concerted FRASTEDRR-BE(TR—IB%
Shareholders”) respectively. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, each £ (BBI—BTERR])SHFE
of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung 21.62% 21.62% *21.62% * 21.62%
has agreed to jointly control their respective interests in the Company. 13.52% M - IRIE R IR REE M
Accordingly, eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act in accordance S MRESRE RERTERR BB
with joint instructions of the Concerted Shareholders. Hence, each of EECEERERAATHBEESERSR
the Concerted Shareholders is deemed to be interested in all the Shares A AR ° F It - eprint Limited 8 & 1R
held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO. B-BIBRRARETRITS At 8

BEHFRPEED & —BRITBHREH
13 AR eprint Limited T #58 FT A I8 (5

N

B
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares (Continued)

Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (continueq)

() The Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. Mr. Chong is deemed to be interested in 712,000 Shares held by his
spouse, Ms. Yip Fei.

(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited

Report of the Directors
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EERIEARARNRARE

(i) =274
MisE: (4)

2. HEEWRARERBERZLIFEN
712,000 A% D R B %5 o

(i) #BE% % E - eprint Limited

Number of Approximate
ordinary Shares percentage of
held in the shareholding in
associated the associated

Name of Directors Nature of interest
ESpnE EEME

Mr. She Beneficial owner
NEE EnEBA

Mr. Chong Beneficial owner
HohAE EREBA

Mr. WM Leung Beneficial owner
RERLEE EnEBA

Note: The disclosed interest represents the interests in eprint Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, which is owned by Mr. She, Mr.
Chong, Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung in the respective
proportions of 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives
of the Company and/or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code as at 31 March 2023.

corporation corporation
BHEMEBEE REBEEER
EZERHAE BRBEDL
2,162 21.62%

2,162 21.62%

2,162 21.62%

Mizk: EEBESERLSE HAE WEREL
S RERAEERRE-BEENRARAF
PR RR A% Eeprint LimitedZ #35 & B FTE
E ) 5 Bl A21.62% ~ 21.62% ~ 21.62%
21.62%%13.52% °

BEXFIEZEEN R_E-_=ZF=A
Zt+—H BMEARFTNEE TEBTHA
BE/SAEENBEALTRARRHKE
R EENE AR BERMD RE
HFH BAALRTRBEZE S KBEKG
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Interests in Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 13 November
2013 pursuant to the written resolutions of the then Shareholders
passed on 13 November 2013. The Share Option Scheme is
a share incentive scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible Participants (as
defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 20 November
20183 (the “Prospectus”)) have had or may have made to the
Group. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at
its discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe of new Shares in
aggregate not exceeding 30% of the Shares in issue from time to
time.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised
as follows:

(1)  The limit on the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
scheme(s) of any member of the Group must not exceed 10%
of the issued Shares as at the listing date of the Company
(i.,e. 3 December 2013) (the “Listing Date”) (which was
50,000,000 Shares) unless approval of the Shareholders has
been obtained, and which must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. As at the date of this
report, the total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme is 50,000,000 Shares, which represents
approximately 9.09% of the issued Shares as at the date of
this report.

(2)  The total number of Shares issued and which may be issued
upon exercise of all options (whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) granted to any Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares as at the date
of grant.
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Interests in Share Options (continueq)

Share Option Scheme continued)

©)

©)

The subscription price for the Shares under the options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme will be a price
determined by the Board at the time of grant of the options,
and will be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets on the date of grant which must be a business day; (i)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal
value of a Share.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
notified by the Board to each Eligible Participant (as defined in
the Prospectus) who accepts the grant of any options, which
must not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant
(subject to acceptance) of the option.

HK$1.00 is payable by the Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) who accepts the grant of an option in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme on
acceptance of the grant of an option.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date.

Other details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.
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Interests in Share Options (continueq
Share Option Scheme (continueq)

Details of the movement in the share options granted under the
Share Option Scheme during FY2022/23 are as follows:

Outstanding

Exercise
Price

(HKS)

Date of grant of

Category of participants share option Exercise Period

R-B=Zf R=

TRER

SRERA BRERHAM T (%)

16 December 2022 16 December 2022 to
16 December 2024
“E-_F+-At5AE
“EIRELoRTAR

Employees in aggregate
0.79

EEQY “E--F+ZR4RH

The Share Options vests immediately from the date of grant and are
exercisable up to 16 December 2024.

As at 1 April 2022, the number of Share Options available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme was 50,000,000. The Company
granted 49,500,000 Share Options to certain eligible employees
in December 2022. As at 31 March 2023, the number of Share
Options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was
500,000.

The Company does not have any other share schemes except
for the Share Option Scheme, the number of Shares that may be
issued in respect of the Share Options granted at 31 March 2023
divided by the weighted average number of issued Shares for
FY2022/23 was 9%.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during FY2022/23.
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EEeRE

Substantial Shareholders and Other FERRREMA LT ZRGDE
Persons’ Interests in Shares =

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the M -_ZE - ZF=ZA=Z+—H BEEFFA
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executives H* A TFTA T (TBEAQRIEELETE
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares TTHAB)EMRMD RB@ERMD T HEEER
and underlying Shares which were required to be notified to the 1% & % K& Hi & 15l EXVEL 2 %35 & 40
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which &ZARFAKDBIEE S M E 156 5£336
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 & #8 i 5 17 9 & 52 f R &0 8% /O # 25 0%
of the SFO. B

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying RO RHEERONESZIAE
Shares

Number of
ordinary Approximate
Shares/  percentage of

Long position/ underlying shareholding in

Nature of interest short position Shares held the Company

s BEREE ;NGBS

ERtE B#E/ % / HBARGEE BAE 2

eprint Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
eprint Limited ( Bf5E1) EanlEEA gE

Mr. SK Lam (Note 2) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
MAESLE (PFE2) EREAA =y

Ms. Lo Suet Yee (Note 3) Interest of spouse Long position 314,709,000 57.22%
ES Rzt (H:F3) L 2o e

Ms. Yip Fei (Note 4) Beneficial owner Long position 712,000 0.13%
ERz+ (HzE4) ERBERAA e

Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
L 2 Sy

Ms. Yu Siu Ping (Note 5) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
it (HEs5) [T EL: £ =y

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu (Note 6) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
AR Azt (MF6) L 2 A

Mr. YP Leung (Note 7) Interest of controlled corporation Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
Rl & (M&T7) XEHEEER e
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EEeNE

Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continueq)

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying
Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. eprint Limited is directly interested in 313,125,000 Shares, representing
approximately 56.93% of the issued Shares. eprint Limited is held as to
21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She, Mr. Chong,
Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung respectively. Pursuant to the
Deed of Confirmation, each of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM
Leung and Mr. YP Leung has agreed to jointly control their respective interests
in the Company. Accordingly, eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act in
accordance with joint instructions of the Concerted Shareholders.

2. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. SK Lam is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

3. Ms. Lo Suet Yee is the spouse of Mr. She. Under the SFO, Ms. Lo Suet Yee
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. She is
interested.

4. Ms. Yip Fei is the spouse of Mr. Chong. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip Fei is taken to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Chong is interested.

(5} Ms. Yu Siu Ping is the spouse of Mr. SK Lam. Under the SFO, Ms. Yu Siu Ping
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. SK Lam is
interested.

6. Ms. Chau Fung Kiu is the spouse of Mr. WM Leung. Under the SFO, Ms. Chau
Fung Kiu is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr.
WM Leung is interested.

7. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. YP Leung is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
other persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO as at 31 March 2023.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or in any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. She, an executive Director, has entered into a renewed service
agreement with the Company on 25 November 2022 for a further
term of three years with retrospective from 13 November 2022.
Mr. Chong, an executive Director, has entered into a renewed
service agreement with the Company on 25 November 2022 for
a further term of three years with retrospective from 16 August
2022. Each of Mr. She and Mr. Chong may receive a discretionary
bonus, the amount of which will be determined by reference to the
recommendations of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. WM Leung has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued
by the Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three
years with retrospective from 13 November 2022.

Mr. Poon has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the
Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three years
with retrospective from 15 August 2022.

Mr. Fu has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the
Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three years
commencing from 8 March 2023.

Mr. Ma has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the
Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three years
commencing from 30 December 2022.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
2023 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” below and “Related Party Transactions” in note 37 to
the financial statements for FY2022/23, no significant transaction,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end or at any time during
the year.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that
all Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Connected Transactions

The Group has connected transactions with the following connected
persons during FY2022/23.

Connected Persons

1. CTP Limited

CTP is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to 25% by Mr. She,
25% by Mr. Chong, 25% by Mr. WM Leung and 25% by an
independent third party, respectively.

2. Promise Properties Limited ({RERWEFR LA T)

Promise Properties is principally engaged in the business
of property investment, and is beneficially owned as to
approximately 21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong,
21.62% by Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung, and
21.62% by an independent third party.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Connected Persons (continued)

3.

VVV Limited

VVV is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong, 21.62% by Mr.
WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung and 21.62% by an
independent third party, respectively.

Profit More Rich Limited (BZEZER A7)

Profit More is principally engaged in the business of property
investment and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CTP.

King Profit International Limited (ZFIE K AR A7)

King Profit is principally engaged in the business of property
investment and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of VVV.

Mr. She, Mr. Chong and Mr. WM Leung are the Directors and they
are controlling Shareholders. The above companies are associates
of Mr. She, Mr. Chong and Mr. WM Leung, and hence they are
considered as connected persons of the Company under Rule
14A.12 of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions (continueq

Existing Tenancy agreements

Background

(a)

Tenancy agreements relating to CTP

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer and e-banner as tenants
and CTP as landlord entered into the tenancy agreements in
respect of the tenancy of Unit W6 on 3rd Floor of Block 1;
Units K2, L2, W1 and W2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2; Unit A3 on
1st Floor of Block 3; Units W1 to W5 on 2nd Floor of Block 3;
Unit B3 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit B3 on 4th Floor of Block
3; Unit R4 on 2nd Floor of Block 4; Unit A4 on 5th Floor of
Block 4; and Units M4, N4, P4 and R4 on 6th Floor of Block 4,
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April 2022 to 31
March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$407,200 for industrial
use.

On 10 June 2022, Promise Network as tenant and CTP
as landlord entered into a tenancy agreement in respect of
the tenancy of Car Parking Space No. 142 on Basement,
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a lease term from 1 August
2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$3,300 for
carparking use.

Tenancy agreement relating to Promise Properties

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Promise
Properties as landlord entered into the tenancy agreement in
respect of the tenancy of Unit W3 on 2nd Floor of Block 2;
Unit K3 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit H3 on 4th Floor of Block
3; and Unit A4 on 6th Floor of Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong for a lease term from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023
with a monthly rent of HK$125,600 for industrial use.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Existing Tenancy agreements (continued)

Background (Continued)

()

Tenancy agreements relating to VVV

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network
as tenants and VVV as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of (1) Unit H2, on 2nd
Floor of Block 2; Unit K4 on 3rd Floor of Block 4; Car Parking
Space No. 78 on Ground Floor, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong; and
(2) Workshop No. 1 on Ground Floor, Trend Centre, No. 29
Cheung Lee Street, Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April
2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$166,700
for industrial and carparking use.

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer as tenant and VVV as
landlord entered into (i) a tenancy agreement in respect of
the tenancy of Unit J2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong
Industrial Centre, Nos. 460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong for a lease term from 1 November 2022 to 31
March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$32,100 for industrial
use and (i) a tenancy agreement in respect of the tenancy of
Unit G2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
Nos. 460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for
a lease term from 11 March 2023 to 31 March 2023 with a
monthly rent of HK$23,800 for industrial use.

Tenancy agreement relating to Profit More

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Profit More
as landlord entered into a tenancy agreement in respect of
the tenancy of Workshop Nos. M201, M202 and M210 on
3rd Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-
484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a lease term
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent of
HK$50,700 for industrial use.

opcd
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Connected Transactions (continueq)
Existing Tenancy agreements (Continued)
Background (Continued)

(e) Tenancy agreement relating to King Profit

On 10 June 2022, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as
tenants and King Profit as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit A3 (including
flat roof appurtenant thereto) on 4th Floor of Block 3, Unit L4
on 3rd Floor of Block 4 and Car Parking Space No. 36 on
Basement, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease terms from 1 April
2022 to 31 March 2023 with a monthly rent of HK$63,300 for
industrial and carparking use.

The rental payment made by Lucky Gainer, Promise Network and
e-banner under the Existing Tenancy Agreements were recognised
as right-of-use assets and had been regarded as an acquisition of
assets by the Group for the purpose of the Listing Rules.

The Existing Tenancy Agreements, when aggregated, constituted
() a discloseable transaction of the Company which was subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements but was exempt
from the approval of Shareholders requirement under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules; and (ii) a connected transaction on the part of the
Company which was subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but was exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirement in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
10 June 2022 and 16 June 2022.

Details of the Group’s related party transactions for FY2022/23 are
set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as
disclosed above, the Group did not carry out connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction that are not exempted under
Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules during FY2022/23.
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Non-Compete Undertakings

eprint Limited, Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM Leung and
Mr. YP Leung (together, the “Covenantors”) entered into the deed of
non-competition in favour of the Company on 13 November 2013
(the “NCU”), pursuant to which the Covenantors have undertaken
to the Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of the
members of the Group) that, with effect from the Listing Date and
for as long as the Shares remain so listed on the Stock Exchange
and the controlling Shareholders are individually or collectively with
any of his/its associates interested directly or indirectly in not less
than 30% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company (the
“Restricted Period”), the Covenantors or their respective associates
shall not, (i) directly or indirectly engage in, participate or hold any
right or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved
in any business (whether as owner, director, operator, licensor,
licensee, partner, shareholder, joint venturer, employee, consultant
or otherwise) in competition with or likely to be in competition with
the existing business carried on by the Group (the “Restricted
Business”); and (i) directly or indirectly take any action which
constitutes an interference with or a disruption of the Restricted
Business including, but not limited to, solicitation of the Group’s
customers, suppliers or personnel of any member of the Group.

The Covenantors, except for Mr. SK Lam, have confirmed to the
Company (i) there has not been any change in the terms of the
NCU during FY2022/23, and (iij the compliance with the NCU
during FY2022/23. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the NCU and confirmed the compliance with the NCU by
the Covenantors (except Mr. SK Lam) during FY2022/23.

As far as the Directors aware, Mr. Lam Shing Tai (‘Mr. ST Lam”),
became (i) a controlling shareholder in Universe Printshop Holdings
Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8448) (“Universe Printshop”) on 4 April 2022 and as at 31
March 2023, Mr. ST Lam is interested in 506,525,000 shares in
Universe Printshop, representing approximately 56.28% of the
total number of issued shares of Universe Printshop; and (i) the
chairman and an executive director of Universe Printshop. Universe
Printshop and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in providing
printing services to customers in Hong Kong. The printing services
include offset printing, ink-jet printing and toner-based digital
printing. Mr. ST Lam is the brother of Mr. SK Lam, hence Mr. ST
Lam is an associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of Mr. SK
Lam.
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Non-Compete Undertakings (continueo)

As advised by the Company’s legal adviser, the business activities
of Universe Printshop is similar to those of the Group, and Mr. SK
Lam has in breach of and has not complied with the NCU during
FY2022/23. The Company has the right to enforce the NCU against
Mr. SK Lam. However, having considered (i) the non-compliance
committed by Mr. SK Lam had not caused adverse financial loss
or operational disruption to the Group; (ii) the expected time and
resources to be spent by the Group in relation to the legal action to
be brought against Mr. SK Lam; and (iii) the potential compensation
(if any) to be awarded by the court to the Company may only be
nominal, as advised by the Company’s legal adviser, the Company
has not taken any legal action against Mr. SK Lam as of the date of
this report. The Company will continue to monitor the situation and
will seek indemnity from Mr. SK Lam if it is proved that the non-
compliance results in adverse financial loss or operational disruption
to the Group. In the meantime, the Company reserves all its rights
to take any legal action in this regard.

As of the date of this report, save as disclosed above, the Company
is not aware of any other matters regarding the compliance of the
undertakings in the NCU and there has not been any change in the
terms of the NCU during FY2022/23.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the percentage of sales attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group is 1.2% and
3.8% respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 28.5% and 65.0% of the
total purchases of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.

Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

Details of the principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of
the Company are set out in Note 16, Note 17 and Note 18 to the
financial statements.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Siu
Kit (chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai and Mr. Fu Chung. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for FY2022/23.
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Competition and Conflict of Interests

During the year, save as disclosed in this annual report, none of
the Directors or substantial Shareholders or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 24 to 47 of this annual report.

Continuing Disclosure Requirements under
Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules in Relation to
Financial Assistance to Affiliated Companies

The Group has included a consolidated statement of financial
position of the relevant affiliated companies as required therein
under Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. Affiliated companies include
jointly controlled entities.

The consolidated statement of financial position of Top Success
Investment Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“Top Success
Group”) and the Group’s attributable interest in Top Success Group
as at 31 March 2023 are presented as follows:

Consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets EMEBEE
Current assets mENEE
Current liabilities mEBE
Non-current liabilities EmMEBBE
Net assets BEFH

BERANEER

BAFHRABEEN FABEBESHT
ERRIEZBZEMBEALRLEE
MERAEEEBERGEFXRAERFZ
E VR

EER

ARARFTEMNEELEERTERSE
IR AR FERF24E475 -

A& £ i #8 B 5513.2215k B A 4]
BEARREMBER KA

AEBERE EHRAE1322(W R EM
MY _EARRAEE B A A 2 A G IS AROR K - B
BARBHAREHER-

RIE-_ZF=ZA=Z+—HIFTREK
BEEBRERARRENBAR ([EF &
BEE|)NEHTBRARAREAEER
A REREENERSRAT

SO BERRE
Consolidated Group’s
statement attributable
of financial interest
position 50%
rEEH
CXE FE AL RE 2=
R FR 50%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT
29,423 14,712
11,068 5,534
3,657 1,828
34,597 17,299
2,237 1,119
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Auditor

There has been no change in auditor of the Company during the
past three years.

The term of appointment of PwC as auditor of the Company shall
expire at the conclusion of the 2023 AGM. A resolution will be
proposed at the 2023 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
eprint Group Limited
She Siu Kee, William
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RE

To the Shareholders of eprint Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of eprint Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 132 to 259, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment
assessment of other financial assets at amortised cost.
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PNV Gl ey

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of other financial assets at amortised cost

Refer to Notes 2.12, 3.1(b)(ii) and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the balance of the other financial
assets at amortised cost amounted to approximately
HK$31,141,000, net of provision for impairment loss of
HK$3,362,000. For the year ended 31 March 2023, an
impairment loss on other financial assets at amortised
cost of HK$1,099,000 has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Management assesses whether the credit risk of other
financial assets at amortised cost have increased
significantly since their initial recognition and applies a
three-stage impairment model to calculate the expected
credit loss (“ECL”). Management measured expected
credit losses based on historical observed default rates,
loss given default rates of comparable companies
and industry, and forward-looking economic factors.
Management has engaged an independent external
valuer to assist them in the ECL calculation.

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
other financial assets at amortised costs. Moreover, the
estimates of ECL involved a significant level of judgement
and assumptions made by management and all these
are subject to certain level of estimation uncertainty and
inherent risk of subjectivity.
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In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of other financial assets at
amortised costs, the following audit procedures have
been performed by us:

We understood, evaluated and validated on
a sample basis the key controls over the
impairment assessment process and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors, in
particular those over the identification of other
financial assets at amortised cost with different
credit risk characteristics and the calculation of
provision;

We assessed the competency and objectivity
of the external valuer by considering their
qualifications, relevant experience and
relationship with the Group;

We discussed with the management regarding
the credit control procedures, in particular
credit assessment and the judgement related
to management’s identification of events that
triggered the significant increase in credit risk
of other financial assets at amortised costs and
events of default;

We evaluated the appropriateness of the
expected credit loss provisioning methodology
with the involvement of internal valuation expert;

We assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including default rate and loss given
default rate determined by independent external
valuer with involvement of internal valuation
expert;

We challenged the appropriateness of forward-
looking economic factors applied by management
for the adjustment of the level of expected loss
with involvement of internal valuation expert.

Based on the procedures described, we found the key
judgements and assumptions made by management
in respect of the impairment assessment of other
financial assets at amortised cost were supported by
the available evidence.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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PNV Gl ey

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Chun Wah, Ryan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023

Independent Auditor’s Report
MR S HIEeS
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

aftEElaE®
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=—F=-A=+—HIFE

2023
—E-= —_EF__
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Continuing operations BEREEL
Revenue e 5 317,408 300,311
Cost of sales SHE KA 8 (193,841) (191,042)
Gross profit EH 123,567 109,269
Other income H g A 6 4,399 3,334
Other losses — net Hh B — F5 7 (2,317) (3,925)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAE 8 (30,086) (27,616)
Administrative expenses THAX 8 (101,780) (75,964)
Provision for impairment losses on TREEREBERE
financial assets 3.1(b) (1,559) (185)
Operating (ossyprofit ®&E(EE) wf (1778 4,918
Finance income A WA 10 3,924 3,180
Finance costs & B R 10 (1,480) (1,032)
Financeincome —net  BELAF® 0 2444 2,148
Share of losses of associates FEAG B = A B E 1B 17 (41) (660)
Share of losses of joint ventures JElEEDEEE 18 (138) (708)
e AT (1,368) _
(Loss)/profit before income tax from BEQEER 2 BRETBRAT
continuing operations (E18) /& F (5,511) 5,693
Income tax expense Fris®if X 11 (1,713) (2,178)
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing  HEKEEBERN (FE)
operations ikl (7,224) 3,515
Discontinued operation BRIEEEEE
(Loss)/profit after tax for the year from ERIEEEEBFRRBIE
discontinued operation (B#E) &=F
— Equity holders of the Company — KRRIERFEA 34 (2,568) 137
— Non-controlling interests — IR ER 34 (466) 84
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EFER) EF (10,258) 3,736
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: INTEBEELEFEAN (EE)
i A
- Equity holders of the Company —ARAAERFEA (14,243) 2,097
— Non-controlling interests — IR S 3,985 1,639
(Loss)/profit for the year FRN(EE),/EF (10,258) 3,736
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
X o=t Ene

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE—Z-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—s=-= —ZT=-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Other comprehensive loss arising from REBKEEBIEEX L
continuing operations: Hiir & B8 :

ltem that may be reclassified to profit or
loss:

A EFT D R LRI BE -

Currency translation differences ME N ZE%R (625) (50)
Total other comprehensive loss, Hih4rG BEAE
net of tax R IE (625) (50)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for FRERE (BBR) W8T
the year (10,883) 3,686
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UT&EEMLGE
attributable to: (E18) WS eE:
— Equity holders of the Company —ARAERFEA (14,852) 2,050
— Non-controlling interests — PR = 3,969 1,636
(10,883) 3,686
Total comprehensive (loss)/income RETHNEEZAAT
attributable to equity holders of EREEAEMLEGE
the Company arises from: (1) WS eE:
— Continuing operations — B EEL (12,284) 1,913
— Discontinued operation — BRIEEEER (2,568) 137
(14,852) 2,050
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit A AREZFIHFHE ARILIHE
from continuing operations attributable KRR (BB) &
to the equity holders of the Company: mER (BER) &F :
- Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) — — E & K #E
(FRREA) 12 (2.12) 0.36
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit ~ AAREZEHFAE AEMD KR
from discontinued operation attributable  IF & &5 (EE) %
to the equity holders of the Company: TSR (B518) /&F
— Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) — — F A& & #58
(FRAEN) 12 (0.47) 0.02
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit SRR RIHEZRFIFA A
attributable to equity holders of the FEfL (B518) 1 a A&
Company during the year Bk (FB518) &BF
- Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) — — E AN # &
(FREN) 12 (2.59) 0.38

bt & B A W aR 5% e BB Y B 5 — F

B 7E -

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B OB R

As at 31 March 2023
RZE-_=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—EBEC-=HF ==
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FHETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMENEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB k& E 13 95,372 98,815
Right-of-use assets EHREEE 14 48,208 11,910
Intangible assets mEE 15 725 7,904
Other financial assets at amortised cost ¥ §5 K A 51| 8F 2
Hitv & @EE 23 28,751 34,570
Investments in associates REEE N R E 17 1,380 1,421
Investments in joint ventures RELDEMNKE 18 10,654 12,303
Deferred income tax assets BEFSHEE 30 707 2,379
Deposits and prepayments Be RIERMKIEAE 22 20,184 1,780
205,981 171,082
Current assets MENE E
Inventories FE 20 7,794 9,562
Trade receivables 2 5 EWGIE 21 4,424 4,297
Deposits, prepayments and other e FERARER
receivables H fth fE Y 51 IE 22 8,756 15,459
Other financial assets at amortised cost ¥ $4 Ak 51| 8E ~
EmemEE 23 2,390 2,075
Financial assets at fair value through profit #@IBIR AL BENIEZ
or loss SREE 24 16,653 18,106
Amounts due from related companies b NGRS 37 377 1,076
Current income tax recoverable A U e E HAFT 1S FX 1,209 =
Cash and cash equivalents RekRSEFEEIHEE 25 125,024 113,911
166,627 164,486
Total assets EERLT 372,608 335,568
Equity e a
Capital and reserves attributable to RARIERFEEABIGEER
the equity holders of the Company &
Share capital fi% 7R 26 5,500 5,500
Share premium 15 % B 26 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H & 27 100,626 103,377
230,047 241,798
Non-controlling interests FEVE R 2= 12,743 8,470
Total equity W mEm 251,790 250,268
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ABHTBRE

As at 31 March 2023
RZZEZ=F=RA=+—H

2023 2022
—EC_=HF —=E——
HK$’000 HK$’000
THEx FET
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities EREBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 28,719 3,493
Other payables H h FE T IR 28 - 173
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMSTHAE 30 4,167 5,349
e . 32,886 9,015 _
Current liabilities MEAE
Trade payables 2 SN IE 28 12,211 11,951
Accruals and other payables JE &t 3R I8 I H 4t & < IR 28 35,136 31,072
Borrowings & 29 22,682 26,216
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 17,680 6,221
Amounts due to related parties FET B 5 A 37 - 200
Amounts due to directors EtEEHIE 37 132 195
Current income tax payable FERTE BRFTIB TR o1 430
e 87,932 . 76285
Total labiites ... ‘Ees® . 12088 85300
Total equity and liabilities BakBEBE 372,608 335,568

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Lt & BF B 75 IR R 3R FE SRR B B R — fF

B8 -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 132 to 259 were Z132F259BH &AM KR ERE R =
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2023 and were T __=FNA-_t+/\HEES=ei & I
signed on its behalf. HTIESEREEE -

Mr. She Siu Kee William Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

RBEXE HE#HALE
Director Director
EBEZE EBZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOEREE R

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT-_=—F=-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ERAA

RAFIERE

Non-
Share Share Capital Other ~ Exchange  Retained controlling

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  eamings  Sub-total interests Total
Rx  RHEE EAfK  HtRE  HERE  REEN N EBRES &g
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKFO00  HKH000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

BalanceattAprl202t ~ R=8=-FMA-AEH 50 1201 658 Q) 379 b A8 6507 260655
Comprehensive income GehE
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 2,097 2,097 1639 3,736
Other comprehensive income/ &M/ (FE)

(loss)
Currency translation differences ELER
- Group -1&H - - - - 20 - 20 @) 17
- Joint ventures and associates - RELERBELT - - - = (67) S (67) o (67)
Total comprehensive incomelfoss) #& it/ (ERIBE T T T S O T .
Transactions with owners, ERNEERINERBANR S

recognised directly in equity
Non-controling interests arisngon ~~~ $BAHELNEERER

business combination - - - - - - - 209 209
Capital inection from non-controling ~ 3EFE g3 &

interests - - - - - - - 118 118
Divicends (Note 31) R (1) - - - - - 4,400) 4,400) - (4,400)

Total transactions with owners, Ezmma WERER AN
25

recognised directly in equity - - - - - (4,400) (4,400) 327 (4,073)

Balance at 31 March 2022 R-B--E=A=+-BER 5500 132,921 6,593 1) (2,426) 99,231 241,798 8470 250,268
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AGHEREEIR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_Z-_=—F-A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RAREREEA AR
Share
based Non-
Share Share Capital Other  payment Exchange  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
REMT
Bx  ROEE EXEE HbEE e MERE REERA Nt FERES ag
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TEn TAx TAn Tan T T TAx TAx AR AR
Balance at 1 April 2022 R-B--EMA-R&L 5,500 132,921 6,593 (1) - (2,426) 99,231 241,798 8,470 250,268
Comprehensive (loss)/income B4 (BR) /k#
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(BiB) /&l - - - - - - (14243 (14249 3985 (10,258)
Other comprehensive loss b
Currency translation differences ERES
- Group -%%H - - - - - (%) - (98) (16) (114)
- Joint ventures and associates -RELEREELNT - - - - - (511) - (511) - (511)
Total comprehensive (oss)income __ #& (BR) /WE#® S S S S T (2 (14gs) 3960 (10883
Transactions with owners, recognised ~ EERERBRIHE
directly in equity BEANRS
Share based payment expenses (Note 35)  FRIER 305 (1335) - - - - 17,051 - - 17,081 - 17,081
Transfer of share in a subsidlary to WELARNERE
non-controling interests FirhER - - - - - - - - 304 304
Dividends (Note 31) & (Fz31) - - - - - - (4950) (4,950 - 4,950
Total transactions with owners, ERNERRINAEEAN
recognised directly in equity 835 - - - - 17,051 - (4,950) 12,101 304 12,405
Balance at 31 March 2023 RZBZ=#ZA=t-H
33 5,500 132,921 6,593 21) 17,051 (3,035) 80,038 239,047 12,743 251,790

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
2T =F=A=1+—HULFE

Cash flows from operating activities

REFZPHEEMRSRE

2023

—= — =

—_————

HK$’000
FET

Cash generated from operations BEBELEMNRS 32(a) 57,437 40,082
Interest paid BB (705) (435)
Income tax paid ERTATER (2,629) (2,861)
Net cash generated from operating KEFRHELEMRSFE

activities 54,103 36,786
Cash flows from investing activities REETHEEMNRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BE W% - ME k& (7,676) (11,882)
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEYE BERFZEN

plant and equipment B FRIB (17,098) (317)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - HEREZED

plant and equipment FriS#8 32(b) 291 1
Proceeds on redemption of other financial & [l ¥ # 4 Ak A8 51| BR ~ H

assets at amortised cost TRMEEZFSRE 5,405 13,238
Investment in other financial assets at PR S AT BR 2 B

amortised cost TRMEENRKRE (1,000) (4,090)
Investment in financial assets at fair value R B BEFIE AR EBEDE

through profit or loss LERMEEMRE - (3,009)
Investment in an associate R—EEE R RMNEE 17 - (1,400)
Interest received B U F B 3,916 2,910
Acquisition of subsidiaries I BT E A ) - (5,791)
Proceeds on disposal of a subsidiary, HE—FHKBRREHIEA

net of cash HBRR e 371 -
Dividend received from financial assets at K B & B ERIE AR EET

fair value through profit or loss RremBEEZERRKRE 11 -
Dividend received from a joint venture RE—HEELEL

2 AR B 18 1,000 -
Net cash used in investing activities KRERESFMARSFE (14,780) (10,340)
Cash flows from financing activities RERHELEANBERE
Proceeds from borrowings BEEMSHE 32(c) 19,494 28,065
Repayments of borrowings BEEEE 32(c) (22,898) (21,936)
Payment for lease liabilities THHEERE 32(0) (19,732) (20,903)
Dividends paid BIRE 31 (4,950) (4,400)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBMTARIRES FEE (28,086) (19,174)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R4 &84 SEIEH
B nFER 11,237 7,272

Cash and cash equivalents FYReRREEFMBEIEAE

at beginning of year 113,911 106,565
Effect of change in exchange rates [EXEFFHNTE (124) 74
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year F#RIRE MRS HEIEH 25 125,024 113,911

A G S B % R SR I
— BRI -

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

eprint Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 10 January 2013 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s address of
its registered office is P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus
Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 16, 17 and 18, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed
in the other notes. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.
622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

2.1

B OB R R AR IRE

—REHR

eprintS B AR AR ([AAA )R
—E-=ZHE-ATHERBREHS
REE(KEFT)RFAEHSTM
RIREHRRBERAG - ARXRQAFE
it % %= 5Z 3k BP.O. Box 31119
Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802
West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands °

AKARBREER AR HE X BH
BAR BMEAARAELEZE
o RIS AKIFE16 ~17K&18 ©

BRAHAN AR RENEB R
A (% [AEE ]G G ®wR
BRABT (BT 2R

TEEHBERRBE

A FEINE R REZEF S G5 ®
REMRMAZETESFAER (HAR
REMHMERRBEANBRT) K5
BRBAN HEBRRRAEZIH
FEERER-

ARAIMEHUMBHRERDBIERRE
GG ([BRSFAMAE])R
heBBHBHREER ([FE M
HBEER ) RBEEDF622EFH
BARRPINRERERE

EHMBRRCREBEE LKAER
2WHRARABEFEZRRS
BonBEIENEREENER
fEHERT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI

21

2.2

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)  Amended standards, annual improvements and
accounting guideline adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
to standards, annual improvements and accounting
guideline for the financial year beginning 1 April 2022
and are relevant to its operations:

2 FERHBERE

21 WEEEE (»)

MENABEMHHREENNSE H
MBHmERAERE TERGFEE
TRAEEBREARNEE S BR
BELHEB - PRREHEXSTHE
FEMEMRE B AHMBERERE
B AR R R K Al 71 #9885 5% B X0
4 e

22 B BRREHRBEESH

@ AEBERAEIEETER F
B R &5 155

AEBEERBUTER FEF
HEREEHIESI 2B R %
EIN_E-_—_FMWA—H
sz EEREA A HE

REBZEBER -
Amendments to Annual Improvements  Annual Improvements 2018-2020 cycle
Project
FEMBGETRR ZEFIA —E-)\FE_ZT_TFRHAZFESE
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
BER G ERFE169 ZEFT R M BB KERE BT RERAT 2 S EIE
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts: Costs of Fulfilling a Contract
BER G ERIFEITR ZEFT AR BEMEN: BITEHZKAR
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
BERUBREEREIR ZEFTA B ESR S5
Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations
KAEET & 51165 5% HEZEH S HOEHEFE

The adoption of these amendments to standards, annual
improvements and accounting guideline does not have
any significant change to the accounting policies or any
significant effect on the results and financial position of
the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continueq)

(b)  New standard, amendments and interpretations which
are not yet effective for this financial period and have not
been early adopted by the Group

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations have been published
that are not mandatory for 31 March 2023 and have
not been early adopted by the Group in preparing the

B O ERR I T

2 FESTHHERBFE @

22 S BKRESHRIFEFTE o)

©)

SNV TN BN GRS
B AE R IRAN . FTETER - 15
AR a2 FE

ETHAI G LR ERME
RIAKREEBEEMEHER
T_=F=A=t+—H&HE
B-MAEERREES FTBE

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1
BAEGFTEAFEIHR ZIEFTA

Amendments to HKAS 1
BEAGHEAFIR BTN

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

BEAGHERFIRLBEEMB RS
EREBHEFR2HR BTN

Amendments to HKAS 8

BB ERESHE 2B

Amendments to HKAS 12
EB S ERFE125R 2 BETA

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BEAVBREENBI0RLRELSS
FHERIZE285R 2B FT A

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BB B HRELERFE165 ZIEET A

R IREIR R R

Classification of Liabilities as Current and
Non-Current

KEEIBEARBLIRD

Non-current Liabilities with Covenant

MR ENIERDEE
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
BETHRRZKE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

BRI 2 E &

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction
HE-QRHEANEERBERBANEL
A
Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture
REEHRBMERNTREGELEZHANEE
HESTE
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ErMELRZHEEAE

Effective for

annual periods

beginning
on or after
RUT B
RZERBN
FEHBER

1 January 2024

—EMF
—A—H

1 January 2024
—TmMEF
—A—H

1 January 2023

—EC-=F

—A—§
1 January 2023

—ZE-uF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New standard, amendments and interpretations which
are not yet effective for this financial period and have not
been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

2 FERHBERE

22 ETHREEHRBESTE o)

(b)  FAET B[] i K A A A5
B AELE PR Z 35T ER - &
FIARRZFE ()

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
AT B
HZ BB
FEHBER

HKFRS 17
BAMBHRERABTH
HKFRS 17
BAMBWMERREATH

Amendments to HKFRS 17
BAVBRELENE1THR ZEETAR

Revised Hong Kong Interpretation 5

RIEF] BB R EELR

Insurance Contracts
REE L

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information
NERBEEIBHRELEREATHELEE
IS RE R FH — AT E LB H
Amendment to HKFRS 17
BERMBMELERBI7TR ZEFTR

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

MBBREREY - BRAHBEREREE

1 January 2023
—Eo=F
—H—H

1 January 2023

ZE=F
—A—H

1 January 2023
—ET=F
—A—H

1 January 2024

—E-uF

ERz EHERZ DB

Note: To be announced by HKICPA

The Group will adopt the above new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretation when they
become effective. The directors of the Company have
performed preliminary assessment and do not anticipate
any significant impact on the Group’s financial position
and results of operations upon adopting these new
standards, amendments to standards and interpretation.

2.3 Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2022
have been re-presented in order to disclose the discontinued
operation separately from the continuing operations.

Please refer to Note 34 for the details of the discontinued
operation.
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2.4

2441

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOIICIGS (Continued)

Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

(@)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.4 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.4.1 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in profit and
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in
profit and loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit and loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.4 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.4.1 Consolidation (continued)

(b)  Changes in ownership interests

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O ERR I T

2 FESHHERBFE @

2.4 B FE &)

244 §6f @)

©)

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also

recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, joint
control or significant influence, any retained interest in
the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in consolidated
statements of comprehensive income are reclassified to
consolidated statements of profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified or permitted by

applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate
is reduced but joint control or significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in consolidated statements of
comprehensive income are reclassified to consolidated

statements of profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI

2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.4 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.4.1 Consolidation (continued)

(c)  Closure of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair
value at the date when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit and loss. The
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. It means that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to retained earnings as permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

2.4.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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2.5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associate are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit and loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investments in associate include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interest in associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’ identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit and loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the profit and loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate
are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of losses of
associates’ in the profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B PR RSRaR T
2 Summary of significant accounting

2.5

2.6

pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates (continuea)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangement.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement
and determined them to be joint venture. Joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interest in a joint
venture is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investment in a joint venture includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of
the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of loss in a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interest in a joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of a joint venture.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Joint arrangement (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint venture is eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in a joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policy of a joint venture has
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the chairman and
executive directors of the Group that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Group operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars which is the
Group’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit
and loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the profit
and loss. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in profit and loss within ‘Other losses — net’.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B PR RSRaR T
2 Summary of significant accounting

2.8

(c)

150

pOliCieS (Continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of
financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each profit and loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit and loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Current
translation differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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2.8

(d)

2.9

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continuead)

Closure of foreign operation

On the closure of a foreign operation that involving loss
of significant influence over associates that includes a
foreign operation, all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit and
loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. All property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the profit and loss during the period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI T

2.9

2.10

(a)

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings

Plant and machinery

Leasehold improvements
Computer, furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles

30 to 50 years
51to 15 years
5 years

5 years

5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit and loss.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

152 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2022/23

2.9

2.10

(a)

TERHBERE

ME-BERSEE#

FrERMB U T M A ERF K
AR ERED BERREENE

g 30E50%F
R 55 Ko 23 5% 154
HEWMEEE 5%

B RERKE 56

E 5%

EENABEERTERFHES
BHREBRETRT REBY B
B

WEEMNFEEBRBE G TWRD
B B & E 6 BR T E 5 BN HOR
ZHEAUEHEE (MF2.11) -

HENBBRASRERETE
R EZERETE WRNIBE T R -

BILEE
Gk

WENBAREEZMBEMER
RAE - R WU 77 2 1 fa] SF 42 A
BERREMERMNERES 2K
AESPRKBEAR AR EEERR
PR B EEFECAAEE
HYZE R



2.10

(a)

(b)

211

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUSs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. It has a finite useful life of
5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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2 Summary of significant accounting

212

(a)

(b)

(c)

154

pOliCieS (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the
following categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
profit or loss, and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded in profit and loss.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit and loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in

their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit and loss and
presented in “other losses — net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in profit and loss.

o Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in profit and loss and
presented net within “other losses — net” in the period in
which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in “other losses — net” in
the profit and loss.
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BTSRRI

212

(d)

156

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including cash
and cash equivalents, deposits and other receivables, other
financial assets at amortised cost, and amounts due from
related companies, the Group applies general approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which uses 3-stage expected credit
loss model to recognise the loss allowance from initial
recognition. See Note 3.1(b) for details.

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are not
subject to review for impairment as the impairment losses
would include in the fair value changes and recognised in
“other losses — net” in the profit and loss.
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2.13

2.14

2.15

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of inventories comprises materials to be
consumed in the rendering of services. It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for good
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
See Note 2.12 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B PR RSRaR T

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2,16 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks.

2.17 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.18 Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligation to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

219 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the profit and loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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2.20

2.21

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the year
end date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries,
associates and a joint venture operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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B PR RSRaR T
2 Summary of significant accounting

2.21

(b)

pOliCieS (Continued)
Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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2.21

(b)

2,22

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (continueq)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit and loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 Summary of significant accounting

2.23

2.24

162

po licies (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of

o the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of
the cost of the investment.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.

The Company bases its estimate of return on historical results,

taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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2.24

(a)

(b)

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Sales of goods

Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location and the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer. As receivable is recognised
when the goods are delivered as this is the point that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Services income

Revenue from providing services is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. For
fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised based on the
actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as
a proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

The Group provides shipping services in addition to the goods
sold to the customers under certain sales contracts.

Shipping services give rise to a separate performance
obligation when the Group promises to ship the products after
the control of the products are transferred to customer.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.

Agency fee from property agency business
Agency fee from property agency business is recognised

when the services are rendered which is generally the time
when the transacting parties first come into an agreement.
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2.24

(d)

2.25

(a)

(b)

(c)

164

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods or services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes for its employees. Contributions are made based
on certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are recognised as employee benefit expense as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes.
The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.
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2.25

(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based compensation benefits of the Group

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the share option scheme, the executive short-
term incentive scheme and share appreciation. Information
relating to the scheme is set out in Note 35.

The fair value of options granted under the share option
scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions (e.g. the
entity’s share price)

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period), and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g.
the requirement for employees to save or hold shares for
a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.
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2.26

166

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Leases

The Group as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable, and

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit and loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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2.26

2.27

2.28

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOIiCieS (Continued)

Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
and

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit and loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise small items of office furniture.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

(Loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic (loss)/earnings per share to take
into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares, and the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Xy ek

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

229 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognhised in the profit and loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

2.30 Interest income
Interest income is presented as finance income — net, where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in “finance income — net”.

3 Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(@) Market risk
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s cash flow and fair value interest rate risk mainly
arises from cash at banks, other financial assets at amortised
cost, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.

168 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2022/23

2

TERHBERE

220 BB &

BN EMRBRTHE 2 KA
WE mMAKRESETEMBENS
R - Z@heREAAEER
7,

BRKAZBTHBEIEEARK:
WE A REEMEZKAREHER

BEER -

2308 B WA

3.1

(a)

HMEWAABE WA - FREIIEK
HygRrREecEBEENMBAZS
BEEME - EREMNERAS
AATHERA-FE] P

B 7% [ B i 1

g 3N S S

AEEKLRB MY S EY KRR
MRk (BERERERAAE
ENERRLERRR) EFERR
MREE TR -

EIRE T MEEASE M ER -
HRAKEBZUBEBRATEE
BE BEERRETHHEAS-

™ 5 & By
HERERIA EEFFER

REENRERERA A BEFE
BREIERARSTRS BB HK
RYIBE 2 E b A - 1B 1B 1A 2%
BAREESEZ SBARE BT
BERAEE MR-



3.1

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq
Financial risk factors (continueq)

Market risk (Continuea)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s bank borrowing,
cash and cash equivalent are carried at amortised costs with
variable rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s financial assets
and liabilities at amortised costs, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and lease liabilities which are of
fixed interest rates and are also exposed to the risk of future
changes in market interest rates.

However, the Group’s income and cash flows from operations
were substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates as the significant interest-bearing assets were either
fixed or not expected to fluctuate significantly.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, financial assets and liabilities
at amortised costs and lease liabilities at fix rates exposure the
Group to insignificant fair value interest rate risk as the fixed
interest rates approximate market interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss before
income tax (2022: profit before income tax) would have been
approximately HK$227,000 higher/lower (2022: HK$262,000
lower/higher). The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the reporting date. The 100 basis point increase/decrease
represents management’s assessment of reasonable possible
change in the interest rate which has the most impact on the
Group over the period until the next year end date.
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3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1

(a)

(b)

170

Financial risk factors (continuea)

Market risk (Continuead)
Price risk

The Group’s exposure to price risk arises from investments
held by the Group and classified in the consolidated statement
of financial position at fair value through profit or loss (Note
24).

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of
the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the
Group.

The Group’s investment in securities are publicly traded.
The fair value is determined with reference to quoted market
prices. For the Group’s investment that is not publicly traded,
management is of the opinion that the fair values of the
equity instruments affected by changes in the market price
of the underlying equity instruments is immaterial (Note 3.3).
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is required.

Based on the assumption that the fair values of equity
had increased or decreased by 5% respectively with all
other variables held constant, that all of the Group’s equity
instruments increased or decreased by HK$833,000 (2022:
HK$905,000), that moved in line with the assumption. The
management is of the opinion that the Group has minimal
exposure to the price risk as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents, other financial assets at amortised cost, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and amounts due from related
companies. The carrying amounts of these balances represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

Management has credit policy in place and the exposure to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

()

(i)

Cash and cash equivalents
Risk management

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, all the bank deposits
are deposited in the high-quality financial institutions.

Impairment of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank deposits are also subject to impairment
requirement of HKFRS 9. Management are of the view
that the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed in
those banks which are independently rated with a high
credit rating. Management does not expect any material
losses from non-performance by these banks as they
have no default history in the past.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Risk management

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loans
receivables. The Group has considered the probability
of default upon initial recognition of assets and whether
there has been significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each year. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
considered the actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the third
party’s ability to meet its obligations.
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3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost

Management applies the HKFRS 9 general approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage expected credit loss model to recognise the loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost.

To measure the expected credit losses, management has
considered quantitatively and qualitatively whether there
has been an actual or expected significant increase in
credit risk (i.e. Stage 2 or 3) to the balance since its initial
recognition. Management would base on the credit risk
assessment of the counterparty and adopt the loss rate
with reference from the external credit rating agent. The
loss rate was adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the counterparties to settle the receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the provision of
loss allowance of approximately HK$1,099,000 was
recognised and debited to the profit and loss (2022:
reversal of loss allowance of approximately HK$146,000).
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3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost

(Continued)

The closing loss allowance for loans receivables as at
31 March 2023 and 2022 reconcile to the opening loss

allowance as follows:

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI MR
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HK$’000
FHET

Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2021

RZE-Z—FMHA—HK

(i)

FUEERE 2,409
Reversal of loss allowance for impairment of F AR 18 55 R A EESH R AR
other financial assets at amortised costs PRz Bt & & EREEE
recognised in profit and loss during the year B (146)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 RZEZZ_F=A=+—HH
and opening loss allowance FREEBBERNR T
as at 1 April 2022 WMA—HBWMEYHERE 2,263
Loss allowance for impairment of other financial 4 R % 72 18 %5 #E 72 /9 i 85 AL A
assets at amortised costs recognised in profit 7R H b & @& EREE R
and loss during the year B 1,099
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—HH
FREBEE 3,362
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (i) BBEERENABEIERZ
BEE
Risk management R E
The Group has investments in listed securities. For listed AEEHRELTRHFERE 3t
equity securities, the Group monitors the credit risks L MIRAZBLEME A5EEB
of its investments through evaluation of credit ratings. B EESERREETERE

Management did not consider there was material
exposure to credit risks as the investments in listed
equity securities were graded as low risk with reference

to at least one major rating agency.
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3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
all trade receivables. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience indicates different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance is calculated
based on days past due from various customer
segments which are grouped with similar patterns.

To measure expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the days past due and
shared credit risk characteristics.

The expected credit losses on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, internal categorisations
and/or the debtors’ credit history with the Group and
ageing profile as at the end of reporting period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables. The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product and the Consumer Price Index of the
countries in which it sells its goods and services to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected changes in these
factors.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the loss allowance
for trade receivables was determined as follows,
the expected credit losses below also incorporated
forward-looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OIS HRERMITE
3 Financial risk management coninued 3 HMERKBRERE»
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 B¥REKBEE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERME &)
(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) (v) B ZENE &)

Trade receivables
ESERE
Overdue  Overdue  Overdue
within 31-60 61-90  Overdue

30 days days days 90 days
ok B b k-
0XA  HE60KX  61Z90K 90X
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000
TR THERL TR TR

As at 31 March 2023 R=ZB==%f
ZA=t-H

Paper printing products KEORER

Weighted average expected loss  JIE TR EEEER

rate 0.5% 2.8% 6.0% 21.9% 59.6% 1.7%
Gross carrying amount REAE 1,768 % 24 2 255 2,147
Loss allowance BERE 9 3 1 1 152 166

Trade receivables
ESERE
Overdue  Overdue  Overdue

Not yet within 31-60 61-90  Overdue

due 30 days days days 90 days Total
KRG KA 31E60K  61Z90K 90X @
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$
TAz TAR TAR TER TERT BT
As at 31 March 2023 R-BZ=%
ZA=t-H

Banner printing products BEARER
Weighted average expected loss  JIE TR HEE R

rate 1.0% 3.0% 9.2% 23.5% 69.4% 29.0%
Gross carrying amount FHEE 1,246 501 331 10 1,355 3,443
Loss allowance BEAE 12 15 30 2 941 1,000
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BTSRRI

3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continuead)

(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued)

Not yet

due

8
HK$'000
T

3 HMERBEE»
3.1 B¥EKREZE
(b) EER &)

() EZEKIE &)

Trade receivables
2 S RIIE

Overdue Overdue Overdue
within 31-60 61-90 Overdue
30 days days days 90 days
0KA  31FE60K 61-90K 0K
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TET THL

As at 31 March 2022 R-B-Z%
=R=t-H
Paper printing products KEORER
Weighted average expected loss I FHEHEHER
rate
Gross carrying amount REAE
Loss allowance BERE

2.8% 7.0% 26.9% 63.4% 12.9%
883 229 52 276 1,788
25 16 14 175 230

Not yet

due

K
HK$'000
AT

Trade receivables
B HEMGR

Overdue Overdue Overdue
within 31-60 61-90 Overdue
30 days days days 90 days
0KRA  31E60K 61-90K 0K
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TET THL

As at 31 March 2022 R-B-ZH

Banner printing products BEARER
Weighted average expected loss 1T EHEHEXR

rate
Gross carrying amount REAE
Loss allowance BERE

3.0%
784
24

5.0% 13.2% 23.5% 72.5% 26.7%
1,004 388 401 1,072 3,739
54 51 9% 77 1,000
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AU SRR MR
3 Financial risk management continueq 3 HMERKBRERE»
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 B¥REKBEE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERE %)
(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) ) EBZBENIE (&)
The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March R-ZE—= ¢ rZEZZF=
2023 and 2022 reconcile to the opening loss allowances A=+—H BS5EKRES
as follows: T’éﬁé‘ﬁgﬁﬁ%ﬂ EERENYER
T
HK$’'000
FHETT
Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FMA—BH
FEREE 1,003
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of & XU B2 7l 2 B 2 B U
trade receivables through step acquisition of HEREBEREZER
subsidiaries 64
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of F AR IBHER 2 B 5 U KE
trade receivables recognised in profit and loss B &5 BB & 2 R
during the year 163
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 RZFEZZF=A=+—HH
and opening loss allowance as at 1 April FREBERBBERN =T
2022 MA—BHFIEERE 1,230
Reversal of loss allowance for impairment of HE—EHRBARZE S EKGKIA
trade receivables through disposal of a VERIEN SRk LA El
subsidiary (64)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2023 RZE-_=%F=A=+—8f
FREBEE 1,166
The creation and release of provision for impaired JiE W 5 IEAIE%?‘%E’]i* % K
receivables have been included in ‘provision for BREFABEZEANTeREE

impairment losses on financial assets’ in the profit and
loss. Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off, when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.
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BTSRRI

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

v)

Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from
related companies (non-trade) (“Other Receivables’)

Risk management

The Group has considered the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each year. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group considered
the actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the third
party’s ability to meet its obligations.

Impairment of Other Receivables

Other Receivables are subject to impairment requirement
of HKFRS 9. The credit quality of the Other Receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. Management
would base on the credit risk assessment of the
counterparty and adopt the loss rate with reference
from the external credit rating agent. The loss rate
was adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the recognition
of loss allowance of approximately HK$460,000 was
recognised and debited to the profit and loss (2022:
HK$168,000).
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(b)

MR ERE

R E R EE #)

EERE @)

() T BAMELKTERENEE

REIFHIE (FES) ([RER
HIE])

AEECEFEFEELEER
NTHRBREERNEORER
EERRESDKNEE M- S
EEERRESFEABIEN
AEEEZERRYSERE=7
BTEEBHNENZRLERESR
LM EB R BEEERRANE
Rk FEHHNERTNES -

H b UK IR & <7 BB M 15
SERAEIFRHBERTE - Hfth
YRR ZEEEEEKRE2E
BFTELENETERRAEY
BARARETHAE - BEEERR
BEHFINEERRIMBLS
ZHNERE AT R B R RE AR
RABBRX-BEHEBERXTIK
HABARREBAEEUFT LG
BIERWRIARE N 2 RERER
EMER RATEEER -

Bz E-_=%=H=4+—
HIEFE BREBEEBRELD
460,000 T X MIEE T KB
(ZZE -9 :168,000/87T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

v)

Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from
related companies (non-trade) (“Other Receivables’)
(Continued)

Impairment of Other Receivables (Continued)
The closing loss allowance for Other Receivables as at

31 March 2023 and 2022 reconcile to the opening loss
allowance as follows:

BTSRRI

3 BXRARERE»
31 BREKBREE #

(b) EERB#)

v)

BE B E R EK FE
REIHIE (FES) ([RER
HE]) (&)

B JEW IR R B (%)

N_ZEBE_=FRK T -__F=
A=+—H HMERKRKIEHD
FREERERFUEBEBERE
HERWMT

HK$'000
THETT

Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—HHFT
BIERE -
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of  #52 4F R 7 18 25 7 72 1) H g Uk
Other Receivables recognised in profit and FIBREBEEE
loss during the year 168
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 RZE-Z—F#=A=+—8f1
and opening loss allowance as at 1 April FREBBEEINR =T
2022 mMA—BOFIEREE 168
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment of ##32 4F A 72 18 7 FE 72 /) H 4th FE UK
Other Receivables recognised in profit and FIRRBEBERE
loss during the year 460
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—HHERXR
EiEEE 628
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3.1

(c)

180

Financial risk management (continueq)

Financial risk factors (continuea)
Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet
obligations when due and to close out market positions. As at
31 March 2023, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$125,024,000 (2022: HK$113,911,000) that
are expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing
liquidity risk.

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash flows of cash and
cash equivalents generated from the financing activities and
the operating activities, respectively to meet its operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn
committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group
does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where
applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. This is generally
carried out at local level in the operating companies of the
Group, in accordance with practice and limits set by the
Group. These limits vary by location considering the liquidity of
the market in which the entity operates.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the directors do not consider
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretion
to demand immediate repayment after taking into account
the Group’s financial position. The directors believe that such
borrowings and lease liabilities will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.
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(c)
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MR EZE 2
RBEEREK
EEMNADEcRAREEEERERE
MBS UNBERBREANE RFEEE

BMERBEUHREESUNBITISHE
FREEMSRHE- R_T=F
ZAZ+t—"H AEEHEERER
W& E@EEE #125,024,0008 T
(ZZT = =%:113,911,000/% 7T)
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3.1

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)
Financial risk factors (continuea)

Liquidity risk (Continuea)

Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the year-end date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interests payments
computed using contractual rates). Where the loan agreement
contains a repayable on demand clause which gives the
lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the
amounts of repayable are classified in the earliest time bracket
in which the lender could demand repayment and no interest
payments were included. The maturity analysis for financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment
dates.

3.1

(c)

BTSRRI

MEEREEE
MEEEEE 2
REBESREE #)
E@ R BRI

TEROMAEERBEFREHMES
EREEMBENKRTHRE D RIEEHA
MER M ERABE - TRAWE
TER/RAMBAANRESRE (B
BEOFERFEOFENR) - WE
ek N B A < B A A BE B R
HERERZ G HEFERMD
BRERARFEAEREEZRHY
YTEATEEMNENR - EHEBEN
AMBESMIREBEBAETER AR
o

Between Between
(o])] Within 1 and 2 and
demand 1 year 2 years 5 years Total
REX —-FR —-EWME MELE @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TET TER TER TET
As at 31 March 2023 i ——
=HA=+—H
Borrowings S 22,682 - = - 22,682
Lease liabilities and interest HEERBRHMERE
expenses - 19,209 15,685 14,266 49,160
Trade payables BHREMNIIE - 12,211 - - 12,211
Other payables' H it eI 50R = 946 = = 946
Amounts due to directors EREEHE = 132 = - 132
As at 31 March 2022 M_ZT__%
= el =
Borrowings fEE 26,216 = = = 26,216
Lease liabilities and interest HERERFSHAZ
eXpenses 173 6,300 3,292 470 10,235
Trade payables B o RN A - 11,951 = = 11,951
Other payables' Hfth e 5008 - 5529 = _ 5,500
Amounts due to related parties e E A IR = 200 = = 200
Amounts due to directors ERNESHIE = 195 F = 195

1 The balance excludes contract liabilities, deferred income and accrued
expenses.

J EHRTIBEANEE BEBARER
E2/-
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BTSRRI

3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBERBREREw

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BIREKBREE #

(c) Liquidity risk (continuea) (c) REBEEZSRMR )
Maturities of financial liabilities (Continued) THEESE (&)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into TEAIMAEENEHREE IR
relevant maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment BERBEMSETECEREBFAE -
dates set out in the loan agreements and the effect of any TESFATANZEREEKROT
repayment on demand clause is ignored. EHHERMEBEINEE-

Between Between
Within 1 and 2 and Over
1 year PATCE [ 5 years 5 years Total

—&£R —EWFE WEEF  EFHUL st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR FER TR FER

As at 31 March 2023 RZT_=%F
=R=+—H
Borrowings and interest expenses {8 & & FI 85 & 3,515 2,027 5,559 14,716 25,817
Lease liabilities and interest HEEBRFEMY
EXPenses 19,209 15,685 14,266 - 49,160
Trade payables B SR A 12,211 - - S 12,211
Other payables' H fth e 5108 946 - - - 946
Amounts due to directors EREEHIE 132 - - = 132
As at 31 March 2022 R-E=-=
=R=+-H
Borrowings and interest expenses & & Kk Fl 8% 5,405 2,285 5,559 15,779 29,028
Lease liabilities and interest HEERBRMEMT
expenses 6,355 3,425 470 - 10,250
Trade payables BHREMNIE 11,951 - - - 11,951
Other payables’ H fth e 5108 5,529 - - - 5,529
Amounts due to related parties FERBERTIE 200 - - - 200
Amounts due to directors ENEEHE 195 = = = 195
1 The balance excludes contract liabilities, deferred income and accrued z EHTRIEANERE BERARES
expenses. EHH-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to finance
its operations with its owned capital and to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
enhance shareholders’ value in the long term.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders and
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated as
borrowings and lease liabilities and total equity is calculated as
“equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 were as
follows:

3.2

BRI MR

BMERERERE o
EXREKRER

AEENERAEREAR BUAHB
ﬁﬁﬁ%%@hf é”i*?iﬁjﬂ%ﬁﬁ
RATIREBEBELE BIRRIEMH
i&&%ﬁmﬁfﬁ%&)ﬁumu&%ﬁ
EXBEARGER EMERBETK
REE-

REFIABEANGRE A&EA
HABRNTRRZEESBNMEER
BREN HTHBIBEEEN
DB o

AEBRITEEN REBEEERE
O REEER -ZRTIIREBE

B ARG ABEAE - ERERD
REEEMNHEAGHE MR
RERAFMBARRNKIER [H]

(=
al = °

RZEBE_=ZFR_FE__F=ZA
Zt+—HWEEABLX2HNNOT:

2023 2022
—E-= =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Borrowings (Note 29) BE (H5E29) 22,682 26,216
Lease liabilities (Note 14) MEAE (ME14) 46,399 9,714
Total debt B 4RRE 69,081 35,930
Total equity SR 251,790 250,268
Gearing ratio BEEARLX 27% 14%

As at 31 March 2023, the gearing ratio has increased from
14% to 27% as a result of addition in lease liabilities due to
renewal of rental agreements.

RZEBE-_=F=A=Z=+—H BR
BExHEhaeanHEaEEm:
BREBELEEHI4% EHAE27% °
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3.3

184

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, including cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, other financial assets at amortised costs, amounts due
from related companies, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, amounts due to directors, amounts due to related
parties, lease liabilities and borrowings approximate their fair
values due to their short maturities and/or bear interest rate at
market. The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments
for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than
one year are assumed to approximate their fair values.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instrument
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 by level of
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).
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3.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation (continueq)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

3.3

BRI MR
MEERERE»
AREEMEF 2

Ti‘%%’iﬂ$%b”\:$:£¢&:

HEMSMEARE-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E— E-5 E=]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TET TET
31 March 2023 “E--F=ZA=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value BRBREAAEBER
through profit or loss LEMEE 16,653 - - 16,653
31 March 2022 ZTZZ¥=ZR=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value FRBFERALBENR
through profit or loss LEMEE 18,106 = = 18,106
There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the FRNF— k= zHTEE
years. % o
Financial instrument in level 1 F-HE@MIA

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity
securities and debentures classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

REBMEEENERTIARAE
ENREREARDISREETE -
HBEAEREREHARS A &
HE KLeASEQR EERSK
SEEHRBES ARFERERTR
BRAFPEEETHNERMEEET
BRSAZMSRRERTE -5
AEBEFRRATCREEMANTS
i&%ﬁ%ﬁﬂf‘%fg‘ﬁi%lﬂﬁ)\%
CFAE—RNIAFZARE
”*Eﬁ'ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ DR EEERZ
TREENLELTRAZEZRRES -
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(a)

(b)

186

B PR RSRaR T
4 Critical accounting estimates and

judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life have suffered any impairment,
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.11.
The recoverable amounts of groups of CGUs have been
determined based on the higher of the fair value less cost of
disposal and value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of judgement and estimates. Changing the
assumptions selected by the directors in assessing impairment
could affect the recoverable amount determined by the
directors and as a result affect the result of the impairment
reviews. Further details are set out in Note 15.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed
in Note 3.1(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company. The chief operating
decision-maker has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Directors of
the Company, that are used to make strategic decisions and
assess performance.

The chief operating decision-maker has determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is
organised into three business segments:

(@ paper printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-print”);

(b)  banner printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-banner”); and

(c) property agency services segment.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker.

Management assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of gross profit less selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses that
are allocated to each segment. Other information provided is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

B O ERR I T

7 B E R

RRABZHATESTERREELE
REE - TBRERRECRER
NEIMITEFFR L ARIEREIR
ENMFERANBEEETLEN -

[z

TEEERRECRERSREE
TE B A 5 B o A SR I B B 18 = MR 3
B

[oH]

@ HEIDR> B (EZRR
le-print ] &) :

b) BEOR S>3 (XERR
[e-banner | @) + &

) MERERBHE-

REDBAMEBEREREERH
NEE2HE-BHTZAZR -
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BTSRRI

Segment information (continueq)
Sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length basis.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group ceased the
business of property agency services and re-presented the
relevant business as discontinued operation.

The subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) provides L.T. support services within the Group.
The subsidiary incorporated in Malaysia generated immaterial
external revenue during the year. Since the Group mainly
operates in Hong Kong and the Group’s assets are mainly
located in Hong Kong, no geographical segment information
is presented.

Information relating to segment liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not regularly reported to the chief
operating decision-maker.

Revenue for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022
consist of the revenue from paper printing, banner printing and
property agency services. The Group derives revenue from
the sale of goods at a point in time and revenue from property
agency services when the services are rendered at a point in
time.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no external
customers contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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(a)

Segment information continueq

Segment revenue and results

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The following tables present revenue and segment results
regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the years

ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2023:

(a)

BTSRRI

DEEFR #)
DEMEREE

P
]

TR ANEB RS H 2
ECE_=ZFR-BE-__F=
Zt+—HIEFEZWER > BEE

Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
B&LE
BESSEY BEEK
Property
Paper Banner agency
printing printing  Eliminations Sub-total services Total
LS
FEAR BEOR i M RERE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx THx THx Tix Tix Tix
Segment revenue Al
Revenue from external customers R SMBEF M 227,582 89,826 - 317,408 9,604 327,012
Inter-segment revenue Gl 625 110 (735) - - -
Total @it 228,207 89,936 (735) 317,408 9,604 327,012
Segment results R EL (2,612) 11,887 9,275 (1,217) 8,058
Unallocated: KAk
Share based payment expenses RERTAES (17,081)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZER (1,807)
Finance income BERA 3,924
Finance costs BERKA (1,490)
Share of losses of associates EEBREARBE (41)
Share of losses of joint ventures EHAELEEBE (138)
Loss before income tax BEERAER (8,545)
Income tax expense FERRAY (1,713)
Loss for the year ENER (10,258)
Other information: EEs:
Provision of impairment losseson 2RI AEHIERE
financial assets BB (1,559) - - (1,559) - (1,559)
Amortisation of intangible assets BREERH - - - - (280) (280)
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - BE R EITE
equipment (8,973) (1,343) - (10316) (133)  (10,449)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ #FEBERE (12,242) (7,383) 834 (18,791) (539) (19,330)
Capital expenditures BREY (5,665) (2,011) - (7,676) - (7,676)
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BTSRRI

DEEF =)
(a) PHWNBREE )

5 Segment information (continue) 5

(@) Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022:

BE_Z-_—_F#=A=+—8B1I#F

=
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BREREER MEEK
Property
Paper Banner agency
printing printing  Eliminations Sub-total services Total
ES
FRENR BEER i Nt RERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T THL
Segment revenue AEE
Revenue from external customers  RESNIRF K& 229,518 70,793 - 300,311 5,709 306,020
Inter-segment revenue EREkE 617 108 (725) = = =
Total szt 230,135 70901 (125 300311 5709 306,020
Segment results EEL 245 4,668 4913 (2,731) 2,182
Unallocated: RAE:
Gain on step acquisition of B ERE L AN
subsidiaries e 3,000
Finance income BEWA 3,180
Finance costs BERKA (1,080)
Share of losses of associates [EEEE R RER (660)
Share of losses of joint ventures ElEaEtEBE (708)
Profit before income tax bR FTERADE R 5914
Income tax expense FEREY (2,178)
Profit for the year ERET 3,736
Other information: KR
Amortisation of intangible assets BREERY = = = = (93) (93)
Provision for impairment losses CHEERERERRE
on financial assets 22) (163) - (185) - (185)
Depreciation of property, plantand ~~ #1% - BERFETE
equipment 0,771) (1,123) - (10894 B0 (10944)
Impairment loss on goodwil BERBEFR - - - - (3,086) (3,086)
Impairment losses on plant, property B~ 1% KR ERE
and equipment B (3,398) - - (3,398) = (3,398)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ FIEEENE (12,628) (5,434) = (18,062) (108) (18,170)
Capital expenditures ERRY (1,032) (10,747) - (11,779) (103) (11,882)
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B ISR
5 Segment information continues) 5 7EFER
(b) Segment assets (b) ?HEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
&I
FESEER mExR
Property
Paper Banner agency
printing printing services Total
MERE
R EEER R % @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHT FET FET
As at 31 March 2023 R-E-_=Z#=fA=+-H 182,797 52,753 - 235,550
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-_—#=ZfA=+-H 148,406 46,145 13,382 207,933
A reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is provided NEEERBREEHKRMOT
as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-__fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Segment assets DEEE 235,550 207,933
Investments in associates REEE R RIRIRE 1,380 1,421
Investments in joint ventures REEPENKRE 10,654 12,303
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFMEIEAEE 125,024 113,911
372,608 335,568
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SIS RERMTEE
6 Other income 6 HgA
2023
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAETT
Continuing operations BFEREER
Scrap sales BRI E 2,694 1,560
Government grant (Note) BB (MIEE) 424 356
Software licensing income AT A 297 297
Others Htb 984 1,121
4,399 3,334

Note: There are no unfulfiled condition or other contingencies attaching
to these grants. These amounts mainly represent the employment
subsidies from the PRC government and branding promoting and
upgrading subsidies received from Hong Kong government.

7 Other losses - net 7

BISE - RSB R ER A E A
FABR - ZEEEIBETERBREN
REHURBBRFNRIEEREIR
fBah

HibEiE — F

2023
e =

—_——

HK$’000
FET

Continuing operations BEREER
Losses on disposals of property, plant ~ HEW¥ W= MR EEE

and equipment (219) (62)
Exchange (losses)/gains — net BN (&B8) Wwm— %58 (839) 75
Fair value losses on financial assets at ~ #EBIEFIZ AL BEIEZ

fair value through profit or loss ERMEEMNAREEERE (1,574) (4,094)
Others HAp 315 156

2,317) (3,925)
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B ISR
Expenses by nature 8 EBEMEIEMMEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, seling and distribution AEERAE HERDHRAXZ N
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as FITERATHRAI MO T:
follows:
2023 2022
—E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHExT FHET
Continuing operations HEREER
Cost of materials IR IO 71,797 62,168
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R B
— Audit services — E|FHR 3,026 1,080
— Non-audit services — B RS 191 180
Bank charges RITFEE 4,903 4,730
Employee benefits expenses (Note 9) & E4& %5 % (Fi#£9) 113,794 82,970
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- BEREETE
equipment 10,316 10,894
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 18,791 18,062
Impairment losses on property, Y- BE k& EREEE
plant and equipment (Note 13) (B93E13) - 3,398
Outsourced customer support expenses FMHIE P X 18552 16,407 17,883
Subcontracting fee nEEA 41,230 57,376
Operating lease for short-term and RHREEEHEZKERE
low value lease 3,714 4,255
Repairs and maintenance HIERRE 4,465 3,729
Distribution costs 2 8B 15,525 12,980
Utility expenses NARBKZ T 4,445 3,608
Others HAip 17,103 11,309
Total cost of sales, selling and HERA HERDHAX
distribution expenses and ARITH A 458
administrative expenses 325,707 294,622
Others mainly represent advertising and promotion expenses HFrEZEESERMREHEMAXREM
and telecommunication expenses. fsZ o
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BTSRRI

9 Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s

EREEEHMH)

9 EERAMX (BRESR

emoluments)
2023 2022
—EBC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Continuing operations BERSEER
Salaries and allowances (Note a) e KRR (MiiEa) 77,564 76,247
Bonuses and commissions A KA 9,547 1,976
Pension costs — defined contribution RRESKA— RERRGTE
plans (Note b) (MF3Eb) 4,612 3,871
Share based payment expenses AR R (FF7E35)
(Note 35) 17,051 -
Welfare and other benefits &8 ) B E A Fl| 25 5,020 876
113,794 82,970
Notes: B &
(@)  Salaries and allowances (@ HekER
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has received benefit HE-_Z-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE"
of approximately HK$5,179,000 from Hong Kong governments under IR E B U B F A BUT RCOVID-1948 B8 5k
COVID-19 related employment support schemes (2022: HK$NIil). ¥ B)ETEI3E T 8948 M £95,179,0007 7T
(ZZ_—F:THBx)°
()  Pension costs — defined contribution plans (o) BRARSKA— REHKGE

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
each of the Group’s subsidiaries (the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 (2022: Same) per
month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The Group is also required to contribute to an Employees Provident
Fund Scheme in Malaysia. Each of the employer and employee make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 13% and 14% of the
employees’ salaries respectively. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes
to state-administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The
employees contribute up to 8% (2022: Same) of their basic salaries,
while the Group contributes approximately 14% to 16% (2022: 13%
to 14%) of such salaries. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continuea)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the amount of the Group’s
employer contributions to defined contribution plans was approximately
HK$4,612,000 (2022: HK$3,871,000). There were forfeited contributions
to the MPF Scheme of approximately HK$399,000 (2022: HK$Nil)
which has been utilised for the year ended 31 March 2023. As at 31
March 2023, contribution payable to the MPF Scheme amounted to
approximately HK$563,000 (2022: HK$468,000).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include one director (2022: two directors), whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 39. The emoluments payable
to the remaining four (2022: three) individuals are as follows:

9

BTSRRI

EEEANHZ (BEEER
SREEREEHHM) o

isE: (&)

(0)

RS A— REHRKEE (&)

BE-_ZT-_ZF=-ZF=Z+—BLFE
AEBREEIMATHRTEERD
4,612,000/ 7T (=& = — 4 : 3,871,000
BT BE_E-_=4=B=+—H1
F [Z 49399,000/5 7L B B A B 8 Ik a
SHEMER(ZE-—F :THT) - R
—E-ZFZA-+—H EERBES
51 214 K 49563,0008 T (Z T = —F:
468,000/ 7T) °

hREsHAL

FR AEENRERSFALTEE—
HEE(ZTE-F WMBESF) ZE
EEMFHERKH AN DT R
Bo-ERBTHBEAL(ZEZZF: =
BB T

2023 2022

—EC-=F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHBT
Salaries and allowances o MoRRL 4,428 4,071
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAT 529 =
Share based payment expenses AR 1 3P 2 7,675 =
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  ER& Ak A8 — FE H3REHE 72 54
12,704 4,125

The emoluments of these individuals fell within the following bands:

ZEALTOHFMNFATHE:

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—E_=HF —EBE-F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000/ 7T - 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t 2,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0017% 7T 23,000,0007 7T 1 =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,0017% 7T 23,500,000/ T 3 =
4 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or other
members of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join,
upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

ARERERNENESFRIRESHA
THREMRR NS ERRSI A
REE EMBER BERAKEREK
TERBERIE -
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BTSRRI

10 Finance income - net

10 EWA - F8

2023 2022
2= S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHE T
Continuing operations HEREER
Finance income A& WA
— Interest income from loan receivables — — i I & R B UL A 2,263 2,816
— Interest income from bank deposits — SRITFRF B WA 1,653 145
— Unwinding of interests on refundable — AJ:REHSHESHFEEHE
rental deposits 8 219
. 3,924 . 3,180
Finance costs B & B AN
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEBGBENEMAX (775) (597)
— Interest expenses on borrowings —BEMBERX (705) (435)
e (1480) (1,032)
Finance income — net BEWA — FEE 2,444 2,148

11 Income tax expense

11 FIBHEX

—Eg-= —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHxT FETT
Continuing operations BEREER
Current income tax BHIFEH
- Hong Kong profits tax — BAENEH 856 2,555
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BREFERERR
(FREERE) 136 (166)
992 2,389
Deferred income tax expense/(credit) EEFESHAS (%)
(Note 30) (H$3E30) 721 211)
Income tax expense Fris®if X 1,713 2,178

FR R EB MR E QA
AREGHERBRENTEBY
2,000,000% 7T &) &F 9 #£8.25%#)
R R {51 8 SR T ) (E 7] 48 58 49
2,000,0007% 7T B9 #8 7 #216.5% 80 B
%éﬁiﬂﬂ%%ﬂ%ﬁ (ZZB-—F:48
IE‘I o

Subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to
Hong Kong profits tax at a rate of 8.25% on the estimated
assessable profit up to approximately HK$2,000,000 and
16.5% on any part of the estimated assessable profit over
approximately HK$2,000,000 for the year (2022: Same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Income tax expense (continueq)

Subsidiary incorporated in the PRC is a High and New
Technology Enterprise defined by Shenzhen Finance Bureau,
Administrator of Local Taxation of Shenzhen Municipality
and Shenzhen Municipal office of the State Administration of
Taxation, the PRC (the “Authority”) and therefore was entitled
to 15% preferential tax rate for PRC enterprise income tax
for three years starting from year ended 31 December 2020
according to the New PRC Enterprise Income Law. The PRC
enterprise income tax is calculated at 15% preferential tax
rate on the estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows:

11

BRI MR

EBEZ @

7 R B A AR 2 B B BB A R4S AR B
ZINTHBRD - BR Wmmﬁm
ﬁ K Fh Bl B R A 7 AR R ok ) T AR
% B H%%Dﬁm%%%&ﬁm
% E - BEFHFBRCERSH

CRLENAEE T __TFE+—
H +—BILFERA=ZFRET
15%M PR PEMEHREERHE-
FRECEMSHEZEBEZE_S=-_=F
T -_—_F=ZA=Z+—HLFE

%r] 28

2 Et B SRR - $215%18 MR =
5o

BEANE B A R FT 1S TR & R M B
ME T IR R A E B R R AEE A
%%E%AﬁE%MEﬂmm%ﬁ
HRERAENERESBENTR
EBEBERAOT:

2023 2022
—E_= - —
HK$'000

TR

HK$’000
TR

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations

BR PTG TP S AT S A AR 2 5 7%

before income tax expense (BB) = (5,511) 5,693
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REBRZHNER 2 & HHx
applicable to profits in the respective FFEZHIE
countries (878) 1,128
Tax effects of: NTEREBENHIEBETE
— Share of losses of associates — BB E A mESTE' 6 108
— Share of losses of joint ventures - JEﬁEA P EEE 23 116
— Income not subject to tax — BAHMT KA (1,182) (1,482)
— Expenses not deductible for — PRI X
tax purposes 3,699 2,144
- Tax losses and other temporary — WEBERIELERMS R IE
differences for which no deferred &5 Tﬁ&ﬁfﬁﬁﬁ R =%
income tax was recognised 39 360
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised — E/A@ A KRR IEERE
tax losses (130) (62)
— Under/(over)-provision in prior years ~ — BEFERBETRE,
(HBRERE) 136 (166)
- Others — HAh - 32
1,713 2,178
Note: Bt 5

The Group was subject to tax in different tax jurisdictions which are mainly
Hong Kong, the PRC and Malaysia with tax rate ranged from 15% to 24%.

REBERTRABERAZER (EEAES -+
BREREE) BB MENF15%F24% ©
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B TSR R MR

12 (Loss)/earnings per share

(a)

(b)

198

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

12 Bk (BR) B
(a) SREX (F#E) /B

BREAX (BR) /BNDREAR
AR ARG (B18) aE AR
NBE-_T-_=FR-_FT__F=
A=+t —BLFESHTEEBRM
BFYBETE -

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations

RREREFE ABERE

attributable to equity holders of KR (B8 &F

the Company (HK$’ 000) (F&7T) (11,675) 1,960
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operation <22 ﬂ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ)\%‘fﬁﬂ ®ak

attributable to equity holders of KR (BE) aF

the Company (HK$’000) (F%7T) (2,568) 137

(14,243) 2,097

Weighted average number of ordinary & 277 & @A jniE

shares in issue (thousands) (F5) 550,000 550,000
Basic (loss)/earnings per share ARAEREEAELER

attributable to the equity holders BEX(E8) BF

of the Company
From continuing operations (HK cents) #4227 (GB1L) (2.12) 0.36
From discontinued operation (HK cents) =4 1F&&L %7 (GB1L) (0.47) 0.02
Total (HK cents) st (B (2.59) 0.38

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the diluted (loss)/
earnings per share is the same as the basic (loss)/earnings
per share as the share options outstanding were anti-dilutive.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, diluted earnings per
share is the same as the basic earnings per share as there
were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding.
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BREE (BE) " BRNHBREARE
%ﬁ&% 3 AR /9 0 #E 39 BB
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E-SREE (H8) BN ETK
EAXR(EBE) /BFAER - TyBRE
RITFEEREEEREEZE -#
E_E-_—FZAZ+—HILFE"
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At 1 April 2021

13 Property, plant and equipment

RZBZ-%MA-A
A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BF
HK$'000
TR

BTSRRI

13 X -BERRE

Leasehold
Buildings improvements

BRNEEE
HK$'000
TER

Computer,
Plantand furniture and
machinery  equipment

HER#E RE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAn TER TR

Motor

vehicles Total

Cost 67,850 14,998 102,007 23,018 1,727 209,600
Accumulated depreciation ZiE 0,772 (14,279) (64,904) (17,294) (1,547) (107,790)
Accumulated impairment ZEAE - - (704) = = (704)
Net book amount REZE 58,078 725 36,399 5724 180 101,106
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-Z2-_"5-R=+-ALI%E

Opening net book amount FURETE 58,078 725 36,399 5724 180 101,106
Additions RE \ 9,351 348 1,343 840 - 11,882
Additions arisen from step acquisition B ANEZBELNRE

(Note 33) (Pit3E33) - 17 = 209 = 226
Disposals HE = @ (10) (1) S (63)
Impairment loss (Note 8) REBR (HHs) - - (3,398) - - (3,398)
Depreciation g (2,365) (435) (6,088) (1,876) (180) (10.944)
Currency translation differences EREE - 4 - 2 - 6
Closing net book amount FREHEFE 65,064 657 28,246 4,848 = 08,815
At 31 March 2022 R-F--%#=A=1-H
Cost ZF 77,201 15,333 109,511 23,349 1,727 227,121
Accumulated depreciation BiTE (12,137) (14,676) (77,168) (18,501) (1,727) (124,200)
Accumulated impairment ZEAE - - (4,097) = = 4,097)
Net book amount REZE 65,064 657 28,246 4,848 - 98,815
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-T-_=F=-A=1+-AIt%FE
Opening net book amount FOEEEE 65,064 657 28,246 4,848 = 08,815
Additions "E = 1,251 4,694 1,220 511 7,676
Disposals HE - - (501) (14) = (515)
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-BHBAR (MzH4)

(Note 34) - - - (135) - (135)
Depreciation 3 (2,576) 076) (5,757) (1,797) @3) (10,449)
Currency translation differences EREE - ®) ) (13) - (20)
Closing net book amount FREETE 62,488 1,626 26,681 4,109 468 95,372
At 31 March 2023 R-BZ=F=A=1-A
Cost A 77,201 16,462 97,175 23,528 2,238 216,604
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (14,713 (14,836) 69,277) (19,419) (770 (120,015)
Accumulated impairment ZiHE - - (1.217) - - (1,217)
Net book amount FEFE 62,488 1,626 26,681 4,109 468 95,372
Note: F &L -

As at 31 March 2023, buildings with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$62,488,000 (2022: HK$65,064,000) were pledged to banks to secure
bank borrowings of approximately HK$20,946,000 (2022: HK$23,701,000)

(Note 29).

R_ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HB EEEAYD
62,488,000 7t ( =& = — % : 65,064,000/8
TL)MBEFEEBEFRIT UERSEAYD
20,946,000/ 7T ( =& = =4 : 23,701,000/ )
RIERITIEE (FizE29) -
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B TSR R MR

13 Property, plant and equipment continueq)

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment has
been charged to the profit and loss as follows:

13 ME - -BERRE =

LI Jf%i%& S ZITE
ERESP G BEBERAOT :

2023 2022

—s—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT T
Cost of sales $HE R A 6,482 6,544
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HEAX 2,734 2,747
Administrative expenses THRX 1,233 1,653
10,449 10,944

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the outbreak of
the COVID-19 Epidemic has recurred in cities, including
Dongguan in the China, which created uncertainty in the
business environment in China. In light of that, management
has decided to cease subcontracting arrangement with the
subcontractor in which, certain machinery and equipment
with a carrying amount of approximately HK$7,000,000
were identified as idle. For these machinery and equipment,
management estimated the recoverable amount of
approximately HK$3,602,000 based on their fair value less
costs of disposal by making reference to quotations obtained
from third-party buyers in the second-hand equipment
and machinery trading market. Accordingly, for the year
ended 31 March 2022, impairment losses of property, plant
and equipment of HK$3,398,000, were recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The Group has lease contracts for machinery, equipment
and stores. The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 and
the movement during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 are as follows:
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BHE-_Z-_—_F=A=+—HULFE"
COVID-19%& & 1A /R Bl B 55 & % il ),
THXAXBRE FENEEREEBRT
MEME - BRZBER BEEEBERT
RIFRZOBENS B HE Ef
BR 18 49 A&7,000,00078 7T H) & T #
BERRBEHRETAHE - BRI S’

BE BEREERBEEAAEBERM
HERAN WEREE - FRHERK
BRXGMBRAEZHBERISHRE
% - (HErE AT B 4 B8 %) 43,602,000
Br-Al REE-_ZT_—_F=A
=+ BLEFE XEBREHEE
WRRERVE BEEREERES
183,398,000 7T °

14 FRAREERHEESRE

AEBERI M REBLEEN
HEAN - AEEEREEENLH
Eﬁﬁﬁ_q:_iﬁ_?__
ZA=Z+t-BENEREERREE
P R-F--—F=A=tf-—
BIEFENZEHMT:



14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

14 FAEEEREESE »

(Continued)
Movement during the years ended 31 March 2023 (a) REBEZE-—ZE-_=FRKR=-Z2=-=
and 2022: E=A=+-ALEENEE:
Machinery and
Machinery motor vehicle
and under finance
equipment S Stores
: AEETH
BERZE BER/E #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx TEx THET
At 1 April 2021 A\_F_—-FWA—H
Cost ﬁm X 2,893 7,252 46,409 56,554
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (1,262) (4,592) (30,494) (36,348)
Net book amount REFE 1,631 2,660 15,915 20,206
Yearended 31 March2022  HE-_T_-—#F
SR=Y-BLEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 1,631 2,660 15,915 20,206
Additions 7@ - 187 9,472 9,659
Additions from step acquisition P&\ WEEBELNRE
(Note 33) (Bz£33) - - 215 215
Depreciation (631) (251) (17,288 (18,170)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 1,000 2,596 8,314 11,910
At 31 March 2022 R-Z-_f=A=+—-H
Cost A 2,893 7,439 56,096 66,428
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (1,893) (4,843) (47,782) (54,518)
Net book amount REFE 1,000 2,596 8,314 11,910
Yearended 31 March 2023 HE-FT_-=%
ZA=+—HIFE
Opening net book amount i%)] REFE 1,000 2,596 8,314 11,910
Additions NE - - 56,560 56,560
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHB AR
(Note 34) GED) - - (604) (604)
Depreciation . (632) (282) (18,416) (19,330)
Lease modification BEE - - (300) (300)
Exchange difference EHEZRE - - 28) (28)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 368 2,314 45,526 48,208
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=f=fA=+-H
Cost AR 2,893 7,439 71,380 81,712
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (2,525) (5,125) (25,854) (33,504)
Net book amount FHFE 368 2,314 45,526 48,208
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BTSRRI

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 14 FAREERHAEER® »

(Continued)
(b) Balances recognised in the consolidated (b) REHMBERRKRER 2L
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the AHBBRAARBERATEHEES
following amounts relating to leases: MR SR :
2023 2022
—Eg-= —F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Machinery and equipment W3S K 3R 368 1,000
Machinery and motor vehicle under FEHEBR TS RE
finance lease 2,314 2,596
Stores B 45,526 8,314
48,208 11,910
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current portion RENER 17,680 6,221
Non-current portion EMBNEL S 28,719 3,493
46,399 9,714
Note: B 5L :
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the machinery and motor vehicle under RZEZ=FRZT_ZF=A=+—8"'@
finance lease were secured by personal guarantees provided by a related party EHEBETHHRERAEDNEASENRBEE
of the Group. For details, please refer to Note 37(c). FRENEARRERKT FEBZ2HMT
37(c) °
(c) Amounts recognised in the profit and loss (c) RERTPEANKIE
2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FHExT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEESENTE 19,330 18,170
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABMNERE 785 645
Operating lease rental for short-term EHREEEHREZ
and low value leases KEHERS 3,714 4,375
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14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(c)

(d)

(e)

(Continued)

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss
(Continueq)

The total cash outflow of leases for the year ended 31
March 2023 was approximately HK$23,446,000 (2022:
HK$25,278,000)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, depreciation of
approximately HK$11,189,000 (2022:HK$11,030,000) has
been charged in ‘cost of sales’, approximately HK$5,567,000
(2022: HK$5,513,000) in ‘seling and distribution expenses’
and approximately HK$2,574,000 (2022:HK$1,627,000) in
‘administrative expenses’ respectively.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various stores, machineries, and office
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 2 to 5 years but may have extension options as
described in (g) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Extension options

Extension options are included in a number of leases across
the Group. These terms are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of
extension options held are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor. Extension options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended.

B O ERR I T

14 FREEEREEREw

(c)

(d)

(e)

RESHEIZNWIRIE )

BHEe_T-_=F=A=+—H81
if%fﬂ%—iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁi@%
23,446,000 0 (=& = — 4

25,278,000/ 7T ) °

ﬁﬂ—f:_ﬁzﬂz+—5¢
FEELH1I1,189,0008 T (=
T~ — £ :11,030,000%& 7T )
#5,567, ooo,%%src(_ T = =
5,513,000/ 7T ) & #72,574,00078 7T
(ZZE=— % :1,627,00087T) 2 5l
RIEERAN] [HERD#HRAX]
MIITHAS] -

EI%%Z?HEJEEJJ&E)\?EE
I

AEEHEZHBEE SEEER
PWARBE-HEEHN —MRAB2ESF
B E EHIBR - R A T X (e)E Pt
T REIERE-

HEGRRDZENELEER 25
ERERARAGRRGEF - HEHZEL
EMEMNRZE EHEAFAN
HEEETHWERESAEKIN -
EEETARERIEENER-

EREERE
$Elylﬁﬁfﬁ HEETERERE-
BREEAOME e FHERTIB N

%%ibﬂ%@ﬁ’l‘ioﬁﬁ RS K]
MEREZRENAAKEITE
HELEAERTRE - EEAAHE
BECRHEHRE TREZE
TeearElEgA-
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15 Intangible assets

At 1 April 2021

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R-ZE-_—FWMA—H

BILEE

Brand name

fn B 78

HK$'000
TAET

Goodwill
[EES
HK$’000
THT

Total
wat
HK$’'000
FHET

Cost (DN - 725 725
Accumulated amortisation 2 &t £ - - -
Net book amount BRTFE = 725 725
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE — &~ —
—A=+—HLFE

Opening net book amount 4 ¥ BR & HE - 725 725
Additions from step B KBEETEELNRE

acquisition (Note 33) (FF7E33) 1,400 8,958 10,358
Impairment BB - (3,086) (3,086)
Amortisation 5y (93) - (93)
Closing net book amount % K ERE FE 1,307 6,597 7,904
At 31 March 2022 RZEBE-_—_F=HA=+—H
Cost DN 1,400 9,683 11,083
Accumulated amortisation 2 51 # £ (93) - (93)
Accumulated impairment  Z&HREE - (3,086) (3,086)
Net book amount BREFE 1,307 6,597 7,904
Year ended 31 March 2023 B E - T~ =4

ZA=+—HLFE

Opening net book amount 4 ¥ B8R E /& 1,307 6,597 7,904
Disposal (Note 34) HE (MI5E34) (1,027) (5,872) (6,899)
Amortisation By (280) - (280)
Closing net book amount % KEREFE - 725 725
At 31 March 2023 RZEBE-_=F=HA=+—H
Cost BN - 725 725
Accumulated amortisation 2 5t # £ - - -
Net book amount BREFE = 725 725
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15 Intangible assets (continveq)

Impairment test for goodwill

(i)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of e-banner

Management reviews the business performance of
the Group based on the products and services the
respective business provided. Goodwill is monitored
by management at the operating segment level. The
Group’s goodwill was arisen from the acquisition of
additional 11% equity interests in e-banner Limited on
1 April 2015 and it is allocated to the banner printing
operating segment.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The carrying
amount consisted of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculation. The calculation use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by
management covering a five-year period with the first
year growth rate of 3% (2022: first year growth rate of
10%), the second year growth rate of 5% (2022: 6%)
and forecasted average revenue growth rate for third
to fifth year at 5% (2022: 6%). Gross profit margin are
assumed to be 44% (2022: 40%-41%) for the forecast
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3%
(2022: 3%) and pre-tax discount rate of 13.6% (2022:
12%).

Management determined the revenue growth rate based
on past performance and expectations on market and
operational development. The discount rate applied by
the Group is rate that reflect current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risk specific to the
CGU.

B O ERR I T

WG o
SRR

(i)

Ui BEe-bannerEE N E

EEEENSERREBZER
MIRBEENAEEXREE -
EREEEEKE P HER 2T
B AEEHER-_ZE—A1F
/M A — H B Ee-banner Limited
BIMA1% 2 BRIEES I E 5 B
Eu§$£ﬂf‘”¥ﬁ&/\_¢

EREBTRIRESELEEN
FHEELES SN WE &% m
ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬂﬁ FREERRED
X HBELEE FTHAEEE
MEE-BeELEMAAK
B FREEAEETE-
ZAEEAEREEEHMEN
@%ﬁiﬁﬁmWﬂ%%&E
f%%mﬁﬁf(_g:: -
BFEHEREEI0%)  F_F5%
(_2::$4WJW%§$&
%E,E\U%ziikkﬁ¢5%(:"
ZZF 6% )MIEH R EER
ZEENTRARE S RS TE R -

RIE R EAE B & E N XK B44%
(ZEB - ZF:40%E41%) °

ZEFHBECENRESRER
A EERIR (2T ==
Es%)&ﬁ?%ﬁTMG%
(ZE=—F:12% ) HH

EEEERTSREEERZ
NEXENHEEE WSIER
K- AEEHEMR AR KRB
EERHEEAEZERN MGG
MR & EE B ERR -
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15 Intangible assets (continueq)

Impairment test for goodwill «continuea)

(i)

(ii)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of e-banner
(Continued)

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable
amount calculated based on the value-in-use
calculation exceeded carrying amount by approximately
HK$35,716,000 (the headroom) as at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$27,638,000). As a result, no impairment loss
was charged for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
Nil).

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of Sakura Japan

As disclosed in Note 33, the Group acquired additional
42% of interest in Sakura Japan Property (Hong
Kong) Limited (“Sakura Japan”), intangible assets of
HK$1,400,000 and goodwill of HK$8,958,000 were
arisen from business acquisition in the year ended 31
March 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, Management reviewed the
business performance of the Group based on the
property agency services business provided. Goodwiill
monitored by management at the operating segment
level. The Group’s goodwill was arisen from the
acquisition of additional 42% equity interests in Sakura
Japan on 23 November 2021 and it is allocated to the
property agency service segment.

Management reviews whether the carrying amount of
a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount which
results in impairment of goodwill. The carrying amount
consisted of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and goodwill. The recoverable amount of a CGU
is determined based on value-in-use calculation. The
calculation use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budget approved by management covering a
five-year period with the first year growth rate of 5%, the
second year growth rate of 5% and forecasted average
revenue growth rate for third to fifth year at 4.8%. Gross
profit margin are assumed to be 55%-56% for the
forecast period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3%
and pre-tax discount rate of 15.6%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 Intangible assets (continveq)

Impairment test for goodwill «continuea)

(i)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of Sakura Japan
(Continued)

Based on the result of work as mentioned above,
management reduced the carrying amount of property
agency segment CGU by an amount of HK$3,086,000
through recognition of an impairment loss against
goodwill for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such
impairment charge arose as a result of the less than
satisfactory past and expected performance of the
property agency business. No other class of assets other
than goodwill was impaired. Recoverable amounts of the
goodwill in property agency service business are same
as carrying amounts as at 31 March 2022.

If the forecasted revenue growth rate had been lowered
by one percentage point for the five-year projection
period, the recoverable amounts would be lowered by
6%, but would still exceed their carrying amounts.

If the forecasted gross profit margin had been lowered
50 basis points for the forecasted five-year projection
period, the recoverable amounts would be lowered by
6%, but would still exceed their carrying amounts.

If the forecasted revenue growth rate had been lowered
by one percentage point for the forecasted five-year
projection period, a further impairment in goodwill of
approximately HK$567,000 would have been resulted for
the property agency business.

If the forecasted gross profit margin had been lowered by
50 basis points for for the forecasted five-year projection
period, a further impairment in goodwill of approximately
HK$633,000 would have been resulted for the property
agency business.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
disposed all of equity interests in Sakura Japan to a third
party on 31 March 2023. Please refer to Note 34 for the
details of the disposal of Sakura Japan.

B O ERR I T

BRVEE «
%%Hﬁﬁll\u_ﬁ([m
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BIELRTEKRR REE
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EREEFERAEAEERERE
MRIMERESHRESESE
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BTSRRI

16 Subsidiaries 16 (B A A
The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 WR_ZE_=ZFR_ZF__F=AR
and 2022: =t+—B -MBARZENT:

Proportion of Proportion of ordinary Principal

Name of company

REER

Directly held:
EERE:

Promise Network
Holding Limited

REBF R R
BRAR

eprint Digital Holding
Limited

E-print Group Limited

eprint Holdings Limited

e-print Trading Limited

Indirectly held:
BEsE:

Promise Network
Printing Limited

R R B LR
BRAR

Invoice Limited

ERARIERAA
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Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

EMRIEAREERRRE

The British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"),
limited liability company

EERAES ([BRXES])
EREART

The BV, limited liability company
ERRAES BREALA

The BVI, limited liability company
RBRAHE BREMLA

The BV, limited liability company
ERRLEHS BREALA

The BVI, limited liability company
KBRAHE BREMLA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
B BEREALRR

Hong Kong, limited liability company
EE AREALA

Particulars of
issued share capital

ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

BRTRAFE

REERAEERLAI%)
2023 2022

—g-=

——

—E--F

2,887 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
USS$1 each
2887k B RAEEIFTH
Lak
1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
USS$1 each
REREBIZTHERR
50,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
US$1 each
50,000 &R EE1ETH
Lak
1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
USS$1 each
REREEIETHERBR
1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
US$1 each

RERAGIXTHEER

2,886 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
HK$1 each

2,886k BRREE 1A TTH)

1,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
HK$1 each

1,000% B RAEEIETA

Lak

shares held by

non-controlling interest (%)

FERRRER
EERLLAI%)
2023 2022

—E_= g3

activities and
place of operation
FTEERFHR
EESE

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
ERRAZR

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
ERREAR

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
ERRELR

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
ERREAR

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BRREAER

Provision of printing
services in
Hong Kong
EEBREARRS

Provision of printing
services in
Hong Kong
EEBREEIRIRS



Name of company

RAER

Kimley Technology
(HK) Limited

SRME (FH)
BR2A

Dajinlai Technology
(Shenzhen) Limited'?

Re R ORI
BRAR?

Lucky Gainer Limited
ERERAR

Design Easy Limited
Rit 5 (F8)
ARAA

eprint Investments
Limited

eprint Property
Investments Limited

e-banner Limited

Digital Printing Centre
Limited
HEDRIPLERAR

Ebanner Solution
Sdn. Bhd.

16 Subsidiaries continued)

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

EMRIEHRERERRR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

X AREAAT

The PRC, limited liability company

TE EREFAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B ARALAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B8 ERAEAF

The BV, limited liability company

RREZHE BRATAR

The BV, limited liability company

ABRRES EREMAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B ERALAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

X AREAAF

Malaysia, limited liability company

BREE BRRERT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

16 MfIB 2Rl ()

Proportion of
ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

Particulars of
issued share capital

BRITRARE

AEEEAEERLA(%)

2023
—re=

—_— ==

2022
—E-_F
2,775 ordinary shares of 100% 100%

HK$1 each
2,775 EREEIE T
LEk
1,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
RMB1 each
1,000,000 &R EE
ARBITHERER
2 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
HK$1 each

MRERAEETHEER

2,775 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
HK$1 each

2,7TsREREEIE T
Lk

1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
USS$1 each

REREEIZETHEER

1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
USS$1 each

REREBIZTHERBR

40,133,000 ordinary shares 51% 51%
of HK$1 each

40,133, 000 EREE

TRTHERR

10,000 ordinary shares of 51% 51%
HK$1 each

10,0005 & REE 15 TTH)
LAk

400,000 ordinary shares of 51% 51%
RM1 each

400,000 BREEILEH

LEk

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling interest (%)
FEREREE
BERL %)

2023
e ——

—_——=

2022

—EoCF

49% 49%
49% 49%
49% 49%

Principal
activities and
place of operation
TEXBEBR
EEWY

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BRRAER

Provision of I.T.
services in the PRC

EPERMBEFANE
R

Provision of
management
services in Hong
Kong

ERBRHEERRE

Provision of printing
services in Hong
Kong

EEBRMERIRS

Property investment
in Hong Kong
EENERE

Property investment
in Hong Kong
EENERE

Provision of digital
printing services in
Hong Kong

EEBREKTFER
TR

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BRREAER

Provision of printing
services in Malaysia

EEREDRAEDR
R

2022/23 ¥R eprint EEAR LT 209



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

16 B D7) (=)

Proportion of
ordinary shares held

16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by

Principal

Place of incorporation Particulars of activities and

Name of company

RAEW

E-BOSS CO. LIMITED
ZERERAA

eprint Japan Limited'
eprint Japanif 3 &4t

010 Limited

TTTH Limited

Sakura Japan Property
(Hong Kong) Limited®

B2ABE ()
ERARP

Sakura Global Property
Limited®
BIEREERRARS

and kind of legal entity

EMRIEHREEERRR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B ARALAA

Japan, limited liability company

A ARALAT

Hong Kong, limited liability company

R AREELT

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B ARELAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

5 AREALA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

L AREAAA

issued share capital

BRITRARE

1 ordinary share of
HK$1 each
RERAEIETHERR

100 ordinary shares of
JPY25,000 each

1008 & AR 625,0008
HERR

765 ordinary shares of
HK$1,000 each, 735
ordinary shares of
HK$534 each and 2,400
shares of HK80.01 each

765 B REE1,0005 7T
HLER - 75RER
BB THE AR R
2,400k B R EIE0.017%
THRI

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,000 BREE1ETH
LBk

5,510,000 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each and
1,990,000 ordinary shares
of HK ¢ 0.00015 each

5,510,000 GREE1E T
% 7% 121,990,0008%
FHREE0.00015% I

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,0005 & REE 15 TTH)
Lak

English translation is for identification purpose only

Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law

by the Group (%)

REBBALERL (%)

2023
-g-=

-

100%

100%

51%

51%

N/A
TER

N/A
FER

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited and Sakura Global Property
Limited were disposed on 31 March 2023 (Note 34).
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—E--F

non-controlling interest (%)
FEREREE
BRI 51(%)

2022 2023 022

—BC-= —E__F

—%—==

place of operation
TERBEDR
EEWY

100% - - Investment holding in
Hong Kong

100% - - Dormant

EEXTH

51% 49% 49%  Trading of optical
products

TEEMRS

51% 49% 49%  Dormant

TEXH

62% N/A 38%
TER

Provision of property
agency services

RENERERE

62% N/A 38%
TER

Provision of property
agency services

REDERERE

L RN EREMRER
g BEPBEEFMAINEBERE
g R-ZE-_ZFZA=+—BHEEZT

HE(BEB)ERARINMEZRIREES
RAaE (MIsEs4) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

16 I 2Rl ()
(a) EXFEEZERER

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2023 is RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H8" 3FE

HK$12,743,000 (2022: HK$8,470,000), in which the majority fi% #E 25 42 %8 £12,743,0008 T (=

of amount is attributed to e-banner Limited and its subsidiaries T — 4 :8,470,000870) * KE D

(“e-banner Group”). B P e-banner Limited & £t B A 7]
([e-banners@ ) -

16 Subsidiaries continued)

(@) Material non-controlling interests

() Summarised consolidated financial information on (i) BEEERFEREZNMEBATZ
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests SO BERBE

TXEINEAEEMESBEANNE
A IE A% # 2 Me-bannerEE 2 &
HEIEERBE - Fle-bannerE B AT
FENEBEAARMIKEANEEE-

Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial
information for the e-banner Group that have non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group. The amounts
disclosed for e-banner Group are before inter-company
eliminations.

BHUBENRILEE

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

e-banner Group
e-banner&k &

2023 2022
—E-= —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT T T
Current mE

Assets BE 29,264 15,193
Liabilities =R (23,427) (18,628)
Total current net assets/(liabilities) REBEE/(BE)FHELE 5,837 (3,435)

Non-current IET B
Assets BE 28,659 22,758
Liability BE (7,727) (2,153)
Total non-current net assets ERBEEFEART 20,932 20,605
Net assets BEFHE 26,769 17,170
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (continuea)

(i)

17

212

Summarised consolidated financial information on
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive

income

Revenue

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

Yz

B P 15 B¢ A )2t A1)
PRSI X

F R A

16 B D7) (=)
(a) EXRFERER #)

() BEEAFEZEREZNHNBATZ
EHMEERBE #)

B a Was K E

e-banner Group
e-banner& B

2023 2022
—_E_= -

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

89,936 70,901
11,306 4,464
(1,673) (680)
9,633 3,784

Investments in associates

17 REBZE QTN KRE

2023
—EZ=F =z

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

At beginning of year NG 1,421 681
Addition (Note (ii)) WE (M) - 1,400
Share of losses of associates JE{G B Z A BB (41) (660)

At end of year RER 1,380 1,421
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17 Investments in associates (coninueq

Details of the Group’s investments in associates are as
follows:

Name

AAER

Place of business/
Effective interest held
as at 31 March

country of
incorporation
£S5 74
AL S B R

of company

R=B=1-AHEERES
2023 202
—EC-=f T4

BTSRRI

17 REEE QN TMNERE o)
REERBEQNRNKEFBWOT :

Principal activities

TERBED

e-post Limited"’ Hong Kong - 40%  Provision of catering
&t services
REBHRS
Step Wise Limited' Hong Kong 15.3% 15.3%  Provision of premium
REBBAA % car wrap service

Notes:

U

(i

(i)

)

REELEERERE

The financial statements of these companies are not audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

There are no commitments and contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interest in the associates.

On 9 February 2022, the Group have made a capital injection of
HK$1,400,000 to Step Wise Limited (“Step Wise”), representing 15.3%
of the enlarged issued share capital.

On 7 November 2022, the Group have disposed of its 40% shares
of e-post Limited to one of the shareholders of e-post Limited at a
consideration of HK$1.

Although the Group owns not more than 20% interest in Step Wise, it
is able to exercise its voting rights by virtue of the fact that 1 out of 3
directors of Step Wise are elected by the Group and the Group is able
to influence the activities of Step Wise which significantly affect the
returns.

1

(i)

)

Measurement
method Carrying amount
TEAE HREE
2023
ZEC-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
AL TER
Equity - -
BmA
Equity 1,380 1,421
BmA

ZEREZ P RR I IR AE R KE
LIRS

YEARARBENE QA s rRE
MR AEE-

RZZEZZF_ANE AEERKET
BBRARE ([RE])/EE1,400,000% 7T *
HEREABEBITRANI53% °

RZFEZZF+—AtRH KXEEEH
He-post LimitedB& 1 #40% ! & Fe-post
Limited LA — &R - RER/1AE T -

BEASEES RS T BiB20%M
HRRE=REFETH—ZAARER
B ANAKERETEARER A5H
M ERENHRRELERTEN
KA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIS RERMTEE
18 Investments in joint ventures 18 REELENRE
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FHET
At beginning of year NGl 12,303 13,078
Share of losses of joint ventures ElEEEEEE (138) (708)
Dividend received 2 Y B (1,000) =
Currency translation differences ME =58 (511) (67)
At end of year RER 10,654 12,303
Details of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AEBZEELEFBOT:

Place of business/

country of Percentage of Measurement
Name of company incorporation ownership interest Principal activities method Carrying amount
AR AR M L E FERREREEDL TEERED FEEE MR E
2023 2023
“E-=% —B-=%
HK$'000
TR
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia 30% 30%  Provision of printing Equity 9,535 10,236
services
SREDR REENRIRS B
Top Success Investment BVI 50% 50%  Provision of finance Equity 1,119 2,067
Group Limited leasing of yacht
LA REREZRERAR RERELES REBEREHRE &R
Notes: B3
0} As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group has no commitments and 0] RBE_ZFR_T_—_F=ZA=+—
no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in joint ventures. B AEBTEFEREERAEEE
RaERAERIAARE-
(ii) For the year ended 31 March 2023, HK$1,000,000 of final dividend (ii) HE-_Z-_=—F=-RA=+—HLFE"
has been declared and paid by Top Success Investment Group Limited EFRRKEERERARD TR RIK
(2022: Nil). AR EAPZ£.1,000,000/8 7 (Z T = =4 :
) o
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18 Investments in joint ventures (continueq)

(@) Summarised consolidated financial information

of material joint venture

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial
information for e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries
(“e-print Solutions”) which is accounted for using the equity

method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial

position

BTSRRI

18 REETENKRE »
(a) ;Eé TESHBTBE R

T X &, 5lle-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.
N H K& A F] ([e-print Solutions |)
MEHMBERBE WAREREA
EE o

SO BRRREE

e-print Solutions

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
7 AT
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeFMEEE 12,453 12,075
Other current assets (excluding cash Himeh&EE (T8
and cash equivalents) RekREeFHEER) 6,866 7,236
Totalcurrentassets A¥EEe®m 19819 19,311
Current liabilities mENAaE
Financial liabilities (excluding trade CRHEBE(TBEEES
payables) FETRE) (7,936) (6,965)
Other current liabilities (including trade ~ Eft 8@ E (REE S
payables) FETRE) (12,431) (13,362)
Total current liabilities ~ A®Afes (20,367) (20,327) _
Totalnon-currentassets  FmBAEE®E 59,533 64162
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Financial liabilities THEaE (23,716) (26,061)
Other liabilities HihaE (3,155) (3,136)
Total non-current liabilities ~~ FmBAfME® (26,871) (29,197)
Net assets BEFHE 31,614 33,949
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI
18 Investments in joint ventures (continueq 18 REELENKRE »
(a) Summarised consolidated financial information (a) EEA &t ¥ S MK E R
of material joint venture (continueq) C- 3¢ )]
Summarised consolidated statement of EHEEREREE

comprehensive income

e-print Solutions

2023 2022
—E_= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET 7 T

Revenue W == 88,637 67,548
Depreciation e (4,368) (4,535)
Finance cost A& R A (1,294) (1,165)
Loss before income tax bR PTS T A B 18 (550) (2,976)
Income tax expense Fris Rl (33) (146)
Loss for the year FAEE (583) (3,122
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the NEERRBMEEDENEHITE
consolidated financial statements of the joint venture and WMRAZVAEE WIHEAKEM
not for the Group’s share of those amounts, adjusted for hMEE UK ASEEREGEDHE
differences in accounting policies between the Group and the zEe ‘|‘Eﬁl% MEREHAE-
joint venture.

(b) Reconciliation of summarised consolidated (b) EHHMBEERBENHRER
financial information
Reconciliation of the summarised consolidated financial EHUBERBE E!’J HEZIHER
information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in —MHeEtENERREE

a joint venture.

e-print Solutions

2023 2022
—s== =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FE T

Opening net assets FHEEFRE 33,949 37,981
Loss for the year FAEE (583) (3,122)
Currency translation differences I N ER (1,752) (910)
Closing net assets FREEFH 31,614 33,949
Interest in joint venture ReE&EPENER 30% 30%
Share of net assets IR EE TR 9,484 10,185
Goodwill B 51 51
Carrying amount BRMEE 9,535 10,236
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

19 REHETHEMTA

19 Financial instruments by category

Financial
asset at Financial
amortised assets at
costs - fair value
loans and through
receivables profit or loss
FfRz ZERERR
tREE- DAEEYEZ
ERRERRIE CREE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-Z=%=HA=+—H
Trade and other receivables & 5 N H b fE W 7718
(excluding prepayments) (T EEREMZRE) 14,532 - 14,532
Amounts due from related FEY i A RISRIE
companies 377 - 377
Other financial assets at R SHR AR 2
amortised cost HMemEE 31,141 = 31,141
Financial assets at fair value  BEBRERKXALBE
through profit or loss PR & REE - 16,653 16,653
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE&FHEER 125,024 = 125,024
171,074 16,653 187,727
As at 31 March 2022 WZZE-_—_F=A=+—H
Trade and other receivables & 5 N E b fE U708
(excluding prepayments) (TEERMNRIE) 15,390 = 15,390
Amounts due from related FEU BB N RIFKIA
companies 1,076 - 1,076
Other financial assets at REHEK AR 2
amortised cost Hit e @& E 36,645 - 36,645
Financial assets at fair value ~ #BEBREDAEE
through profit or loss SR SREE - 18,106 18,106
Cash and cash equivalents B4 &IRE&HEER 113,911 - 113,911
167,022 18,106 185,128
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

19 BB PP EMIE »

19 Financial instruments by category (continueq)

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
12 8 85 B A
FIBR 2
A =i
HK$’000
T T
Liabilities BfE
As at 31 March 2023 RZZE_=F=A=+—8H
Amounts due to directors JERZEE IR 132
Borrowings BE 22,682
Trade and other payables (excluding advanced & 5 Kk H M fE{ I8 (T BIEFE UK
receipts from customers, contract liabilities BFEHIE aHBEREFHAX)
and accrued expenses) 13,157
Lease liabilities HEBE 46,399
82,370

As at 31 March 2022

RZE-_—_#=ZA=+—H

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

78 T[N

iR
TRAIE
HK$’000
TR

Amounts due to related parties FETEAE S BUIE 200
Amounts due to directors FEREERIEA 195
Borrowings f& 26,216
Trade and other payables (excluding advanced & % Rk HE M [ FIE (T EIEFHE K
receipts from customers, contract liabilities BFEFIE AHBEREHS)
and accrued expenses) 17,480
Lease liabilities HERAEG 9,714
53,805
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20 Inventories

21

BTSRRI

20 78

2023
—®—=

HK$’000

FTHExT
Raw materials =M # 6,574 9,373
Work-in-progress Pt 471 157
Finished goods BUpK 749 32
7,794 9,562

The cost of materials recognised as an expense and included
in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to approximately HK$71,797,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$62,168,000).

Trade receivables

2T -_=F=A=1+—HI*F
B HRERI LI AT E KA
BB B AN %) &71,797,0008 7T (=
T = — 4 :62,168,000/ 1) °

21 EZ WA

2023
—E-=

HK$’000

FExT
Trade receivables B 5 WA 5,590 5,527
Less: loss allowance B S Ia R (1,166) (1,230)
Trade receivables — net B SR TE — F R 4,424 4,297

Notes: B 5E

(i) The directors of the Company apply the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on firstly shared credit risk characteristics and then
aging from billing.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss
provision for trade receivables and information about how impairment
losses are calculated.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are detailed in Note 3.1(b).

(i) As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the maximum exposure to credit risk is
the carrying amounts of trade receivables and the Group does not hold
any collateral as security.

(iii) As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, due to the short-term nature of trade
receivables, the directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

(iv) As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

)y  ARREFEABLCHEFREBYH
HEENBOIFRENBREREER &
RS RO o BT E B UG
BER2BEREERE - RHERD
FEEER ZSREFBACEERER
AEERBEESE RERBEREE
TTRRER AT

EHRESERFENEERRHBORE
HEBEBEBEEG URNAFTERES
BHEER F28ME31(b)

AEEESEEFBRAEBBRENE
B IBE M FESA(D) ©

iy MRZE-_=FR-_T-_—_F=ZA=+—
B AZHNERKEERRTE S ERXK
T8 BR T (B I AN £R @0 4 5 A T R
IR -

iy M-IBE-_=FR-_FT-_—_F=A=+—
B BHRESRERFENEHEE  AQ
RZEERAEIERNENREERA
ARBEMBE-

vy RZEZ=FEK=-FT_F=RA=+-—
B Z5EKAENEEEEZENSET
AREE
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BTSRRI

21 Trade receivables (continueq)

Payment terms granted to customers are mainly cash on
delivery and on credit. The average credit period ranges from
30 days to 60 days. The ageing analysis of the gross trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

21 ESEWRIE»

AEFPRENNRERETZRER
R FHEERNFI0A
E60R -REZBEHEAONEHE
WRIBERREDTWMT

2023
—E-=

HK$’000

FExT
0 - 30 days 0%230H 2,862 2,247
31 - 60 days 31£260H 793 943
Over 60 days HB60H 1,935 2,337
5,590 5,527

22

Deposits, prepayments and other

22

R -RAAREREMWER

receivables MIE
2023 2022
—E_= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHET
Deposits and prepayments (Note (i) Be RIERIE (M) 23,755 16,758
Other receivables H th FE Y RIE 5,185 481
28,940 17,239
Less: non-current portion B IEMBER S
Deposits and prepayments e RIERRIE (20,184) (1,780)
Deposits, prepayments and e B IR & E A UK
other receivables — current portion RE—- REID 8,756 15,459
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables (continueq)

Notes:

(0)

(i

(i)

(v)

Amount mainly represents rental deposits, and prepayments for utility,
insurance expenses and subcontracting fee.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
general approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage model to measure loss allowance.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss
provision for deposits, and other receivables and the information about
how impairment losses are calculated.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, management considered that the
expected credit loss for deposits and other receivables was immaterial,
thus no loss allowance was made.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the maximum exposure to credit risk
is the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables as the Group
does not hold any collateral as security.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the directors of the Company consider
that the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables approximate
their fair values.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the Group'’s
deposits, prepayments and other receivables are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

B O ERR I T

22 BE-FANFEREMENR

IE ()

B AT -

(i)

(i

(i)

(v)

ZeHRIEEAERS R ABRBEAN
RE REAEXESBEM-

REeREMEKRIANE  NEBEK
RERYE RS LR —RIEFTE
HHGEEBRE ERAZHRERGE
EERE-

BRRE REMEKRRNEERBR O
LEHEEBEREUARBANAE
EREBHER  F2BME31(b) °

R_BE-—=FR-_TE-——F=A=+—
B EBERAESREMERZKEN
BHEEBEBYTEX B RTRE
BEE-

RZEZ=FR-ZF-_=ZF=A=1+—
B RNEBE W REF AT AEKERIEER
EAZHOEREERRIES RH A EK
RIARBRMAME ©

RZEZ=FR-ZF-Z=ZF=A=1+—
B ARBREERE KeRkEMBEKRZK
BEREAEREQ L BEES-

R_BE_ZFR_T_—_F=Zf=+—
B RNEBOIES BN HEREAMER
REMERAEE BB E.
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BTSRRI

23 Other financial assets at amortised cost

(a)

BBERAI R EMME
MEE

2023
—— =

—_————

2022

HK$’000
FTERT

HK$’000
THETT

Loan and interest receivables (Note a) B E KR A E (Hta) 34,503 38,908
Less: loss allowance (Note b) B B EEE (Wib) (3,362) (2,263)
31,141 36,645
Less: current portion BB D (2,390) (2,075)
Non-current portion ERENE 28,751 34,570
Movement of loan and interest receivables EWEREFMNENEH

2023
—s=-=

HK$’000

FERT
At beginning of the year RE ] 38,908 48,005
Additions NE 1,000 4,090
Accrued interest FEETF B 2,263 2,816
Settlement for the year FEHE (7,668) (16,003)
At end of the year RE R 34,503 38,908

As at reporting date, the balance mainly composed of:

)

A loan arrangement with the subsidiary of a joint venture
— Top Success Investment Group Limited entered by
the Group on 17 March 2020. As at 31 March 2023
and 2022, the principal amount of the loan amounted
to approximately HK$30,000,000, with interest bearing
at 6% per annum and repayable for the year ending 31
March 2025.

A loan arrangement with the then associate — e-post
Limited entered by the Group on 22 April 2020. The
principal amount of the loan amounted to approximately
HK$4,991,000, with interest bearing at 5% per annum
and repayable for the year ending 31 March 2025.
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P
=

B SHETBEEE:

AEER-_ZT_TF=A+LtHA
HE-—ZA2bX-—LthTRER
BERARATNMNME QAR
YHERZH - R_TE_=FK
_7__$ A=t—8B &
AR & %) /30,000,0007% 7T * 1R
E%'J‘—Iéfs%iﬁ',%u%%ﬁ?t:;
“THF=ZA=t—-BLFEEE
= o

AEEBRZ_ZE_ZEFNHN A
T+ -HEER-RKBEE AR~
e-post Limitedz] (L Y E R & HE ©
B R 24 54,991 000/%75 Bz
FRE5%:HE - EBREZEZ
—“HEFE=AHA E+—E|JJ:¢F§1ET
}%o

]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23 Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

(@) Movement of loan and interest receivables
(Continueq)

(i) A loan arrangement with a third party extended by the
Group on 27 September 2020. As at 31 March 2021,
the principal of the loan and interest receivables was
amounted to approximately HK$13,014,000, with
interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable on 26
September 2021. The amount was settled during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

(iv) Certain loan arrangements with the then associate —
e-post Limited were entered by the Group from 28
January 2022. As at 31 March 2022, the principal
amount of the loans amounted to approximately
HK$3,340,000, with interest bearing at 8% per annum
and repayable for the year ending 31 March 2025. The
amount was settled during the year ended 31 March
2023.

(v) A loan agreement with the then associate — during the
year ended 31 March 2023, e-post Limited entered by
the Group on 7 April 2022. The principal amount of the
loan amounted to HK$1,000,000, with interest bearing
at 8% per annum and repayable for the year ending 31
March 2025. The amount was settled during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

(b) Loss allowance

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group applies the HKFRS
9 general approach to measure expected credit losses which
uses a 3-stage model to measure loss allowance for other
financial assets at amortised cost.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit
loss provision for other financial assets at amortised cost and
the information about how impairment losses are calculated.

B O ERR I T

23 #z#i&%éﬁkzlxﬁu BReHME

(a)

(b)

BURERKRANENEH »)

m)$%Em

ERLH- E’\_g_*fﬁiﬂ
=+—H BExA:RERFE
4 /13,014,000 7t #& F 7| &

8%t B FER_ZT=_—FhA
“t+ARHEERE-BE-Z=-=

“A=t+t—HLIFE E@HcE
BT o

vy &% l@:f::i—ﬂ

ZTHNRRBHEER —REEQ

A] —e-post LmﬂedJI%:Fffm

E R _E_—F=A=+—

H EXA &4 /R3,340,000%

TC R F F E8%ET B - W A&

EZE-_RAF=A=+—HL

FREEB-AHEFBEREBEE_=Z

T=F=ZA=1+—HILFE#H
fife

(V) 2T =F=ZHA=+—H
LEFE AEER T FMK
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SIS RERMTEE
23 Other financial assets at amortised cost 23 ZEFE KL EFEz2HME
(Continued) ﬁnﬂ ﬁ E (%)
(b) Loss allowance (Continued) (b) BERE 2
Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of REEZREHERARYER 2 Hb &t
other financial assets at amortised cost are detailed in Note EERBEBEREZZHFFEERN
3.1(0). B 3E3.1(b) °
As at 31 March 2023, the Group recognised a provision RZEZ=F=HA=+—HB XA&H
of loss allowance of HK$1,099,000 (2022: reversal of loss ERREHEHEAATECEMES
allowance of HK$146,000) for other financial assets at ﬁ? B /B35 48 B 451,099,000 7T (=
amortised costs. T = F BB E B E146,000
JT) e
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the maximum exposure to R_ZZE_=ZFR_ZF__F=AR
credit risk is the carrying amounts of other financial assets at =+—8" Hﬂﬁﬁ’ilﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬁlﬁ
amortised cost as the Group does not hold any collateral as HmlEER WEeEERRAIREE
security. PR ARSI AR 2 E @%%Eﬁ?ﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount of other RZEZ=FRZZT=ZZ=F=A
financial assets at amortised costs are dominated in Hong =+ —B REERAEY e
Kong dollar. BEENREMEABITEHE
24 Financial assets at fair value through 24 ERERBAAEBEYEE
profit or loss ZEMEE
2023 2022
—E-= S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Debentures EC: 300 -
Listed equity investments EmRARE 16,353 18,106
16,653 18,106
Notes: B3
0] The listed equity investments represent shares listed on the Stock 0] EHRARE IR R T E T ARG ©
Exchange.
The fair values of the listed equity investments and debentures are FHRAKREREFN DR EEIIBE
based on quoted prices in active markets and are classified within level RERTSHNMEFTEETERAAE
1 of the fair value hierarchy. BERNE—RA-
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24 Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is presented within
investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in ‘other losses — net’ in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income (Note 7).

Information about the relevant accounting policy and fair value
estimation is provided in Note 2.12 and Note 3.3, respectively. For an
analysis of the Group’s exposure to the price risk and credit risk, please
refer to Notes 3.1(a) and 3.1(b).

BTSRRI

24 EBEZBROAAEEIER
ZEMEE @

B AT -

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(%)

ERBREARBEIGZEREES
JIRNAHRERBRZREBTHN-

ERBEREARBEIGZEREEN
AABEEZHERAHEARERTE
R — F 8] (PEE7) -

EHREHESHBERAABEMGINE
B B E M 52212 % M 5£3.3 - B B A
SEEERNERRRREERR ST
F2HMFE3.1(a) &3.1(0) °

25 Cash and cash equivalents 25 e hREEHEH
2023
—E-=

HK$’000

FHExT
Cash at banks and on hand RITREeMFBERES 53,539 77,644
Short —term bank deposits (Note (i) R HASRTT I B (M EEG)) 71,485 36,267
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEER 125,024 113,911

Notes:

Cash and cash equivalents represents cash and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less from the date
of acquisition.

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rate.

Cash at banks and on hand of approximately HK$1,130,000 or
RMB983,000 (2022: HK$123,000 or RMB100,000) are denominated
in Renminbi. The conversion of Renminbi denominated balances
into foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of PRC are subject to the
relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government.

GEE

(i

(i)

e RWESEEE B S
FESMBAZEARUNZESREH
BT

RITRERBEEARTEFRNTLRTS
7 2 GRERF S o

$RITRFEEE S 491,130,000 T AR
#983,0007T ( =& = — 4F : 123,000/ 7T
sk A R¥#100,0007T) Jh A A R ¥ 5118 -
i AREESHER &8 X BRAKINE &
ZENEHENRTEHRREELSP
- ¥5 7838 <7 7P B BT 8 5 19 48 [ SN EE
B R A AR o
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BTSRRI

25 Cash and cash equivalents (continueq)

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

25 BERBRESEEER »

BeMMeFEEENER@EAT
FIEWETE:

2023
—s==

HK$’000

FExT
HK$ BT 94,757 83,785
Renminbi AREE 1,130 123
uss$ ETT 27,588 27,201
Others EHi 1,549 2,802
125,024 113,911

26 Share capital and share premium

26 BAK KD RE

Number of

shares

RO#E

(thousands)

(FH)

Nominal
value
of ordinary Share
shares premium
EEREE R R E
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHT

Authorised capital - ordinary FERA - BRABCIET
shares of HK$0.01 each )5
At 1 April 2021, 31 March R-ZZE-—FMA—A8"

2022, 1 April 2022 and “E--FZA=+-H"
31 March 2023 “E--FNA-HEK
“E-=#=fA=+-H 10,000,000 100,000 -
Issued and fully paid: BREIRHR:
At 1 April 2021, 31 March RZZE-—FmA—-H"
2022, 1 April 2022 and “E--f#=ZA=1+-A1"
31 March 2023 “E-_FNA-AK
“ET-ZFZA=1+-H 550,000 5,500 132,921
Notes: B &E -

(i) The ordinary shares entitle the holders to participate in dividends, and
to share in the proceeds of winding up the company in proportion to the
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The ordinary shares
entitle the holders to one vote per share at meetings in person or by
proxy.

(i) Share premium represents the excess of the issuance price of the
Company’s shares over its nominal value.
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27 Other reserves

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

27 HittfEE

Share
Capital Exchange based
reserve Other reserve payment Retained
(Note i) reserve  (Note ii) reserve  earnings Total
EXfEE NERE KRESH
(Mati) HftE () wE REEAN @zt
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKE000  HK$000  HK$000
THET THET TET FET TET THT
At 1 April 2021 W-Z-—%WA-B  65% @) (2379 - 101534 105,727
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 2,097 2,097
Currency translation differences EHEE
- Group - A&E - - 20 - = 20
- Joint ventures and associates -~ RERERBE DT - - 67) - = 67)
Dividends (Note 31) &8 (HE31) - - - = (4,400) (4,400)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 =T ZZF
ZRA=+-BR
—E--HNA—H 6,593 1) (2,426) = 99,231 103,377
Loss for the year FAERE - - - - (14,243)  (14,249)
Currency translation differences EHZEE
- Group -K&HE - - (98) - = (98)
- Joint ventures and associates - RELERBELT - - (511) - = (511)
Share based payment expenses RERFAZ
(Note 35) (K33E3s) - - - 17,051 - 17,051
Dividends (Note 31) B8 (HE31) - - - - (4,950) (4,950)
At 31 March 2023 RZZ-=%F
=ZA=+—-H 6,593 (1) (3,035) 17,051 80,088 100,626
Notes: B &L :
0] Capital reserve 0] BAREE

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, capital reserve of the Group represents
the aggregate values of share capital and share premium of certain

subsidiaries comprising the Group.

(i) Exchange reserve

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the foreign
controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive income as
described in Note 2.8 and accumulated in a separate reserve within
equity. The cumulative amount is to be transferred to profit and loss

R ZFR-_F-__F=ZA=+—
B ARBENEAREEEXAEER
ETHWBRARMBRARKMDEENRE
e

(ii) SNEE & 1

a0 Y RE2.8RT At - R B AN B PR I B B8 T A
EMEREZERE MGG KREER X
REZNNEBEHED R R EE
HRHESINRIEF BB ERERE-

when the respective foreign controlled entities are disposed.
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BTSRRI
28 Trade payables, accruals and other 28 EZEMNFIE EBitRER
payables HiEFRIE
2023 2022
—E-=H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Trade payables 2 S EMN IR 12,211 11,951
Accruals and other payables: JE &t SR I8 B H th & < RKIE
Accrued expenses FEETRAX 23,388 13,959
Advanced from customers BR8N 5,383 6,165
Contract liabilities aHERE 5,419 5,592
Other payables H th FE T 3B 946 5,529
Accruals and other payables JE & FRIE I H fth FE < 5K I8 35,136 31,245
Less: non-current portion B FERBNER - (173)
Accruals and other payables JE &t SR I8 I Ho i FE - IR
— current portion — RENE D 35,136 31,072
Notes: Bt 3
0] Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly on credit. The credit (i) HEBRENGRIAEZEEKRE =
period ranges from 30 to 90 days. EHN F30HE90H °
(i)  For the year ended 31 March 2023, HK$5,592,000 (2022: iy REE_Z_=F=-"A=+—HILFE"
HK$6,693,000) of revenue recognised was included in the contract AR EE5,592,00008 7T (Z B = —4F:
liabilities balance at the beginning of the period. 6,693,000 7T ) s ABRVI A K B B R o
(i) As 31 March 2023 and 2022, all trade payables, accruals and other iy MZE_=ZFR-_ZT-_—_F=ZA=+—
payables of the Group were non-interest bearing, and their carrying B A&EBMEESENIE B 5IE
amounts approximated their fair values due to short maturities. REMEMNREHENS BRI

BE WENREEEEAREERE-

(iv)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, accruals and other vy AEEMNEZEMRE EizERHE
payables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. fh FER RIBRBREE X Z A TEE -
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28 Trade payables, accruals and other
payables (Continued))

29

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date was as follows:

BTSRRI

28 ESENFIE B FER
HiEAFRIE )

BHRNRBENEREAHNOKRE
DT

2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FTHExT
0 - 30 days 0% 30H 7,677 3,813
31 - 60 days 31£260H 3,567 5,654
61 — 90 days 61290H 915 2,457
Over 90 days H@E90HR 52 27
12,211 11,951
Borrowings 29 B8
2023
—=E-=
HK$’000
FTHEx
Current B
Bank overdrafts RITES - 118
Trust receipt loans =t BIRE R 632 2,397
Bank loans RITER 22,050 23,701
22,682 26,216
Notes: B 5L :

(iii)

()

The borrowings of the Group are subject to financial covenants and
the Group is in compliance with the financial covenants as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.

As at 31 March 2023, the borrowings of the Group were secured
by personal guarantees provided by a related party of the Group
(Note 37(c)). Included in bank loans to the extent of approximately
HK$20,946,000 (2022: HK$23,701,000) are mortgage loans which are
secured by properties of the Group of approximately HK$62,488,000
(2022: HK$65,064,000) (Note 13).

The carrying amount of bank borrowings approximate their fair value
as the interest payable on these borrowings is either close to current
market rates or the borrowings are of a short-term nature.

Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from borrowings are set
out in Note 3.1(c).

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

(i)

(v)

R-B-=FR-_FT-_—F=A=+—
A AEENEEAISBREZLAR G
BAREE-—HEETEREL -

R-_E_=ZF=ZA=+—H K£H
MNEBDDHASEENBESRENE
AERERBEIF (HE37(c)) < R1T
B3R E S 420,946,000 T (=&
Z = :23,701,0008 7T) A A EE Y
% 4962,488,0008 L (Z T = F:
65,064,0007% 7T ) 1E 5 # &9 12 1B & 51 (FT
F$13) °

RITEENR@ERZEDAE
Ty % E B R RS
BMEREEBERNEE -

ANEERE G S i E R KRR O B
RETFES.(0)
REEZ=ZFR_Bo=F=A=1+—
B EENEmENASTAE

BEMEE "
BITHRITH
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BTSRRI

29 Borrowings (continueq) 29 B8

The table below analyses the Group’s borrowings into relevant
maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any
repayment on demand clause:

TRAAEBERBREERIGZEEE
EERBHRERIAERNE S
EESN WES AEFEERE
BERHEE:

2023
—E-=

HK$’000

THET
Within 1 year —F R 2,987 4,912
Between 1 and 2 years —EWFE 1,626 1,852
Between 2 and 5 years MERF 4,546 4,455
Over 5 years HFLE 13,523 14,997
22,682 26,216

Note: B 5L :

Bank borrowings contained a repayment on demand clause which enables
the bank to exercise at its sole discretion. Accordingly, the entire balance was
classified under current liabilities.

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum were
as follows:

TREEERITIEENBITE ZIRERE
f HeB 2MESROERRPAR-

IHEFHERER R :

Trust receipt loans Z%%HSZ BEX
Bank loans RITER

4.83% 2.30%
2.53% 2.32%

Note:

The fair values of the borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts as
at 31 March 2023 and 2022 as all the borrowings carry interests which are
benchmarked against Hong Kong Dollar prime rate or Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”).
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30 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
related to the same fiscal authority.

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

BTSRRI

30 JEEFTFH

BEEMBERDREBEABEIENEE
FHEEMREERGHORERE
RUEZREHEAE-

28 A KA 98 B 81T HE A AT A5 BD HR
MEEERENHPHRAAGEE B
ESEFT 1S B8 S R — B w4 R - R
EXGHEERBEL RN

BEERIBEEEMEEHRBRED N

is as follows: (N
2023 2022
—_E_= =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FBTT
Deferred tax assets RIEFTEE E
- Deferred tax assets to be recovered ~ — i@+ — @ A& 15 F U@ #Y
after more than 12 months RIEFIEE E 707 2,379
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIEAR
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered — #BiE+ @ A% T EH
after more than 12 months ELEHIBEAG (4,167) (5,349)
Deferred tax liabilities — net EERBAE - F58 (3,460) (2,970)

The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are

BIEFSHERANEZESHMT

as follows:
2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FTERT
At beginning of year i) (2,970) (2,950)
Addition from step acquisition (Note 33) BEBER U EEBEA R E
(H$5E33) - (231)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) B E—RWB AT (K:E34) 231 -
(Debited)/credited to the consolidated ~ R&HHEZF (31BR) 5 A
profit and loss (Note 11) (HF5E11) (721) 211
At end of year RER (3,460) (2,970)
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SIS RERMTEE
30 Deferred income tax (continueq) 30 ELEREBH =
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BELEFEMEERBERFERN (K
for the years, without taking into consideration the offsetting of ZRE—HBEANEREN)E
balances with the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: m
Fair value change of Accelerated tax
intangible assets depreciation
ENEELNNEEED mERERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —T-- —E-=F —T-C
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHT THT FHT
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAR
At beginning of year REA (231) = (5,464) (6,254)
Addition from step acquisiion BB EEE £
(Note 33) AE (F5E33) - (231) - =
Credited to the consolidated REFBEETIA
profit and loss - - 838 790
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) & —fEH B2 7] (KizE34) 231 = - =
At end of year RER - (231) (4,626) (5,464)
Set-off of deferred tax assets BRERFERERHET
pursuant to set-off provisions MBREE - - 459 346
- (231) (4,167) (5,118)
Tax losses
BIEEIE
2023 2022
—ZE-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FHET
Deferred tax assets BRI EE
At beginning of year REH] 2,725 3,304
Charged to the consolidated RE BHEm P bR
profit and loss (1,559) (579)
At end of year RER 1,166 2,725
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities RIRE S BB AR T
pursuant to set-off provisions MIEEE (459) (346)

707 2,379
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30 Deferred income tax continueq)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Tax
losses in the PRC can be carried forward to offset against
future taxable profits for 10 years and tax losses in Hong Kong
and Malaysia can be carried forward to offset against future
taxable profits without expiry date.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had the following
recognised and unrecognised tax losses available for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

Unrecognised tax losses expiring:

*ﬁﬁwﬁl’]ﬂﬁﬂmlﬁ}%}g 8

BRI MR

EEFFESH o)

BEEFTBMEET A BB ERF
ﬁ%a%ﬂ$X%%mmﬂ“ﬁﬁ
A EE o HIEBBELER R
B Y B 78 B 48 AT 45 8 DA 3K 85 R 2R 10
FRERPEHN REBMERADE
RO T IA 5 18 1) 45 8 DA K B R SR R

Rtk F) - 4 e B o
R-B-_=ZFR-_FT-__=H

StT-—B AEEBEATEBERRL
R HE PR RO B IR B 18 AT R 70 4 8H R K
FERRTL A

2023 2022

=

HK$'000
THETT

HK$’000
FEx

— Within 10 years —R10FE R 12,071 12,071
— Unlimited — EHR 9,532 9,872
21,603 21,943

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax asset of
HK$3,916,000 (2022: HK$3,440,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to HK$21,603,000 (2022:HK$21,943,000). Tax
losses in Hong Kong can be carried forward to offset against
future assessable profits and have no expiry date in 2023
(2022: Same). Tax losses in the PRC can be carried forward to
offset against future taxable profits for 10 years (2022: Same).

31 Dividends

No dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 has
been declared as of the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements.

31

$$@iﬂﬁ§wu/\$ﬂlagﬁ%g
21,603,000 T (=& = — F:
21,943,000 70 ) BB REERMG/H
& E3,916,0008 T (Z &2 = = F:
3,440,000 L) R T =F >

AEEMBEBENAERNEERK
ERB A BV EERABH(ZZ
ZZF R A EBIEBEAS
& R 88 K K104 #Y) JE 2R B % A
(ZEZZF:48R) °

S 3=)
BERSAMMBRERMLEDS,
BEREE _T_=F=A=1—
AIFESRRA

2022/23 4 eprint EEER AT 233



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

31 Dividends (continueq 31 BE »)

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 of
HKO0.9 cents per share, amounting to a total dividend of
HK$4,950,000, was proposed by the Board on 19 August
2022 and had been approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting on 30 September
2022. The final dividend was paid on 24 October 2022.
The proposed final dividend has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022.

An interim dividend in respect of the six months ended 30
September 2021 amounting to HK$4,400,000 was paid in
December 2021.

EEeR-_ZTE-__FN\At+AhBR
ERARFBRERER_ZE=-__FAN
A=+HZBRRAFRKE L ER
E_E_—_HF#=ZA=Z+—HItHF
EHRESTR0.9BI - #I% 8 2
4,950,000 Lo REA IR B ¥
T+ A+ HmBEN-ERE
HRBETAREBEE_E_—_F=A
=+ HLEFEMNEHTBHREF
f B o

2 E - —FAA=Z+THIEANE
AR EIRR B (4 $£4,400,0005%8 7T )
R-_ZE-—F+-AIKffe

ol

Y

B |

%NHL\LDL

2023 2022
=== —=——

—_———— —_ _—

HK$’000
FET

HK$’000
THETT

Proposed final dividend of HK0.9 @E%EE/HJ% ’REZR
cents per ordinary share BAR0.97E 1L - 4,950
Interim dividend of HKO0.8 cents per s HHHQ 85K E@0.88 L
ordinary share - 4,400
- 9,350
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BTSRRI

32 Notes to the consolidated statement of 32 S§4fHRE&KRERM
cash flows

(a) Cash generated from operations (a) EEEENRE

2023 2022
—E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THETT

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations B Fr {3 5 B B & & %75

before income tax (E518) /s F (5,511) 5,693
(Loss)/profit from discontinued BrETISTIRI O AR L E TS

operation before income tax (E518) /& F (3,034) 221
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEHIAT (BE) =

including discontinued operation (BREERIEEFER) (8,545) 5,914
Adjustments for: BRAT B IBEITH AR :
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BEREZERE

equipment 13 10,449 10,944
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 14 19,330 18,170
Losses on disposals of property, plant HEWE BB MR EEIE

and equipment 32(b) 224 62
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HENBARAEE 34 1,807 -
Impairment loss on financial assets EREEREBEESRE 1,559 185
Impairment loss on goodwill R R EEE 15 - 3,086
Impairment loss on property, plant and 472 -« = M R &R (EE 1B

equipment 13 - 3,398
Fair value losses on financial assets at BBEDIEAAEBEIRZ

fair value through profit or loss ERMEENAAEBEERE 7 1,574 4,094
Amortisation of intangible assets mAEEE 15 280 93
Dividend income iR B A (98) (69)
Recovery of trade receivables W 1B] 55 A 3R B 2 5 B R IE

previously written off (93) (136)
Gain on step acquisition of subsidiaries Pt 5 =X U BE i B & Bl A9 Uk 25 - (3,000)
Gain on early termination of lease AR EHEEN K (4) =
Finance income BE KA (3,924) (3,180)
Finance costs A& P AR 1,490 1,080
Share based payment expenses R KA 9 17,051 =
Share of losses of associates il Al ) F =] 17 41 660
Share of losses of joint ventures BlEEEDEZEBE 18 138 708
Changes in working capital LEESEH
— Inventories - FE 1,768 (2,948)
— Trade receivables — B SRR (571) 1,872
— Deposit, prepayments and — & TENRERHEMER

other receivables KIA 6,864 (7,216)

— Amounts due from related companies — JE U B 38 A &) F 18 - (994)
— Amounts due to associate — eI EsE & A AR IE 643 -
— Trade payables — B S ENFIA 646 3,937
— Accruals and other payables — FEET B R H M FE T BB 7,015 3,393
— Amount due to directors — ENESERIE (63) 30
— Amount due to joint venture —EREEERE (144) (1)
Cash generated from operations SEEENRS® 57,437 40,082
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BTSRRI

32 Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows continueq)

32 EHBEERERMMETE @

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REHRERERDP HEY
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and X BERRENASRES
equipment comprise: &

—E-= —_EF-_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FHETT
Net book amount (Note 13) BREFE (MI5E13) 515 63
Losses on disposals of property, plant  HEW ¥ HE &R EEE
and equipment (224) (62)
Proceeds from disposals & FT1S RIE 291 1

(c) Net cash reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the
movements in net cash for each of the years presented.

(c) REFHYR

AEHFHINRSFR 0T RREF
BREMTEFEZES-

Net cash HEFEHE
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHExT FHET

Cash and cash equivalents ReReEEER 125,024 113,911
Lease liabilities — due within one year MEAE- —FR3H (17,680) (6,221)
Lease liabilities — due after one year MEAE - —F1%&3H (28,719) (3,493)
Bank borrowings — due within one year $R1TEE — —F R Z|H (22,682) (26,216)
Net cash ReFH 55,943 77,981
Cash and cash equivalents ReMB2FMEEH 125,024 113,911
Gross debts — variable interest rates BB FEH = (22,682) (26,216)
Gross debts — fixed interest rates BB 5E — B M= (46,399) (9,714)
Net cash e F8 55,943 77,981
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(c)

cash flows (continueq)

Net cash reconciliation (continueq)

Net cash (continuea)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

32 Aﬁ*fiﬁulbii M‘f%(ﬁ%)

(c) BEFHEEER )

HEFHE (@)

Borrowings
due within Lease
1 year [ETJINES

R—FR

IMzEE
HK$'000
TET TAT

HERE
HK$’000

As at 1 April 2021 R-T-—#mA—A (19,904) (19,566)
Cash movements: HoEg:

Proceeds from bank borrowings fETﬂﬁEFﬁﬁf KIH (28,065) -

Repayment for bank borrowings BEBITEE 21,936 -

Payment for lease liabilities YNHEERRE - 20,903

Payment for interest expenses TRMERAX 435 -

Other non-cash movements: HEM#HE &) -

Addition from step acquisition R NBEEEENAE (183) (734)
Acquisition of leases WML - (9,659)
Accretion of interest expenses F BRI (435) (645)
Foreign exchange adjustments SN 3 B - (13)
As at 31 March 2022 R-T-—#=R=+—8 (26,216) ,714)
Cash movements: Bz g

Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEBEMERIEA (19,494) -

Repayment for bank borrowings ERRITEE 22,898 -

Payment for lease liabilities YNHEEARE - 19,732

Payment for interest expenses TRFEFRZ 705 S

Termination of leases RIEFRH - 304

Other non-cash movements: R HEzEE) -

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RINBARZEE 130 597

Acquisition of leases WAL - (56,560)
Accretion of interest expenses F B EM (705) (785)
Foreign exchange adjustments SN 78 B - 27

As at 31 March 2023 R-E-=F=A=+—H (22,682) (46,399)

2022/23 ¥R eprint EEAR AT 237



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI T

32

(d)

33

238

Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows (Continued)

Significant non-cash transactions:

Except for the additions of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities upon commencement of leases, accretion of interest
expense and foreign exchange adjustments, there were no
other significant non-cash transactions during the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

Business combination

On 5 November 2021, E-Boss Co. Limited (“E-Boss”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase
Agreement”) with Mr. Yip Hin Lun (“Mr. Yip”), pursuant to
which Mr. Yip agreed to sell and E-Boss agreed to purchase
3,150,000 issued ordinary shares in the share capital of
Sakura Japan, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong, legally and beneficiary held by Mr. Yip, representing
42% of the existing issued shares of Sakura Japan, at a total
consideration of HK$6,300,000.

As at completion date, the Group remeasured the fair value
of its previously held equity interest in Sakura Japan and
recognised a gain of HK$3,000,000 on the remeasurement of
the Group’s pre-existing interest in Sakura Japan to acquisition
date fair value which has been recognised to the profit or loss.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2022/23

32

(d)

33

EHRERERHTE =)

EXFRERF:

REBEEZE-_=FR_FT__F=
A=+—BLEFE BRREERRK
BAETRAEEELRTBEESE A
BRI EmMEINEFHEI BEE
MEARFRER G

R

RZZEZ—F+—HAEB X2
ZHEzEMBA T%Eﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
AI([EEW])BETBEE ([EX
EDEIuBERE (TEBRBZ])
Bl EXAERELEMEZEREA
ERERZIAHE(—HEAREEZ
MLz ERAB)BRAFHEL
5 EERER T—rﬁﬁ’]S%OOOOHx
E%éﬁ%@ﬂx HMERBZTEE
WHEBBITRMD 242% BREAE
6,300,000/8 7T °

REKBE AEBEHFEHL
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BTSRRI

33 ¥¥K56t =

AEBERMMAFHBZ AHERER
TRBMZERERAABEFE
B

33 Business combination coninueq)

Details of the carrying value and fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in Sakura Japan at the
completion date were summarised as follows:

HK$’000

FET

Fair value of previously held equity interest LRI E2 AR BE 3,000
Interest in Sakura Japan before RESAKEEEA 2B 2 T EER

the step acquisition =

Gain on step acquisition on subsidiaries R o = U B BT B A Al Ay U &= 3,000

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of Sakura

B2 APERKEAHR 2T ZMNE

Japan as at the date of acquisition were as follows: EraEZAABERAT:
HK$’000
FHE T
Brand name n hE 2 1 1,400
Property, plant and equipment Y BB R 226
Right-of-use assets EREEE 215
Trade and other receivables 2 5 & H b W GRIE 1,583
Tax recoverable aJ Ug [ 7 89
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEIRE 509
Trade payables B 5 5RIE (2,323)
Borrowings BE (183)
Lease liabilities HEBE (734)
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEAE (231)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEAnBEFENAZNEEFEES 551
Non-controlling interest FEIE R R (209)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value rEBREGERAREBETED
attributable to the Group AR EE FEER 342
Goodwill EES 8,958
9,300
Satisfied by: LATRBI 75 A A
Cash consideration ReERE 6,300
Fair value of previously held equity interest ERIFFEREZ AREE 3,000
9,300
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BTSRRI

34 Discontinued operation 34 BERIEREER

(a) Description of discontinued operation

On 31 March 2023, E-Boss, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share purchase
agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”) with an independent
third party, pursuant to which E-Boss agreed to sell and
the independent third party agreed to purchase 4,650,000
issued ordinary shares in the share capital of Sakura Japan
Property (Hong Kong) Limited and its subsidiary (“Sakura
Group”), a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong, which was presently legally and beneficiary held by
E-Boss, representing 62% of the then existing issued shares
of Sakura Japan, at a total consideration of approximately
HK$4,171,000 (the “Disposal”).

Upon the completion of the Disposal on 31 March 2023,
the Company disposed all of its equity interest and cease
its controls in Sakura Japan. As a consequence, the related
financial information of Sakura Japan was classified as
discontinued operation in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

34 CRIEREER
(b) BRLEEEBEEMT :

34 Discontinued operation continue)

(b) The results of discontinued operation are as

follows:
For the
period from
5 November
2021 to
31 March
02
B -_—%F
+—A
HEHERE
T
—A=+—H
—=—= 1-HAFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHETT
Revenue g %5 9,604 5,709
Cost of sales $HE AR (4,707) (3,157)
Gross profit EH 4,897 2,552
Other income Hitp g A 726 81
Other gains/(losses) — net Hiplezs (E5B) — F58 3 (3,226)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFAX (1,832) (867)
Administrative expenses THRAX (5,011) (1,271)
Operatingloss . B&BH 0210 @731
Finance costs B & KA (10) (48)
Lossbeforeincometax WEGEmSES  0221) (2779
Income tax expense FrigBix - -
Loss after income tax of CRIEREXBRTEHAEE
discontinued operation (1,227) (2,779)
Gain on step acquisition F o =0 W B F TR A W s - 3,000
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHRBARZEE (1,807) -
(Loss)/profit from discontinued BARIEEEER (FEB) w5F
operation (3,034) 221
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BTSRRI
34 Discontinued operation (coninueq) 34 BRIEREEK »
(b) The results of discontinued operation are as (b) ERILREEKEZUOT (&)

follows: (continuea)

2023
2=

HK$’000

FERT
Operating cash flows KERERE (1,170) 2,645
Investing cash flows RERERE 10 (103)
Financing cash flows MERERE (651) (557)
Total cash flows ReEmERTE (1,811) 1,985
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BTSRRI

34 CRIEEEEK »
(c) HE— BB LRIMNFE
TE—RNBARZEEMMT

34 Discontinued operation continue)

(c) Details of disposal of a subsidiary

An analysis on the loss on disposal of a subsidiary is as

follows:
HK$’'000
FET
Consideration satisfied by: REUTHHEXEZA:
— Cash consideration —HaKE 4,171
Less: Net assets disposed of: BT EEEFRE:
Brand name on hE 2 18 (1,027)
Goodwill HaE (5,872)
Property, plant and equipment L ERN T L (139)
Right-of-use assets EREEE (604)
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b e kA (1,615)
Tax recoverable A Y [ 5 I8 (89)
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEBEER (629)
Trade payables, other payables and accruals B SR FRIE - B b R 5RIE &
FE&T A 3,339
Lease liabilities HEAE 597
Bank borrowings RITEE 130
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIABE 231
Net assets disposed of FrHE&EFE (5,674)
Non-controlling interest e R (304)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHERRNEE (1,807)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEAMREREFR:
Cash consideration received EWIRERE 1,000
Consideration receivable as at 31 March 2023 R -_ZE-_=F=ZA=+—HEKAKRE 3,171
4171
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BTSRRI

35 BRERE

35 Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written resolutions of
the then Shareholders passed on 13 November 2013. The
Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established to
recoghise and acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible
Participants (as defined in the prospectus of the Company
dated 20 November 2013 (the “Prospectus”)) have had or may
have made to the Group. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board
may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe of
new Shares in aggregate not exceeding 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time.

Pursuant to the share option scheme, options were granted
by the Group to eligible employees, including directors of the
Company, to subscribe for shares of the company at pre-
determined exercise price during the exercisable period, as a
part of their remunerations.

49,500,000 share options were granted to the employees
of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023. The
fair value of share options granted was determined using
the Binomial option pricing model. The fair value of the
share options were approximately HK$17,051,000, and the
Group recognised the share based payment expenses of
approximately HK$17,051,000 during the year ended 31
March 2023.

The assumptions used in estimating the fair value of share
options granted were as follows:

BEEKERER=-ZE—=F1+—A8
+ZHEBBEMNEBrAZR AAQF
RZE—=F+—A+=HKMN—
EERERTE ([Zar8l)) - %&t &
R—ERMEBTE EESEER
RAUGERL2HEE (EERLARF
HEA-ZT—=F+—A=Z+HHK
BRER([BRER]) )EAEE
BEH AT E 1EL AT E - BRI
Zig EEgURNBEREERE
URBHRG BHETBATKE
BITIRD A930% °

REBRESS AEEREER
BE (BRARARES) XL ERE
ARAITEMEANRBEETE 217
FEERBARRBD EREFH
B ) —&F o

BHE-_ZT-_=F=A=+—81ItE
€ 49,500,000 R #EE & F A&
SEEE-ERHBRENAAEBE
NERZEABREECEERER T
Er - HE-_ET-_=—#=A=+—
HIEFE BERENAABEARAYD
17,051,000/ 7T« A & B #E R AR #&
B S 917,051,000/ T °

REAERHBERENRABER
PTARBERMT

2023

—E-=
HK$’000
FTHEx
Share price IR (B 0.79
Exercise price TR E 0.79
Expected volatility TEHA K 18 103.58%
Risk-free interest rate = 3 f R X 4.3%
Expected option term (life) TEHARE AR HATR (5F HR) 2
Early exercise behavior RAIITEITA 2.2-2.8
Post-vesting exit rate EBERAE 15%
Fair value per share option BMERES B HK$0.332 -
HK$0.355
0.332BTE
0.3557% 7T
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35 Share option scheme (continveq)

The exercise price of the options was determined by the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date,
which must be a trading day; (i) the average closing prices of
the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the 5 consecutive trading days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal value of the
shares. The risk-free rate was determined with reference to
the yield rate of the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes with a
similar to the expected life of the options. The expected life of
the options was the contractual life to maturity of the options.
The expected volatility of the underlying security of the options
was determined based on the historical volatility of the share
prices the Group. The post-vesting exit rate was determined
based on the historical record provided by the management of
the Group.

The following table summarises the share option activity
during the year ended 31 March 2023:

Employees EE
At 1st April R A—H
Granted BN

BTSRRI

35 EBRESTE »

BRENTEEBRHBATSEZE
BEEE: (WOHOREHER(AR
RXPRIRBZERARERP A
MIRHE: (ROREERENA B
RISEEER 5 ARB XX E B RE
2 R SIS g e (B ¢ R B D
MEE BRRMETD2RERK
REHFHRE BB INEESE
SRaEBEE-BRERAFHNS
EEBERENIMENSOFS-
BREAEE N RIRETRE
& BB R FE SRR M EE R
BERRXDIREASEEEEM
RENELLHETAEE -

TEHEHEE-_ZT-_=94= A
— T HULEFEMERESTS:

2023
—E-=

Exercise
price No. of

per share share
HK$ options
g4
THEER
BT BREE

0.79 49,500,000

At 31st March R=A=+—H

49,500,000
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BTSRRI

35 BRESTE »
RER BRITEDERESE M

35 Share option scheme (continveq)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry dates and exercise prices:

B RITEEROT:

2023
—E=-=
Exercise
price No. of
per share share
Grant date Expiry date HK$ options
g4
THEER
&% B A BT BRERE
16 December 2022 16 December 2024 0.79 49,500,000
T =F+=ZA+XAH —ZE-mMFE+=A+<AB
At 31st March 49,500,000
R=A=+—H
36 Commitments 36 A 1E
Capital commitment BAREE

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but
not yet incurred is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment Y% BB K& E

ERBITHBMRELNEADX
mT -

2023
—E-=

HK$’000
FER

HK$’000
THETT

- 6,565

37 Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise control or
significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be
individuals (being members of key management personnel,
significant shareholders and/or their close family members)
or other entities and include entities which are under the
significant influence of related parties of the Group where
those parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control.
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37 Related party transactions (continueq)

The directors of the Company are of the view that the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

37 BEFRS =)

ARBEFERL THEARRA

following individuals and companies were related parties that AEEAEEETRIAGFEELE S
had transactions or balances with the Group: RIREETT

Name of related party

BESERE

Mr. She Siu Kee William
REBESAE

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki
HEHELLE

Mr. Leung Wai Ming
2ERATE

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
EIRE A

Mr. Ma Siu Kit
BN AE

Mr. Fu Chung
BREE

Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris
PR B 2 5 A

Mr. Foo Pei Pan
EER LA

Mr. Cheng Sze Tok
BRELE

CTP Limited

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.

Relationship with the Group
B K BRI R

Executive director and chairman

HTESERER

Executive director

HWITES

Non-executive director

FATESF

Non-executive director

FRTES

Non-executive director

HRITES

Non-executive director

HRITES

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBEME AR IHERERTA A

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBNBARFFEREREFAA

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBWNBARFERERRAA

Controlled by the directors of the Company
MR B E B

Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group

AEEMBRARMNGERE
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B TSR R MR

37 Related party transactions (continueq 37 BEARS »)

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

BESER B S M R R

eprint Limited Ultimate holding company (Note i)
AR AT (MEE)

King Profit International Limited Controlled by the directors of the Company
ZHNBERAER AT HARR A E S
Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. Controlled by a joint venture of the Group

RAKE S S0 EEH

Profit More Rich Limited Controlled by the directors of the Company
BREZHBRAF AR B E R

Promise Properties Limited Controlled by the directors of the Company
RV EBRAA AR B E R

E-post Limited The then associate of the subsidiary of the Group

7 42 I8 Y 20 ) 2 B A B 42 20

VVV Limited Controlled by the directors of the Company
HARR A E B
Top Success Investment Group Limited Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group
EHFRRREERERA AEBMBARINEG EE
Top Success Investment (Hong Kong) Limited Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group
EFREERKRE(BB)ERAT AEBBARIMNGEDE
Step Wise Limited Associate of the subsidiary of the Group
REFRRAA REEWE R RINEE QT
Sakura Global Property Limited The then subsidiary/associate of the Group
BCRMEXFERAA AEBEROMBARHEQT
Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited ~ The then subsidiary/associate of the Group
B2 EE (BE)BRAR REBEROMBARBEQT
Notes: Bt 5
i. The Company is controlled by eprint Limited, which owns 56.9% of the i. AKX R Heprint LimitediZHlle R =T ==
Company’s shares as at 31 March 2023 and 2022, and is beneficially ERZBE-_F=A=+— EI eprint
owned by Mr. She Siu Kee William, Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, Mr. Lam Shing Limited#E B A& A 7] 256.9%0% 17+ W A&
Kai (“Mr. SK Lam”), Mr. Leung Wai Ming, and Mr. Leung Yat Pang. The iﬁ%ﬁ’ﬁi SR A MEREL & (AR
directors consider eprint Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI, EELE]D) RERASERR-BLEE
being the immediate and the ultimate holding company. T B o & 2R Beprint Limited (R &

B AR S MR T 2 AR AEERR
WA -
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BTSRRI

37 BERFRS @
(a) EFAEFNRS
AREBHEHBERSETUNTIR S

37 Related party transactions (continueq)

(@) Transactions with related parties

The following transactions were undertaken by the Group with
related parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the related party transactions were carried out in the normal
course of business and at terms negotiated between the
Group and the respective related parties.

Rental expense of plants and machinery, EftsE MR EBHBE K&

premises, stores and carparks in

s BRPT R RIFES

ARABEERS BEIRXRSIRNE
FEBBRETEASEESHEES
7 TE B R FRETT ©

2023
o=

e — =

2022

HK$’000
FET

HK$'000
THT

Hong Kong payable or paid HeRx
— CTP Limited — CTP Limited 4,886 5,916
— Profit More Rich Limited —BBEZBRAA 608 809
— Promise Properties Limited —REFMEBR AR 1,507 1,898
- VVV Limited — VWV Limited 1,866 2,495
— King Profit International Limited —ENBEREBR AT 760 546
9,627 11,664
Emolument payable or paid JE 41 =% B 1 37 B
— Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris — BRI 5t A& 848 835
— Mr. Foo Pei Pan — EER L 1,124 992
— Mr. Cheng Sze Tok — B BEAA 830 826
2,802 2,653
|.T. license fee income receivable or JE Y=k B B SRR E A
received FFRIEWA
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. — e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 106 112
Subcontracting fee payable or paid EAZENSBRER
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. — Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 6 14
Revenue from sales of goods and ERHEKEEER R
services receivable or received AR 75 W 2=
- Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) — B2 TEE (FF)
Limited BRAA] - 17
— Sakura Global Property Limited —BZIRKBEEFER QA - 7
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. — Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 1,998 1,300
— E-post Limited — E-post Limited 37 73
2,035 1,397
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BTSRRI

37 Related party transactions (continueq)

(@) Transactions with related parties (continueq)

Interest income from other financial
assets at amortised costs receivable or

37 BERFRS =)

2023
—EB-=F

HK$’000
T

FE W sk B IR B SE A AT AR 2
Hp S mEEH WA

(a) HEBREFNRS (&)

received
— Top Success Investment (Hong Kong) —tFRBREE (FH)
Limited BRAA 1,800 1,800
— E-post Limited — E-post Limited 305 367
— Step Wise Limited —REBFRAEA 23 3
2,128 2,170
Service fee payable or paid RSB R E
— E-post Limited — E-post Limited 106 =
— Step Wise Limited —REBRAA 39 -
145 -
Dividend income receivable or received JE W sk B U B A
— Top Success Investment Group — kT REREEER
Limited BRAA 1,000 -
Management fee income receivable or JER S E W ERE WA
received
— E-post Limited — E-post Limited - 282
(b) Key management compensation (b) TEEBEAESFHMH
Details of the key management compensation are disclosed in TEEBAEBTM o FBEEAN

Note 39.
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BTSRRI

37 Related party transactions (continueq 37 BEARS »)

BRI 75 P 12 1 4 fR A0 4K 47

(c) Guarantees and securities provided by related (c)
parties

BENEE (MiE20) REEAE

Guarantees and securities provided by related parties for

borrowings (Note 29) and lease liabilities (Note 14) were as
follows:

2023
—E-=F

HK$’000
T

BASE—FHHBLARZ

Guarantees provided by a director of

(KPEE14) FRER REERAME MM T -

2022
= —

=

HK$'000
TAET

a subsidiary of the Group EERMHER 35,500 35,993
Guarantee provided by a spouse of mAEE— KB AR
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary JEIEREZRIFTE A Z
of the Group Ao B R BB (R - 6,340
35,500 42,333
(d) Balances with related parties (d) EHEBEER&&R
2023 2022
—E-= —E__fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Amounts due from related companies: & Uk B iE X B RIE
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 26 18
Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 351 215
377 233
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SIS RERMTEE
37 Related party transactions (continueq) 37 BEITRS »)
(d) Balances with related parties (continued) (d) EEREE R &8k (&)
2023
2= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FAET
Amount due from the then associate: FE U S BRp Bt & A B FRIE -
E-post Limited E-post Limited - 843

2023
—E_=

HK$’000
FER

Other financial assets at amortised costs: & # #4551 8 2 E & &b

BE:
— Top Success Investment — T REEE (FEE)EAER
(Hong Kong) Limited NC 27,832 29,357
— E-post Limited — E-post Limited - 6,535
— Step Wise Limited — REBRAT - 753

27,832 36,645
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI
37 Related party transactions (continueq 37 BEARS »)
(d) Balances with related parties (continued) (d) EEREEF &8k (&)

2023
—E-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET

Amount due to the then associate: B EEEZ A TRE:

E-post Limited E-post Limited - 200
- 200

Amounts due to directors: ENEERE:
Mr. She Siu Kee William SNBESE 32 55
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHAEL 20 40
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REREE 20 40
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A 20 20
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BRRESE 20 20
Mr. Fu Chung BakE 20 20
132 195

Lease liabilities: HEAE:

CTP Limited CTP Limited 13,688 -
Profit More Rich Limited BEZHBRAR 1,809 =
Promise Properties Limited RAEFYEER AT 5,281 =
VWV Limited VWV Limited 7,340 -
King Profit International Limited ZHERBR AT 2,255 -
30,373 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

37 Related party transactions (continueq)

(d) Balances with related parties (continuea)

Notes:

(0)

(i

(i)

(v)

The above balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of these balances
approximate their fair values.

For amounts due from related parties, the Group applies the HKFRS
9 general approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage model to measure loss allowance.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, management considered that the
expected credit loss for intercompany receivables was immaterial, thus
no loss allowance was made.

The amounts due from related companies do not contain impaired
assets. The Company does not hold any collateral as security.

The above related party balances with related parties are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

38 ARNAUBMRRKRE &
2E

ZNNCI R3OS

38 Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company

Statement of financial position of the Company

2023 2022
—E_= ==
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 TExT FAETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries  MHEAFEMES 73,807 73897
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8 1 kI8 K £ 4th & I 3108 219 179
Current income tax receivable U E AT 177 =
Financial assets at fair value BREBRZANEBEIERZ
through profit or loss EREE 12,890 14,212
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE s BT /B R FN TR 141,947 143,812
Cash and cash equivalents ReMkREFMEER 4,513 2,667
Total assets BERE 233,643 234,767
Equity and liabilities EmRkaE
Equity attributable to owners of RAaEA ANEEER
the Company
Share capital N 5,500 5,500
Share premium B 05 B 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H A a 94,366 95,655
Totalequty ~  e=m@e& 232787 234,076
Liabilities =K
Current liabilities mEEE
Accruals BT FRIAE 728 489
Amounts due to directors BN EEHE 128 195
Current income tax payable FET 2 HAFR SR - 7
Total liabilties ~ Afes 856 ... .| 691
Total equity and liabilities Eam kB EERE 233,643 234,767
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

38 Statement of financial position and 38 ARTEBBEMRRRTRKEHEE
reserve movement of the Company B8
(Continued)
Statement of financial position of the Company AATHBMRRE 2
(Continued)
Note: B 5T
(@)  Reserve movements of the Company (@ ARAFEEED

Share based

Capital payment Retained
reserve reserve earnings Total
EXfFEE RESRGRE REER et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMA—H 73,508 - 21,079 94,587
Profit for the year FRmF - - 5,468 5,468
Dividends (Note 31) &S (B 3E31) - - (4,400) (4,400)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZEBE-_—_F=A=+—H 73,508 - 22,147 95,655
Loss for the year FRERE - - (13,390) (13,390)

Share based payment B AE T R (HI7E35)

expenses (Note 35) - 17,051 - 17,051
Dividends (Note 31) &S (B 3E31) - - (4,950) (4,950)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H 73,508 17,051 3,807 94,366
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

39 Benefits and interests of directors 39 ESFERER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E =% A
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBEEEBEAEBENITHRAE -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for ARRHEZE_ZF=ZA=+—
the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out as below. HIEFESES2HMEINBAT -
Other
emoluments paid
or receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs of
Estimated money  contribution to a the Company
Performance value of other  retirement benefit Share-hased or its subsidiary
Salaries bonuses  benefits (Note i) scheme payments undertaking
RESER
LACERL] |
PGk s EEL]
A ENNMETR EENER ABHEEAT
He e FERL  SEE(KE) BAHEMHR RERR  EUNELHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR ThR TER TET TR Thx TEr
Executive Directors #iEs
M. She Siu Kee Wiliam FAERE 385 3,120 235 - 18 - - 3,758
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki bt 3 280 1,020 80 - 18 - - 1,308
Non-executive Director FH17ES
NI Leung Wai Ming PEREE 20 300 - - 3 - - 563
Independent Non-executve ~ BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EREEE 20 - - - - - - 240
M Ma Siu Kit ShikE 20 - - - - - - 20
Mr. Fu Chung ki3 240 - - - - - - 240

1,665 4,440 315 - 39 - - 6,459
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

39 Benefits and interests of directors coninueq)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continueq)

Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam is the chief executive officer of the
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out as below.

39 EERERER w0

(a) EEHFM =)

RBEEERBAEEANITHREAH -
AARBE_E-_—_#H#=A=+—
BIEFESES2HMEINDAT-

Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director’s

other senvices in
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs of

Estimated money ~ contribution to a the Company

Performance value of other  retirement benefit Share-based or its subsiolary
Salaries bonuses henefits (Note i) scheme payments undertaking

5 ; i)
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THT Th THI
Executive Directors ez
Mr. She Siu Kee William KRR 615 2,820 950 - 18 - - 4408
Mr. Chong Cheuk K Pl 35 952 570 = 18 = = 1975
Non-executive Directors FY17ES
M Leung Wai Ming PEREE 43 - - - - - - 43
M. i Lu (Note ) 5 (3H) = = = e e S S s
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Wi BRALE 195 - - - - - - 1%
Mr. Ma Siu Kt SkhkE 195 - - - - - - 1%
Mr. Fu Chung kit 1% - - - - - - 1%
2,070 3m2 1,520 - 36 - - 7398
Notes: B &L :

(i) Other benefits include insurance premium and medical allowances.

(ii) Mr. Li Lu was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 19
November 2020 and resigned on 22 July 2021.

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in
any of the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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39

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

40

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Benefits and interests of directors coninueq)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No Directors’ retirement benefits or termination benefits were
paid during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available Directors’ services during the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

Save as disclosed in Note 37(d), no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings were made available in favour of Directors,
body corporates controlled by and connected entities with
such Directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2022: Nil).

Subsequent event

On 1 June 2023, the Group entered into the sales and
purchases agreement with independent third parties (“the
Vendors”) pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire from the Vendor, the entire issued share capital
of the target company, wholly owned by the Vendors at the
Consideration of HK$28,861,000. The principal asset of the
target company is the certain properties in Hong Kong.

39

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

40

B O ERR I T

EENmRER

EERNBIANRESALERE®
&R
HE_ZS_=FK-_FT-_—_F=AH
=+ BLEFE BEINEENE
ERAREBEBHNHESKIEREES -

RRUEERBAF =AM
KR E

BE_ T =ZFK_F-_"F=ZA

S+—HALEFE - ARAALERE
HERRBAE=F I HFEMRE-
EEZRSESEHFNEA
ERERZEEENHETRZ
%%‘EE%&E@&%ZE

BR B 5E37(A)FT #E B8 & Ah - R R 3k
REBEEZE_="FRZIFT__F=
A=+ —HLEFEREMAER I
BRAEE XZFESZHHNEA
ERkZEESNHETE kTE
MEH EEFMEHEMR
EERRZ RHEHIEHNHTW
BEAER

AN BV RT S F RS F Rl B
Faﬁi?ﬁ’ﬁﬁiﬁ&ﬁ%@Z%ﬁ‘%ﬁﬁzﬁ
REAEFERARMERAEATERE

AERZZEARS THREH (=
T )
H&EEH
R-ZZE-_=FXA—RA K~&EER

%4%_F”Eﬁnﬂﬁgﬁﬁ
FOBE ASEEKHEREBES
%%aﬁiéwﬁmaﬁﬂié

BEETRA RER28,861,000/%
T -BERARNETEEEEAMNRE
BHAE T
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Five-year Financial Summary

T FHEBE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—_E_-= —=E=-= —E-EF —E—AF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FExT FATT TABTT TAETT FAETT
Results E
Year ended 31 March #HZE=A=+—H
IHEE
(Loss)/profit attributable AR BHEZFEHA A
to equity holders of fEfh (EE)
the Company 335 F (14,243) 2,097 19,009 5,688 17,353
Assets and liabilites ZERAE
As at 31 March WR=RA=+—H
Total assets EEE 372,608 335,568 331,152 327,602 310,673
Total liabilities BEE (120,818)  (85,300)  (80,497)  (97,597)  (76,155)
Net assets BEFHE 251,790 250,268 250,655 230,005 234,518
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